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OPINION OF THE UNITED STATES COURT 
OF APPEALS FOR THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT 

(MAY 16, 2023)

Note: This disposition is nonprecedential.

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT

LEONARD COOPERMAN,

Petitioner,
v.

SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION,

Respondent

No. 2022-1915
Petition for review of the Merit Systems Protection 

Board in No. CB-7521-16-0001-T-1.
Before: LOURIE, HUGHES, and 

STARK, Circuit Judges.

PER CURIAM.
Leonard Cooperman appeals a decision of the 

Merit Systems Protection Board finding good cause to 
remove Mr. Cooperman from his position as an admin­
istrative law judge at the Social Security Admin­
istration. Because the Board’s decision is supported 
by substantial evidence and because the Board did 
not otherwise err in its analysis, we affirm.
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I

A
Administrative law judges with the Social Security 

Administration (SSA) review claims for disability 
benefits. One type of disability benefit is for a closed 
period of disability (CPOD). To be eligible for CPOD 
benefits, a claimant must show that they were 
temporarily disabled, but later experienced a medical 
improvement that allowed them to work again. A 
claimant who receives CPOD benefits will receive a 
lump-sum disability payment without having to go 
through the full hearing process, but those claimants 
might forgo ongoing disability benefits for which they 
might have qualified. Agency regulations require 
that a finding of medical improvement be based upon 
more than a claimant’s own assertion that their con­
dition has improved. Instead, a finding of medical 
improvement “must be based on the changes in the 
symptoms, signs, and/or laboratory findings associated 
with [the] impairment(s)20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(1).

Along with the relevant statutes and regulations, 
administrative law judges also reference two agency 
manuals for guidance when issuing disability decisions. 
Administrative law judges must follow the policies 
laid out in the agency’s Hearings Appeals and Litigation 
Law Manual (HALLEX), which is binding on all 
administrative law judges employed by the SSA. In 
relevant part, the HALLEX requires administrative 
law judges to make a complete record of all hearing 
proceedings, which includes summarizing the content 
and conclusion of any off-the-record proceedings on 
the record. The HALLEX also requires administrative 
law judges to provide “an explanation of the finding(s)
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on each issue that leads to the ultimate conclusion, 
including citing and discussing supporting evidence.” 
SAppx 13 (quoting HALLEX 1-2-8-25).

Administrative law judges may also reference 
the Program Operations Manual System (POMS) for 
more guidance. But the POMS is not a primary source 
of policy, nor are its provisions binding on adminis­
trative law judges. In relevant part, the POMS states 
that an “improvement in symptoms alone, without 
associated changes in signs or laboratory findings, may, 
however, support finding [medical improvement].” 
POMS DI 28010.015(C)(2).

B
Mr. Cooperman was an administrative law judge 

appointed by the SSA in June 2005 and assigned to 
work in the Office of Disability Adjudication Review 
(ODAR) in Springfield, MA. During his employment, 
Mr. Cooperman issued CPOD decisions. Beginning in 
2010, claimants began filing complaints that Mr. 
Cooperman was pressuring them to accept a CPOD 
determination in lieu of conducting a full disability 
hearing. Some of these claimants immediately re­
applied for disability benefits after receiving a CPOD 
decision, increasing the workload for ODAR. After 
approximately 35 of Mr. Cooperman’s decisions were 
found “questionable” for failing to state the evidentiary 
basis for the CPOD determination, Mr. Cooperman 
was offered re-training.

In January 2011, a U.S. Magistrate Judge in 
the District of Massachusetts remanded one of Mr. 
Cooperman’s cases, noting that “contrary to the 
directives of the regulations and the HALLEX manual, 
the record does not reflect what was discussed off the
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record prior to the hearing regarding a ‘proposal’ 
Plaintiff apparently felt pressured to ‘accept’ in lieu 
of a ‘full hearing.’” SAppx 19 (quoting Betancourt v. 
Astrue, 824 F. Supp. 2d 211, 216-17 (D. Mass. 2011)). 
After the remand, Mr. Cooperman was once again 
offered re-training, including specific instructions for 
explaining the basis for a CPOD determination, as 
well as instructions for memorializing off-the-record 
discussions. But throughout 2011, Mr. Cooperman’s 
CPOD decisions continued to draw complaints from 
claimants and increased scrutiny from the agency, 
resulting in Mr. Cooperman receiving a directive in 
December 2011 to comply with the requirements for 

. issuing CPOD determinations and for memorializing 
off-the-record discussions. Even after receiving this 
directive, claimants continued to complain about Mr. 
Cooperman’s decisions, causing the agency to conduct 
interviews with Mr. Cooperman in October 2012 and 
in March 2013. After both interviews, the agency 
concluded that Mr. Cooperman was continuing to 
have off-the-record conversations with claimants and 
their counsel without appropriately memorializing 
those conversations and was still failing to adequately 
support his CPOD determinations.

In September 2013, the agency conducted a 
focused review of Mr. Cooperman’s decisions and 
found a pattern of deficiencies. This included “[CPOD] 
decisions that were not supported by the evidence of 
record; off-the-record discussions . .. that were not 
adequately summarized on the record; and unsecured 
email communications between [Mr. Cooperman] and 
claimants or claimants’ representatives that contained 
[personally identifiable information] belonging to the 
claimants.” SAppx 26. This led the agency to make a
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referral to the Office of the Inspector General (OIG) 
for an investigation into the “possibility of fraud, waste 
and abuse, or mismanagement by ALJ Cooperman 
or the representatives appearing before him.” SAppx 
26. The OIG’s report found no evidence of criminal 
wrongdoing but found that Mr. Cooperman’s decisions 
‘lacked sufficient reference to medical evidence to 
support” those decisions, and that Mr. Cooperman 
had sent “emails containing [personally identifiable 
information] that were not encrypted or password 
protected. ...” SAppx 27. At this point, the agency 
began to seriously consider removing Mr. Cooperman 
from his position.

C
In October 2015, the agency filed a complaint 

with the Merit Systems Protection Board to remove 
Mr. Cooperman from his position for good cause 
based on two charges: neglect of duties and conduct 
unbecoming. The neglect of duty charge included spe­
cifications directed at Mr. Cooperman’s failure to 
provide the evidentiary rationale behind his CPOD 
determinations, his failure to memorialize off-the- 
record conversations, and his mishandling of claimants’ 
personally identifiable information. The conduct 
unbecoming charge included 16 specifications directed 
at Mr. Cooperman’s email communications with various 
legal representatives that potentially gave rise to a 
perception of partiality. The initial decision sustained 
both charges but found that a 180-day suspension was 
the appropriate penalty, rather than removal. After 
both the agency and Mr. Cooperman appealed the 
initial decision to the full Board, the Board upheld 
the initial finding sustaining both charges and found 
good cause to remove Mr. Cooperman from his position.
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The Board found that the initial decision did not 
properly evaluate the Douglas factors1 regarding the 
notoriety of Mr. Cooperman’s offenses or the potential 
for rehabilitation, and that an appropriate evaluation 
rendered removal the appropriate outcome.

Mr. Cooperman now appeals.

II
Our review of Board decisions is limited. Whiteman 

v. Dep’t of Transp688 F.3d 1336, 1340 (Fed. Cir. 
2012). A final decision of the Board must be affirmed 
unless it is “(1) arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of dis­
cretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law; (2) 
obtained without procedures required by law, rule, or 
regulation having been followed; or (3) unsupported 
by substantial evidence.” 5 U.S.C. § 7703(c); see also 
Potter v. Dep’t of Veterans Affs., 949 F.3d 1376, 1379 
(Fed. Cir. 2020).

Ill
Mr. Cooperman raises three arguments on appeal. 

First, Mr. Cooperman argues that the Board’s deci­
sion to remove him for the neglect of duties charge 
was arbitrary and capricious. Second, Mr. Cooperman 
argues that the Board denied him due process, spe­
cifically because “conduct unbecoming” is imper­
missibly vague and because the Board did not allow 
him to supplement the evidentiary record after the 
close of evidence. And third, Mr. Cooperman argues

1 The Douglas factors are the twelve factors set forth in Douglas 
v. Veterans Administration, 5 M.S.P.B. 313, 5 M.S.P.R. 280 
(1981), for an agency to consider when determining whether a 
penalty is appropriate.
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that the Board incorrectly held that removal was the 
appropriate remedy. We address each of these 
arguments in turn.

A
Mr. Cooperman argues that the neglect of duties 

finding should be reversed for three reasons: first, 
because he was allowed to make CPOD decisions 
based solely on a claimant’s assertion that their med­
ical condition had improved; second, because the 
standard for “adequately” summarizing his off-the- 
record proceedings was vague; and third, because he 
eventually corrected how he handled claimants’ 
personally identifiable information. Pet. Br. 12-17, 
25—29. None of these arguments is persuasive.

Mr. Cooperman relies on POMS DI 28010.015 
(C)(2)2, which says that [“improvement in symptoms 
alone, without associated changes in signs or 
laboratory findings, may, however, support finding 
[medical improvement]” (emphasis added), to argue 
that a claimant’s assertions about her symptoms 
alone can constitute sufficient evidence to decide a 
CPOD claim. We do not agree, because doing so 
would require us to give more authority to an internal 
guidance document than the statutory or regulatory 
frameworks that bind administrative law judges. 
This sentence from the POMS—which is merely an 
internal manual with no binding authority—cannot 
supersede the statutory and regulatory framework 
that administrative law judges are required to follow. 
Courts have recognized that the POMS is merely a

2 Mr. Cooperman actually cites to POMS DI 28010.015(A)(2), but 
the current version with this language is found at 28010.015(C)(2).
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document to guide administrative law judges and 
does not replace or supersede any corresponding regu­
lations. See e.g., Wash. State Dep’t of Soc. and Health 
Servs. v. Guardianship Est. of Keffeler, 537 U.S. 371, 
385 (2003) (noting that POMS are just “the publicly 
available operating instructions for processing Social 
Security claims”).

The parties dispute whether there is a direct 
conflict between the POMS, which, as we have noted, 
provides that [“ijmprovement in symptoms alone, 
without associated changes in signs or laboratory 
findings, may, however, support finding [medical 
improvement],” and the applicable regulations, which 
require that any decision finding medical improvement 
“must be based on improvement in the symptoms, 
signs, and/or laboratory findings associated with [the] 
impairment(s) ” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(1) (emphasis 
added); 20 C.F.R. § 416.994(b)(l)(i) (containing identical 
language). We need not resolve this dispute. Whether 
or not there is a conflict, the regulations are governing 
while the POMS is not. Moreover, Mr. Cooperman 
was repeatedly instructed he could not base CPOD 
decisions solely on a claimant’s word, and his failure 
to comply with that direction provides substantial 
evidence for the Board’s decision, regardless of whether 
the POMS and the regulations conflict with one 
another.

For his summary of off-the-record proceedings, 
Mr. Cooperman claims that the standard for appro­
priate summaries was impermissibly vague. But Mr. 
Cooperman does not explain why the standard is vague, 
especially given how much training he received about 
memorializing off-the-record proceedings and the spe­
cific directive he was given. Mr. Cooperman makes
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general arguments that his summaries were adequate 
and that the agency only looked at a small sample of 
his decisions, but he does not argue why the Board’s 
findings regarding his summaries were unsupported 
by substantial evidence. Mr. Cooperman does not 
deny that he received multiple trainings on how to 
appropriately memorialize off-the-record conversations 
on the record. Because Mr. Cooperman has not 
explained how the Board’s decision lacks substantial 
evidence or contains any legal error, we see no basis 
to disturb the Board’s findings.

Finally, as for Mr. Cooperman’s handling of claim­
ants’ personally identifiable information, Mr. Cooper­
man merely argues that he eventually corrected his 
conduct. Pet. Br. 26. Mr. Cooperman relies on the 
Board’s decision in Adamek v. U.S. Postal Serv., 11 
M.S.P.B. 482 (1982), where the Board held that the 
agency is barred from combining two actions for which 
there was already an adverse action taken, into a 
new charge to take a more severe adverse action. We 
agree with the Board’s conclusion that Adamek does 
not apply here because Mr. Cooperman was not sub­
ject to an adverse action regarding his mishandling 
of personally identifiable information. Mr. Cooperman 
admitted that he failed to encrypt emails containing 
personally identifiable information and has not 
explained why the Board’s finding on that admission 
was unsupported by substantial evidence.

As a result, we are unpersuaded by Mr. Cooper- 
man’s arguments regarding his neglect of duties 
charge, and we find that the Board’s determination 
for that charge is supported by substantial evidence.
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B
Next, Mr. Cooperman argues that he was denied 

due process for two reasons: first, because the charge 
of “conduct unbecoming” is impermissibly vague; and 
second, because the Board did not allow him to 
submit additional evidence after the record was closed. 
Pet. Br. 18-25. We disagree with Mr. Cooperman on 
both counts.

The specifications underlying Mr. Cooperman’s 
conduct unbecoming charge fall into two categories 
in 5 C.F.R. § 2635.101(b): breach of duty of impartiality 
at (b)(8) and breach of duty to avoid creating the 
appearance of a violation of a law or ethical standard 
at (b)(14). Mr. Cooperman does not specifically chal­
lenge any of the specifications underlying this 
charge, nor does Mr. Cooperman deny the content of 
any of the emails that led to this charge. Instead, Mr. 
Cooperman invites us to create a new standard by 
which administrative law judges are “only subject to 
discipline for a violation of any Federal or State Law, 
or any written policy expressly and specifically defining 
what constitutes a violation.” Pet. Br. 24. Mr. 
Cooperman does not provide any legal reasoning or 
support for this request, and we decline his invitation. 
Furthermore, Mr. Cooperman asks us to overturn 
two of our cases3 upholding the removal of adminis­
trative law judges for conduct unbecoming charges, 
but again does not provide any rationale for us doing so. 
Thus, Mr. Cooperman has not persuasively explained

3 Mr. Cooperman asks us to overturn Long v. Social Security 
Administration, 635 F.3d 526 (Fed. Cir. 2011) and Abruzzo v. 
Social Security Administration, 489 Fed. App’x 449 (Fed. Cir. 
2012) (non-precedential).
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why his “conduct unbecoming” charge is impermissibly 
vague.

As for his efforts to supplement the closed 
record, Mr. Cooperman argues that the Board abused 
its discretion by refusing to supplement the closed 
record with more emails he gathered supporting his 
argument that administrative law judges could follow 
guidance in the POMS. Pet. Br. 19-20. But the 
Board need not accept any additional evidence or 
argument after the record closes unless it is new and 
material. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(k). Mr. Cooperman has 
not explained how any of the emails he sought to add 
to the record contained “new” or “material” informa­
tion—in fact, the record already contained evidence 
that administrative law judges could consider guidance 
in the POMS, but could not use it to replace or 
supersede regulations. Thus, we are unpersuaded 
that the Board abused its discretion by declining to 
accept this additional evidence after the record closed.

Because both of Mr. Cooperman’s arguments 
regarding his due process rights are unavailing, we 
hold that the Board did not violate any of Mr. 
Cooperman’s due process rights while handling his 
removal case.

C
Finally, Mr. Cooperman argues that even if both 

charges could be sustained, removal was not the 
appropriate remedy. Pet. Br. 28. Beyond reiterating 
arguments that we have already rejected in previous 
sections, Mr. Cooperman does not identify any errors 
with the Board’s decision to remove him, nor does he 
challenge the Board’s analysis of the Douglas factors. 
Here, we see no reason to disturb the Board’s deter-
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mination that removal was an appropriate remedy 
considering the severity of Mr. Cooperman’s conduct. 
The Board sustained both charges underlying the 
agency’s request to remove Mr. Cooperman from 
his position, and nothing in the record requires a 
re-evaluation of the Douglas factors or the Board’s 
conclusion to remove Mr. Cooperman from his position. 
Thus, we hold that the Board’s decision removing 
Mr. Cooperman from his position was supported by 
substantial evidence.

IV
We have considered Mr. Cooperman’s remaining 

arguments and find them unpersuasive. Accordingly, 
we affirm the Board’s decision granting the agency’s 
request to remove Mr. Cooperman from his position 
as an administrative law judge.

AFFIRMED

i

i
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FINAL ORDER OF THE 
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD OF 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
(MAY 27, 2022)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD

SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION,

Petitioner,

v.

LEONARD COOPERMAN,

Respondent.

Docket Number: CB-7521-16-0001-T-1

THE FINAL ORDER IS NONPRECEDENTIALl
Before: Raymond A. LIMON, Vice Chair, 

Tristan L. LEAVITT, Member.

1 A nonprecedential order is one that the Board has determined 
does not add significantly to the body of MSPB case law. Parties 
may cite nonprecedential orders, but such orders have no prece­
dential value; the Board and administrative judges are not 
required to follow or distinguish them in any future decisions. 
In contrast, a precedential decision issued as an Opinion and 
Order has been identified by the Board as significantly 
contributing to the Board’s case law. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.117(c).
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FINAL ORDER
11 The respondent has filed a petition for review, 

and the Social Security Administration (SSA) has 
filed a cross petition for review of the initial decision, 
which sustained charges of neglect of duties and 
conduct unbecoming, 'concluded that the respondent 
did not make whistleblowing disclosures, found good 
cause under 5 U.S.C. § 7521 to suspend the respond­
ent for 180 days, and denied SSA’s request to suspend 
the respondent from the date of the complaint through 
the Board’s final decision in this matter. This case 
was assigned to an administrative law judge (ALJ) 
for adjudication. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.140(a)(1). We DENY 
the respondent’s petition for review and GRANT 
SSA’s cross petition for review. We MODIFY the 
initial decision to additionally sustain specification 
15 of the conduct unbecoming charge, but we agree 
with the ALJ that SSA proved the neglect of duties 
and conduct unbecoming charges as set forth herein. 
We FURTHER MODIFY the initial decision to find 
that the respondent’s November 15, 2012 correspon­
dence to the Office; of Inspector General (OIG) 
constituted activity protected by 5 U.S.C. § 2302 
(b)(9)(C) but that he' did not prove the correspon­
dence was a contributing factor in SSA’s decision to 
file the complaint against him. We FIND that SSA 
has shown good cause to remove the respondent. We 
DENY SSA’s request to suspend the respondent from 
the date the complaint was filed through the issuance 
date of this Order.

BACKGROUND
%2 The followingj facts, as recited in the initial 

decision, are generally undisputed. Initial Appeal
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File (IAF), Tab 149, Initial Decision (ID). The res­
pondent has held the position of an SSA ALJ since 
June 2005. ID at 7; IAF, Tab 96 at 20. On October 2, 
2015, SSA filed a complaint that sought to remove 
the respondent based on charges of neglect of duties 
(8 specifications) and conduct unbecoming (16 specif­
ications) and to suspend the respondent from the 
date of the complaint through the date of the Board’s 
final decision in this matter. ID at 1, 54-55; IAF, Tab 
1. The respondent raised a claim of reprisal for 
whistleblowing disclosures. ID at 2; IAF, Tab 84 at 5, 
14-18. A multiple-day hearing was held. ID at 3; 
Hearing Transcripts (HTs) 1-7. The ALJ issued a 
150-page initial decision, which included 338 findings 
of fact. ID at 7-57. The ALJ sustained both charges, 
including 6 of 8 specifications of the neglect of duties 
charge and 12 of 16 specifications of the conduct 
unbecoming charge. ID at 58-115. The ALJ found 
that the respondent did not make any whistleblowing 
disclosures. ID at 120-29. The ALJ also determined 
that there was good cause to suspend the respondent 
for 180 days, but he denied SSA’s request to suspend 
the respondent from the date of the complaint through 
the date of the Board’s final decision in this matter. 
ID at 130-44.

^|3The respondent has filed a petition for 
review, SSA has filed a response, and the respondent 
has filed a reply. Petition for Review (PFR) File, 
Tabs 1, 20-21. On petition for review, the respondent 
challenges the ALJ’s decision to sustain specifications 
1-6 of the neglect of duties charge and to sustain spe­
cifications 1, 3-12, and 14 of the conduct unbecoming 
charge. PFR File, Tab 1.
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T|4 SSA has filed a cross petition for review, and 
the respondent has filed a response. PFR File, Tabs 
5, 15. In its cross petition for review, SSA argues it 
proved specifications 7 and 8 of the neglect of duties 
charge; it proved specifications 2, 13, and 15 of the 
conduct unbecoming charge; and removal is the 
appropriate penalty. PFR File, Tab 5. SSA also 
reiterates its request to suspend the respondent from 
the date the complaint was filed through the Board’s 
final decision in this matter. Id. at 29-32.

15 The respondent also has filed a motion for oral 
argument, and SSA has filed a response. PFR File, 
Tabs 2, 9. The regulation at 5 C.F.R. § 1201.117(a)(2) 
states that the Board “may” hear oral arguments in 
any case. We find that oral argument will not assist 
the Board significantly in deciding the petition for 
review and cross petition for review, and we deny 
the respondent’s request. Special Counsel v. 
Environmental Protection Agency, 70 M.S.P.R. 41, 49 
(1996).

|6 Additionally, the respondent has filed several 
motions for leave to file an additional pleading. PFR 
File, Tabs 11, 18, 22, 24, 26, 29, 31. The Board’s 
regulations do not provide for pleadings other than a 
petition for review, a cross petition for review, a 
response to a petition for review, a response to a 
cross petition for review, and a reply to a response to 
a petition for review. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(a)(5). Once 
the record closes on review, the Board will not accept 
any additional evidence or argument unless it is new 
and material. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(k). The respondent 
has made no such showing in his submissions. We 
therefore deny his motions.
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f 7 The Association of Administrative Law Judges 
also has filed two separate requests to file an amicus 
curiae brief. PFR File, Tabs 34, 37. We deny these 
requests because an amicus curiae brief will not 
contribute materially to the disposition of this matter. 
5 C.F.R. § 1201.34(e). Additionally, the respondent 
has filed a motion to supplement the record. PFR 
File, Tab 43. He has not persuaded us that the 
proffered evidence, even if new, is material. 5 C.F.R. 
§ 1201.114(k). We therefore deny this request.

DISCUSSION OF ARGUMENTS ON REVIEW

Standard of Review
1J8 The Board has original jurisdiction to 

adjudicate actions against ALJs. Social Security 
Administration v. Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 190,U 12 (2010), 
aff’d, 635 F.3d 526 (Fed. Cir. 2011). An agency may 
take an action against an ALJ only for “good cause,” 
as determined after a hearing by the Board. 5 U.S.C. 
§ 7521(a). SSA must prove good cause by preponderant 
evidence. Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 190, H 12. Congress has 
not defined the term “good cause” for purposes of 
section 7521. Id. The Board, however, has adopted a 
flexible approach in which good cause is defined 
according to the individual circumstances of each 
case. Department of Labor v. Avery, 120 M.S.P.R. 
150, 1 5 (2013), affd sub nom., Berlin v. Department 
of Labor, 772 F.3d 890 (Fed. Cir. 2014).

SSA proved the neglect of duties charge.
U 9 In specifications 1 and 2 of the neglect of 

duties charge, SSA alleged that the respondent had a 
duty to comply with agency regulations and policy
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when issuing decisions for a closed period of disability2 
(CPOD) and he breached that duty in fiscal years 
2013 and 2014. LAF, Tab 1 at 11. In the initial 
decision, the ALJ found that SSA proved these spe­
cifications because the respondent did not explain his 
findings of medical improvement or support his find­
ings with medical evidence. ID at 60-78.

K10 On review, the respondent asserts that, con­
trary to the initial decision, he was authorized to 
decide a CPOD based only on a claimant’s statement 
regarding his/her symptoms. PFR File, Tab 1 at 8-17. 
He asserts that this contention was supported by the 
regulation that defines “medical improvement” as 
“‘any decrease in the medical severity of [a] claimant’s 
impairments[ ]’” and provides that ‘“[a] determination 
that there has been a [medical improvement] must 
be based on changes (improvement) in the symptoms, 
signs and/or laboratory findings associated with [the] 
impairment(s).’” Id. at 9; 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(1) 
(emphasis in original). He further asserts that the 
ALJ’s decision contradicted the relevant regulation 
and case law from the appellate courts and ignored 
SSA’s Program Operations Manual System. PFR 
File, Tab 1 at 9-17.

fll Although the regulation uses the disjunctive 
“and/or,” the AU concluded— and the record reflects— 
that SSA’s policy required more evidence than a 
claimant’s subjective statements to find medical

2 A closed period of disability occurs when a claimant, who was 
found to be disabled and entitled to disability benefits, subse­
quently experiences medical improvement related to the ability 
to work such that the claimant can engage in substantial gainful 
activity, the claimant is deemed to be no longer disabled, and 
disability benefits cease. ID at 60; see 42 U.S.C. § 423(f)(1)-
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improvement for a CPOD. ID at 13, 63; HT 1 at 219- 
22, 243 (testimony of the Hearing Office Chief ALJ 
(CALJ), who was also the respondent’s first-line 
supervisor); HT 2 at 220-22, 227-28 (testimony of the 
Regional CALJ, who was also the respondent’s second- 
line supervisor); HT 5 at 95-96 (testimony of the 
Associate CALJ), 287-88 (testimony of the CALJ); 
IAF, Tab 94 at 14-15 (explaining in HALLEX 1-2-8- 
253 that any “decision will provide the rationale for 
the AU’s findings of fact and conclusions of law by 
including ... [a]n explanation of the finding(s) on each 
issue that leads to the ultimate conclusion, including 
citing and discussing supporting evidence” and a 
“discussion of the weight assigned to various pieces 
of evidence ...”).

1|12 Moreover, the record reflects that the respond­
ent was advised by multiple agency officials of SSA’s 
policy regarding the analysis required for CPOD 
decisions. For instance, in a September 7, 2010 email, 
the respondent’s first-line supervisor advised him “to 
fully rationalize any cessation, no matter what the 
claimant agrees to do.” IAF, Tab 102 at 74 (emphasis 
in original). In a June 2011 retraining with a senior 
AU, he was provided the following guidance: “[A]ny 
[residual functional capacity (RFC) assessment], 
regardless of the [claimant’s] agreement as to medical 
improvement!,] must be married to corresponding

3 The AU found in the initial decision that HALLEX, the 
Hearing Appeals and Litigation Law Manual, was designed to 
amplify and provide more specificity regarding regulations and 
rulings, it constituted written agency policy, and it was binding 
on AUs. ID at 10.
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medical evidence.”4 IAF, Tab 93 at 5-6 (emphasis in 
original). The senior ALJ explained that a decision 
“should include a discussion of medical improvement 
showing how the signs, symptoms and objective 
testing show [i]mprovement under the medical im­
provement standard at the time the period closes.” 
Id. (emphasis in original). In an August 3, 2011 
meeting, the respondent stated to an Associate CALJ 
that he did not “see a need to corroborate” a ‘lucid” 
claimant’s statement that s/he wants a CPOD, and 
he was advised that there still needed to be a second 
RFC assessment. IAF, Tab 105 at 48.

1(13 Most significantly, in a December 5, 2011 
directive, the respondent’s first-line supervisor noted 
that the respondent’s decisions “contain analytical 
deficiencies including a lack of analysis to support a 
non-disability RFC and a lack of analysis to support 
a finding of medical improvement beyond the claimant’s 
agreement to a closed period. ...” IAF, Tab 93 at 21- 
22. The respondent was explicitly directed to determine 
whether there had been medical improvement by 
comparing prior and current medical evidence and by 
illustrating any improvement in the signs, symptoms, 
or laboratory findings. Id. at 22. The respondent’s 
first-line supervisor subsequently advised him that 
he should “pick and cho[o]se some items from the 
record, aside from the claimant’s statement” to docu­
ment medical improvement. IAF, Tab 108 at 5; see 
HT 1 at 241-42, HT 2 at 60 (testimony of the first-line 
supervisor). Because the respondent was on notice

4 An individuals RFC is “the most [s/he] can still do despite 
[his/her] limitations” and will be assessed “based on all the 
relevant evidence in [the individuals] case record.” 20 C.F.R. 
§ 416.945(a)(1).
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that, during the relevant time period, SSA policy 
required more than a claimant’s statement alone to 
support a finding of medical improvement, and the 
respondent did not comply with SSA policy, we agree 
with the ALJ that SSA proved these specifications.

f 14 We have considered the respondent’s reliance 
on the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit’s 
decision in Newbold v. Colvin, 718 F.3d 1257, 1263- 
64 (10th Cir. 2013), which stated that a finding of 
medical improvement may be based on symptoms 
alone. PFR File, Tab 15 at 10-13. The respondent’s 
citation to Newbold does not warrant a different 
outcome because the court’s decision is not binding 
on the Board or SSA. Importantly, as pertaining to 
the merits of the charge, decisions of the U.S. Court 
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit are controlling 
authority for the Board, whereas other circuit courts’ 
decisions are persuasive, but not controlling, authority. 
Fairall v. Veterans Administration, 33 M.S.P.R. 33, 
39, aff’d, 844 F.2d 775 (Fed. Cir. 1987). Additionally, 
the ALJ made findings of fact that SSA ALJs have a 
duty to comply with the Social Security Act, regulations, 
rulings, agency policies, HALLEX, and Acquiescence 
Rulings.5 ID at 10-11. There is no evidence that SSA 
issued an Acquiescence Ruling after Newbold, and 
thus, SSA and its AUs did not have to follow the 
court’s decision.

5 An Acquiescence Ruling is issued when a circuit court has 
issued a decision contrary to SSA policy but SSA agrees to 
acquiesce to the circuit law. HT 1 at 202 (testimony of the first- 
line supervisor); HT 3 at 78 (testimony of the second-line 
supervisor); HT 4 at 225-29 (testimony of the CAU); HT 5 at 
65-66 (testimony of the Associate CAU); IAF, Tab 93 at 12-13; 
20 C.F.R. § 404.985.
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115 Finally, we have considered the respondent’s 
contention that Program Operations Manual System 
provision 28010.015(A)(2) controls this issue because 
it advises adjudicators that improvement in symptoms 
alone, without associated changes in signs or laboratory 
findings, “may support” a medical improvement de­
termination. PFR File, Tab 1 at 15-17. This argument is 
unavailing. Notably, the AU relied on the testimony of 
various SSA officials and found that the Operations 
Manual is not a prime source of policy at the Office of 
Disability Adjudication Review (ODAR) because it 
sets forth internal policies for proceedings at the dis­
trict office level, not for hearing operations. ID at 10-11. 
The respondent’s reference to Draper v. Colvin, 779 
F.3d 556 (8th Cir. 2015)—which affirmed a district 
court decision that deferred to an Operations Manual 
provision regarding liens, adjustments and recoveries, 
and transfers of assets—does not warrant a different 
outcome because SSA did not issue an Acquiescence 
Ruling as to that matter. PFR File, Tab 1 at 16-17.

If 16 In his reply brief, the respondent contends 
that he complied with the position description that 
was in place until December 2013, which authorized 
him to “take[] into account all applicable Federal, 
State, and foreign law[s], statutes, regulations, rulings, 
and decisions of the Federal court.”6 PFR File, Tab 21 
at 14-15 (emphasis in original); IAF, Tab 93 at 62-67. 
The respondent argues that, until this date, he could 
“expressly . . . take Federal court decisions from 
whatever jurisdiction into account, and after that 
date[,] [he] was not prohibited from doing so as long

6 The revised position description did not include such lan­
guage. IAF, Tab 1 at 15-21; HT 4 at 213 (testimony of the 
CALJ); ID at 9 n.6.
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as the Federal Court decision did not conflict with 
[SSA] policy.” PFR File, Tab 21 at 15. This argument 
is unavailing. Indeed, in the absence of any evidence 
that SSA issued an Acquiescence Ruling regarding 
Newboldy Draper, or any circuit court decision that 
was inconsistent with SSA policy, such decisions 
could not constitute “applicable” decisions, as described 
in the earlier position description.

T|17 In specifications 3 and 4, SSA alleged that 
the respondent had a duty to “make a complete 
record of hearings proceedings,” and he breached this 
duty in fiscal years 2013 and 2014. IAF, Tab 1 at 11. 
In the initial decision, the ALJ relied on the relevant 
regulations, HALLEX 1-2-6-40, a June 2011 retraining, 
an August 3, 2011 meeting with the respondent, a 
September 1, 2011 memorandum to all ALJs from 
the CALJ, a December 5, 2011 directive, and testimony 
regarding hearing records from five of the respondent’s 
cases; the ALJ concluded that SSA proved that the 
respondent had a duty to make a complete record, 
which included a summary of the content and conclu­
sion of any off-the-record discussions, and the res­
pondent failed to do so. ID at 14-15, 78-83; IAF, Tab 
93 at 7, 21-23, Tab 94 at 10-11. On review, the res­
pondent challenges, among other things, the ALJ’s 
reliance on testimony regarding a “focused review” of 
only five of his hundreds of cases and the December 
5, 2011 directive. PFR File, Tab 1 at 18-19. He 
further asserts that neither the ALJ nor SSA 
adequately defined the requirement that he 
“adequately summarize” any off-the-record discussions, 
and thus, SSA’s action violates his due process rights. 
Id. We disagree. Rather, consistent with HALLEX I-
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2-6-40,7 the December 5, 2011 directive instructed 
the respondent to “summarize on the record, all off- 
the-record discussions concerning amending claims 
involving CPODs, as well as any other discussions 
relevant to the issues in a claimant’s case.” IAF, Tab 
93 at 23. The respondent, who has advanced degrees 
and was an ALJ for nearly 10 years, ID at 7; HT 6 at 
202 (testimony of the respondent), should have no 
difficulty understanding SSA’s requirement that he 
summarize such off-the-record discussions. Moreover, 
we are not persuaded that SSA’s review of a small 
portion of the respondent’s cases warrants a different 
outcome. We therefore discern no error with the 
ALJ’s conclusion that SSA proved specifications 3-4.

1|18In specifications 5 and 6 of the neglect of 
duties charge, SSA alleged that the respondent had a 
duty to safeguard personally identifiable information 
(PII), and he breached this duty in fiscal years 2013 
and 2014. IAF, Tab 1 at 11. On review, the respondent 
contends that, either in late 2014 or early 2015, his 
first-line supervisor directed him to stop sending PII 
to unsecured partners, and he complied with that 
request. PFR File, Tab 1 at 20; HT 6 at 261-62 (testi­
mony of the respondent). As support for his 
contention that he should not be disciplined for this 
misconduct, the respondent discusses Adamek v. 
U.S. Postal Service, 13 M.S.P.R. 224, 226 (1982), in 
which the Board barred an agency from taking an

7 HALLEX 1-2-6-40 states, “If a question arises during the 
course of a hearing that is not relevant to the issues in the 
claimant’s case, the ALJ may decide to discuss and resolve it 
off-the-record. However, the ALJ must summarize on the record 
the content and conclusion of any off-the-record discussion.” 
IAF, Tab 94 at 10-11.



App.25a

adverse action against an employee when it already 
had imposed a disciplinary action because of the 
employee’s misconduct. PFR File, Tab 1 at 21. The 
respondent recognizes that his first-line supervisor’s 
counseling regarding PII did not constitute a discipli­
nary or an adverse action, but he argues that the 
Board’s reasoning in Adamek should be extended to 
cases in which the underlying behavior “has been 
previously and amicably addressed, discussed, and 
resolved” between the agency and employee, and the 
behavior was not repeated. Id. (emphasis in original). 
We are not persuaded that it is appropriate to extend 
Adamek's reasoning to a case such as this when there 
was no prior adverse action. See, e.g., Tawadrous v. 
Department of the Treasury, 477 F. App’x 735, 738 
(Fed. Cir. 2012) (declining to extend Adamek to a sit­
uation when the agency rescinded the June 2010 
removal before there was a judgment on the merits 
and provided the appellant with back pay and finding 
that the prior rescinded action “presents no obstacle 
to Treasury’s November 2010 effort to remove [him] 
on the same charges”).8 Because the respondent does 
not dispute that he failed to safeguard PII as described 
during the timeframe identified in the complaint, we 
affirm the ALJ’s decision to sustain specifications 5-6 
of the neglect of duties charge. ID at 100-02.

119 In specifications 7 and 8 of the neglect of 
duties charge, SSA alleged that the respondent had a 
“duty to act in a fair and impartial manner” and that 
he breached this duty in fiscal years 2013 and 2014.

8 The Board may follow a nonprecedential decision of the Fed­
eral Circuit when, as here, it finds its reasoning persuasive. 
LeMaster v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 123 M.S.P.R. 453, 
1f lln.5(2016).
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IAF, Tab 1 at 11. SSA relied on several emails 
between the respondent and various claimants’ 
representatives to support these specifications. IAF, 
Tab 111 at 29, 68-69. In the initial decision, the ALJ 
found that the respondent had a duty to act in a fair 
and impartial manner and that the respondent knew 
of this duty, but SSA did not prove that he failed to 
act in a fair and impartial manner because, among 
other things, the CALJ could not point to any cases 
in which a claimant received a more favorable outcome 
based on the identity of the claimant’s representative. 
ID at 16, 94. In its cross petition for review, SSA 
argues, among other things, that the ALJ took “an 
unreasonably circumscribed view” of the respondent’s 
duty of impartiality, arguing that this duty extended 
beyond his interaction with claimants and beyond 
his conduct during hearings. PFR File, Tab 5 at 23- 
26. We need not resolve this issue on review because, 
even if we affirmed the ALJ’s decision not to sustain 
these specifications, we would still sustain the neglect 
of duties charge based on our decision to affirm the 
ALJ’s finding that SSA has proven specifications 1-6 
by preponderant evidence. See Burroughs v. Department 
of the Army, 918 F.2d 170, 172 (Fed. Cir. 1990) (finding 
that when more than one event or factual specif­
ication supports a single charge proof of one or more, 
but not all, of the supporting specifications is suffi­
cient to sustain the charge).
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SSA proved the conduct unbecoming charge.9
f20 In the complaint, SSA alleged that the res­

pondent engaged in various “improper communica- 
tion[s]” with several claimants’ representatives, which 
constituted conduct unbecoming. IAF, Tab 1 at 11-12. 
The ALJ sustained specifications 1, 3-12, and 14 of 
the conduct unbecoming charge and the charge itself. 
ID at 95-115. Both the respondent and SSA challenge 
the AU’s findings regarding the specifications.

121 Regarding specifications 1, 3-12, and 14, the 
respondent contends that the ALJ erred by imposing 
discipline for his “collegial” and “flattering” language 
in correspondence with counsel. PFR File, Tab 1 at 
22. He asserts that SSA is not represented at hearings 
and, because the only parties appearing before him 
are the claimant and his/her representative, collegial 
AU-counsel relations are an “essential lubricant” 
that allows the judicial gears to turn efficiently. 
Id. at 23. He also asserts that the ALJ applied a 
“broad and standardless” rule; the ALJ overlooked 
the “cardinal principle” that one who alleges bias 
must overcome a presumption of honesty and integrity; 
and a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant 
facts would not find that the communications create 
an appearance that the law or these standards have 
been violated. Id. at 22-26. These arguments are 
unavailing.

1J22 The Board has described conduct unbecoming 
an AU as “conduct which was improper, unsuitable,

9 SSA does not challenge the ALJ’s conclusion that it did not 
prove specification 16 of the conduct unbecoming charge. ID at 
110-11; PFR File, Tab 5 at 22 n.ll. We therefore affirm the 
ALJ’s finding in this regard.
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or detracting from one’s character or reputation.” 
Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 190, H 42. The Board also has 
held that an agency has proven a charge of conduct 
unbecoming if it proves that the employee violated 
one of the 14 general principles contained in 5 C.F.R. 
§ 2635.101(b). Schifano v. Department of Veterans 
Affairs, 70 M.S.P.R. 275, 281 (1996). The ALJ relied 
on the regulation at 5 C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(8), (b)(14) 
in his analysis of these specifications.!0 ID at 95-97. 
We discern no error with the analytical framework 
used by the ALJ.

Tf23 We also affirm the ALJ’s finding that SSA 
proved that the communications described in specif­
ications 1, 3-12, and 14 constituted conduct 
unbecoming because they give the appearance of a 
lack of impartiality. For example, in specification 1, 
the respondent, in agreeing to a CPOD, told the 
claimant’s representative that “the fact that it’s you 
as [the claimant’s] attorney doesn’t hurt matters,” 
and that the claimant’s representative was “one of 
the best attorneys it has been [his] privilege to know.” 
IAF, Tab 1 at 11, 40. He also said that she “practice[d] 
law the way [he] used to, realistically, energetically, 
and efficiently,” commenting ‘What’s not to like about 
you?” Id. at 40. In specification 3, the respondent told

1° The regulation at 5 C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(8) states that 
employees “shall act impartially and not give preferential treat­
ment to any private organization or individual.” Subsection 
2635.101(b)(14) states that employees “shall endeavor to avoid 
any actions creating the appearance that they are violating the 
law or the ethical standards set forth in this part.” Subsection 
2635.101(b)(14) further advises that “[w]hether particular cir­
cumstances create an appearance that the law or these stan­
dards have been violated shall be determined from the perspective 
of a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts.”
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the claimant’s representative, “I just wanted to make 
sure your
least those, like you, whom I like).” Id. at 42. In spe­
cification 4, the respondent told the claimant’s repre­
sentative that the respondent’s “discretion has a floor 
and a ceiling, and [the representative] always get[s] 
the ceiling, but to resolve this case without a hearing 
would require [the respondent] to ascend to the 
stratosphere!” Id. at 43. In a follow-up email, the res­
pondent also stated that he was “flattered” to consider 
himself one of the claimant’s representative’s “friends.” 
Id. On their face, the emails described in specif­
ications 1, 3-4 give the appearance of a lack of impar­
tiality. We affirm the ALJ’s decision to sustain these 
specifications.

1J24 The respondent further asserts that specif­
ications 5-10, involving email correspondence with 
the same claimant’s representative, do not warrant the 
conclusion that these communications created an 
appearance of impropriety. PFR File, Tab 1 at 24. We 
are not persuaded by these arguments. Rather, we 
find that a reasonable person would conclude that 
each of these communications was improper and/or 
created an appearance of preferential treatment. For 
example, in the email described in specification 5, the 
respondent made improper comments about claimants’ 
cases. IAF, Tab 1 at 12, 46-47. In the email described 
in specification 6, the respondent states, “Just to 
show you the amount of good will you’ve banked, I 
set aside a decision I was writing to attend to your 
email.” Id. at 12, 47. In the email described in specif­
ication 7, the respondent states, “It’s always a treat 
to have a lawyer of your ability and dedication to 
work with.” Id. at 12, 49. In the email described in

was covered[.] I protect my lawyers (at



App.30a

specification 8, the respondent discussed an arbitration 
hearing that he (the respondent) was involved in, 
referred to an Associate CALJ as the “Chicago hit 
man,” and called him an “anti-judge bureaucrat.” Id. 
at 12, 52. The respondent also stated in this email 
that he would treat attorneys like the recipient 
differently than other attorneys. Id. at 53 (“When I 
have attorneys like you to deal with, I will be the 
same open, inquiring person I have always been, and 
encourage free-wheeling debate and discussion like 
we’ve always had. Where I have attorneys I don’t 
know before me, I’ll ask no questions other than that 
of the [vocational expert]. . . . ”). In specification 9, 
the respondent made an inappropriate remark about 
a juvenile claimant to the claimant’s representative 
and invited the representative to contact him over 
the weekend on his personal email account. Id. at 12, 
54, 56. In specification 10, the respondent explicitly 
acknowledged that his disposition would result in the 
claimant’s representative receiving a fee for his work 
in that matter, and he noted the “effort” that the 
representative put into the case. Id. at 12, 63. We 
discern no error with the ALJ’s analysis of specifications 
5-10 or his conclusion that each of these emails gave 
the appearance of a lack of impartiality and constituted 
conduct unbecoming. ID at 100-05.

125 In the email described in specification 11, 
the respondent told the claimant’s representative, “if 
you are telling me as an officer of the court and my 
friend that the claimant did indeed undergo a fusion 
in October 2013,” then he would decide the case 
based on her representation. IAF, Tab 1 at 12, 65. In 
the email described in specification 12, the respondent 
told the claimant’s representative that she was “one
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of a group (fairly small group) of attorneys who may 
always contact [him], bidden or unbidden” and that 
he “respect[ed] [her] immensely, and value[d] [her] 
input consistently.” Id. at 12, 68. We agree that both 
of these emails are evidence of conduct unbecoming, 
and we affirm the ALtPs analysis of these specifications. 
ID at 105-07.

1(26 In the email described in specification 14, 
the respondent used his personal email address and 
told the claimant’s representative, among other things, 
that the representative reminded him of himself and 
that he (the respondent) was “never fortunate enough 
to have the opportunity to appear before a Judge 
with whom [he] could have these types of ‘out of 
court’ dialogues” regarding a particular matter. LAF, 
Tab 1 at 12, 74-79. We agree with the AU that this 
communication constituted conduct unbecoming. ID 
at 108-09.

f27 On review, the respondent contends that 
the AU erred because one who alleges bias must 
overcome a presumption of honesty and integrity. 
PFR File, Tab 1 at 24-25. Although this is an accurate 
proposition of law, see, e.g., Oliver v. Department of 
Transportation, 1 M.S.P.R. 382, 386 (1980), SSA did 
not allege in the conduct unbecoming specifications— 
and the AU did not find—that the respondent was 
biased in favor of or against the claimants whose 
representatives were communicating with the respond­
ent. Moreover, the respondent even acknowledged that 
the communications described in the conduct unbecom­
ing specifications are “capable of being interpreted 
nefariously.” PFR File, Tab 1 at 26 (emphasis in orig­
inal). For these reasons, we agree with the AU’s 
decision to sustain specifications 1, 3-12, and 14.
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128 Turning to SSA’s cross petition for review, 
we agree with SSA that the AU should have sustained 
specification 15 of the conduct unbecoming charge. 
PFR File, Tab 5 at 28-29. In this specification, SSA 
alleged that the respondent forwarded an email to a 
claimant’s representative with the subject line “[the 
CALJ] just violated federal law and thumbed nose at 
U[.]S[J Supreme Court.” IAF, Tab 1 at 12, 80-82. The 
forwarded email, from a colleague of the respondent, 
called the CALJ a “complete idiot” and included a 
bulletin which allegedly “orders SSA ALJs to violate 
federal law.” Id. at 80-82. In the initial decision, the 
ALJ found unpersuasive SSA’s argument that the 
respondent’s decision to forward the email to a claim­
ant’s representative would undermine public 
confidence in SSA; however, he did not provide any 
explanation for his decision or cite to any legal 
authority or the CALJ’s testimony regarding the 
effect of the respondent’s distribution of this email. 
ID at 109-10; PFR File, Tab 5 at 28-29. We disagree 
with the AU’s assessment of this email. Rather, the 
respondent’s decision to forward to a claimant’s 
representative an internal SSA email with commentary 
that was critical of the CALJ and discussed “inside 
baseball” topics creates an appearance of a lack of 
impartiality and constitutes conduct unbecoming. 
HT 5 at 279-80 (testimony of the CALJ). We modify 
the initial decision in this regard.

129 We have considered SSA’s arguments regard­
ing specification 13 of the conduct unbecoming charge 
wherein SSA charged that the respondent expressed 
concern for a favored attorney’s receiving a fee in a 
case she was handling before him and suggested how 
she might go about securing that fee. PFR File, Tab 5
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at 27-28; IAF, Tab 1 at 12, 70-73. We have also 
considered SSA’s argument regarding specification 2 
wherein the agency charged that the respondent’s 
decision to use a claimant’s full name and another 
claimant’s last name in an August 31, 2012 email to 
a claimant’s representative constituted improper trans­
mission of PII and, therefore, conduct unbecoming. 
PFR File, Tab 5 at 26-27. However, we need not 
resolve either of these issues because we find that 
SSA proved the conduct unbecoming charge based on 
our decision to affirm the ALJ’s decision to sustain 
specifications 1, 3-12, and 14, and our separate deci­
sion to sustain specification 15. See Burroughs, 918 
F.2d at 172.

We modify the initial decision to find that the 
respondent’s November 15, 2012 letter to OIG 
constituted protected activity, but he did not 
prove that the protected activity was a 
contributing factor in SSA’s decision to file a 
complaint against him.

K30 As noted above, in the initial decision, the 
ALJ determined that the respondent did not prove 
that he made any whistleblowing disclosures.il ID at 
115-29. In particular, the ALJ found that the res­
pondent’s November 15, 2012 letter to OIG12 did not

11 Neither party challenges the ALJ’s analysis of the respond­
ent’s claim of reprisal for whistleblowing as an affirmative 
defense or his finding that the respondent did not make any 
whistleblowing disclosures. ID at 115-29. Except as modified to 
discuss the respondent’s November 15, 2012 correspondence to 
OIG, we affirm the initial decision in this regard.

12 In this letter, the respondent reported two instances of 
“serious mismanagement.” IAF, Tab 95 at 39-40. He described 
how counsel for a disability claimant in one case filed a motion
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constitute a protected disclosure because, among 
other things, his allegations of “mismanagement” did 
not rise to the level of “gross mismanagement” under 
5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8).13 ID at 121-23; IAF, Tab 95 at 
39-40. Although not explicitly raised by the respondent 
on review, we modify the initial decision to address 
this finding.

f31 Under the law in effect at the time SSA filed 
this complaint in October 2015,14 an employee may 
establish a prima facie case of retaliation for whistle­
blowing disclosures and/or protected activity by 
proving by preponderant evidence!5 that: (1) he made

to recuse and how counsel for a disability claimant in another 
case complained about him to ODAR management. Id. at 40. He 
further described how SSA sought to take disciplinary action 
against him during an October 25, 2012 interview, but his first- 
line supervisor, who was present during the meeting, failed to 
listen to the complete version of the hearings in those matters.
Id.

13 During the pendency of this appeal, the National Defense 
Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2018 (NDAA), Pub. L. No. 
115-91, 131 Stat. 1283, was signed into law on December 12, 
2017. Section 1097 of the NDAA amended various provisions of 
title 5 of the U.S. Code. Our disposition of this matter would be 
the same under both pre - and post-NDAA law.

14 Although the respondent’s correspondence to OIG predated 
the December 27, 2012 effective date of the Whistleblower Pro­
tection Enhancement Act of 2012 (WPEA), Pub. L. No. 112-199, 
§ 202, 126 Stat. 1465, the Board may consider the provisions of 
the WPEA because SSA’s complaint was filed after that date, 
Carney v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 121 M.S.P.R. 446, If 2 
n.l (2014).

15 Preponderant evidence is the degree of relevant evidence 
that a reasonable person, considering the record as a whole, 
would accept as sufficient to find that a contested fact is more 
likely to be true than untrue. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.4(q).
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a disclosure described under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) or 
engaged in protected activity described under 5 U.S.C. 
§ 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B), (C), or (D); and (2) the whistle­
blowing disclosure or protected activity was a 
contributing factor in the agency’s decision to take a 
personnel action against him. 5 U.S.C. § 1221(e)(1); 
Aland v. Department of the Army, 122 M.S.P.R. 600, 
H 12 (2015); Webb v. Department of the Interior, 122 
M.S.P.R. 248, 1 6 (2015). If the employee makes both 
of these showings by preponderant evidence, the 
burden of persuasion shifts to the agency to prove by 
clear and convincing evidence that it would have 
taken the same action in the absence of the protected 
activity. Alarid, 122 M.S.P.R. 600,1 14.

T|32 It appears that the ALJ analyzed this claim 
under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)(B)(ii), which states that 
it is a prohibited personnel practice (PPP) to take a 
personnel action against an employee because of “any 
disclosure ... to the Inspector General ... of informa­
tion which the employee ... reasonably believes evid­
ences . . . gross mismanagement.” The ALJ’s reliance 
on this statutory provision was in error. We need not 
remand the appeal, though, because the record is 
fully developed on this issue. Instead, we conclude 
that the respondent’s claim is more appropriately 
analyzed under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(C), which states 
that it is a PPP to take an action against an employee 
because that employee “disclos[ed] information to the 
Inspector General ... of an agency... in accordance 
with applicable provisions of law.” The respondent’s 
November 15, 2012 letter satisfies the criteria under 
section 2302(b)(9)(C) and constitutes protected activity. 
See, e.g., Special Counsel v. Hathaway, 49 M.S.P.R. 
595, 612 (1991) (finding that section 2302(b)(9)(C)
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covers employee disclosures to OIG that do not meet 
the precise terms of the actions described in section 
2302(b)(8)), recons, denied, 52 M.S.P.R. 375, aff’d, 981 
F.2d 1237 (Fed. Cir. 1992).

TJ33 We must next determine whether the res­
pondent’s November 15, 2012 letter to OIG was a 
contributing factor in SSA’s decision to file the 
complaint against him. One way of proving that the 
respondent’s protected activity was a contributing 
factor in the personnel action is the “knowledge/timing 
test.” Alarid, 122 M.S.P.R. 600, H 13 (citing Shibuya 
v. Department of Agriculture, 119 M.S.P.R. 537, K 22 
(2013)). The knowledge/timing test allows an employee 
to demonstrate that the protected activity was a 
contributing factor in a personnel action through 
circumstantial evidence, such as evidence that the 
official taking the personnel action knew of the 
protected activity and that the personnel action 
occurred within a period of time such that a reasonable 
person could conclude that the protected activity was 
a contributing factor in the personnel action. Alarid, 
122 M.S.P.R. 600, K 13; see 5 U.S.C. § 1221(e)(1). The 
ALJ found—and the respondent does not contest— 
that the CAU who signed the complaint was not 
aware of the respondent’s November 15, 2012 letter 
to OIG when she authorized the filing of the complaint 
in this matter. ID at 53. Thus, the knowledge 
component of the knowledge/timing test is not satisfied.

H34 There are, however, other ways to satisfy 
contributing factor, such as evidence pertaining to 
the strength or weakness of the agency’s reasons for 
taking the action, whether the protected activity was 
personally directed at the proposing or deciding 
officials, and whether these individuals had a desire
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or motive to retaliate against the respondent. Dorney 
v. Department of the Army, 117 M.S.P.R. 480, 1 15 
(2012); Powers v. Department of the Navy, 69 M.S.P.R. 
150, 156 (1995). As noted above, there is strong evi­
dence to support SSA’s charges. The November 15, 
2012 letter identified the respondent’s first-line 
supervisor by name and criticized ODAR’s region one 
management, IAF, Tab 95 at 39-40, but there is no 
evidence that the respondent’s first-line supervisor, 
or anyone in ODAR region one management, had any 
knowledge of the respondent’s November 15, 2012 
letter to OIG prior to the complaint being filed or 
that any of these individuals had a desire or motive 
to retaliate against the respondent. E.g., HT 1 at 281 
(testimony of the respondent’s first-line supervisor); 
HT 2 at 277 (testimony of the respondent’s second- 
line supervisor). Finally, we have considered whether 
the CALJ had constructive knowledge of the respond­
ent’s OIG letter, Bradley v. Department of Homeland 
Security, 123 M.S.P.R. 547, 1 15 (2016), but we are 
not aware of any evidence in this regard.

135 Because we have found that the respondent 
failed to prove that his protected activity was a 
contributing factor in SSA’s decision to file the com­
plaint seeking to remove him, it is unnecessary to 
determine whether SSA proved by clear and 
convincing evidence that it would have filed the com­
plaint in the absence of the respondent’s protected 
activity. See Clarke v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 
121 M.S.P.R. 154, 1 19 n.10 (2014), affd, 623 F. App’x 
1016 (Fed. Cir. 2015).
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We find that there is good cause to remove the 
respondent.

^36 The ALJ correctly noted that, in evaluating 
the penalty in an original jurisdiction case under 5 
U.S.C. § 7521, the Board looks to the factors articulated 
in Douglas v. Veterans Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 
280, 305-06 (1981). ID at 130; Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 
190, t 47. In the initial decision, the ALJ evaluated 
the Douglas factors, finding, among other things, that 
the sustained misconduct was “serious, and. . . 
repeated notwithstanding clear notice and guidance” 
from SSA, and the misconduct merited a “substan­
tial” penalty. ID at 130-43. However, the ALJ concluded 
that a 180-day suspension was a reasonable penalty. 
ID at 143-44. On cross petition for review, SSA 
asserts that the ALJ improperly considered the 
following penalty factors as mitigating factors: (1) 
the respondent’s past work record; (2) the consistency 
of the penalty; (3) the notoriety of the offense; (4) the 
respondent’s potential for rehabilitation; and (5) the 
availability of alternative sanctions. PFR File, Tab 5 
at 11-22; ID at 143-44.

137 We disagree with SSA’s arguments regarding 
the ALJ’s evaluation of the respondent’s past work 
record. SSA challenges the ALJ’s finding that the 
respondent’s productivity and intelligence were 
mitigating factors, and it asserts that the ALJ ignored 
the fact that SSA referred the respondent to the OIG 
for investigation in 2013. PFR File, Tab 5 at 12-15; 
ID at 133-39, 141. In the initial decision, the ALJ 
cited the testimony of others regarding the respondent’s 
productivity and intelligence and found that the res­
pondent had a positive work ethic and was viewed as 
intelligent and fair by representatives who appeared
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before him. ID at 141-43. SSA argues that the res­
pondent’s high productivity is illusory given his fail­
ure to abide by agency policy, PFR File, Tab 5 at 12- 
13, but this fact, even if true, does not warrant a 
different outcome. The AU also noted, among other 
things, that SSA received numerous complaints against 
the respondent, and his supervisor estimated that 
80% of his workload in dealing with complaints 
against AUs involved complaints submitted against 
the respondent. ID at 141. It therefore appears that 
the ALJ identified the relevant evidence regarding 
this factor. Even if the ALJ did not discuss the OIG 
referral in his analysis of the particular penalty 
factor, he discussed it in his findings of fact. ID at 26- 
27. Additionally, the ALJ’s failure to mention all of 
the evidence of record does not mean that he did not 
consider it in reaching his decision. Marques v. 
Department of Health & Human Services, 22 M.S.P.R. 
129, 132 (1984), affd, 776 F.2d 1062 (Fed. Cir. 1985).

138 However, we agree with SSA’s argument 
that the ALJ did not properly evaluate the notoriety 
of the respondent’s offense. PFR File, Tab 5 at 12-15. 
The ALJ acknowledged that a district court decision 
in Betancourt v. Astrue, 824 F. Supp.2d 211 (D. 
Mass. 2011), discussed the respondent’s failure to 
memorialize off-the-record conversations, ID at 142, 
but the ALJ was not persuaded by SSA’s speculation 
that claimants and their representatives were aware 
of the respondent’s misconduct, and he concluded 
that the evidence did not show that the misconduct 
was notorious or adversely impacted SSA’s reputation. 
Id. Yet, as the ALJ noted just paragraphs earlier in 
his decision, that very same handling of off-the- 
record conversations admonished in Betancourt had
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been the subject of numerous complaints since at 
least 2010, resulting in the aforementioned testimony 
from the first-line supervisor that 80% of his workload 
in dealing with complaints against ALJs involved 
complaints submitted against the respondent. ID at 
140-41. We therefore agree with SSA that, as an 
AU, the respondent held a prominent, visible, and 
public position that is subject to scrutiny, perhaps 
more so than many other types of agency officials 
who do not routinely interact with the public, and 
that his misconduct, even if not technically notorious, 
did reflect negatively on SSA’s reputation.

139 We also are persuaded that the AU erred 
in his analysis of the consistency of the penalty, the 
respondent’s potential for rehabilitation, and the 
availability of alternative sanctions. For instance, 
regarding the consistency of the penalty with those 
imposed upon other employees for the same or similar 
offenses, we agree with SSA that the ALJ took a 
narrow view of this factor by failing to mention any 
of the misconduct relating to the conduct unbecoming 
charge. PFR File, Tab 5 at 16; ID at 142. Importantly, 
the CAU testified that she sought removal of another 
ALJ for only “neglect of duty for failure to follow 
Agency policy,” the appeal of which was then pending, 
and she stated that the respondent’s misconduct was 
“very, very rare.” HT 5 at 291-92 (testimony of the 
CALJ). Given the unusual nature of the sustained 
misconduct, we find that the absence of comparator 
evidence is not a mitigating factor.

140 Regarding the respondent’s potential for 
rehabilitation, the AU considered the fact that the 
respondent improved his practices regarding PII and 
also began memorializing “more” of the content of his
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off-the-record conversations and communications. ID 
at 139, 143. Although the degree to which the res­
pondent may have improved his efforts to memorialize 
his off-the-record conversations is unclear, PFR File, 
Tab 5 at 19, the ALJ properly considered such evi­
dence in his assessment of the respondent’s potential 
for rehabilitation. However, the ALJ also cited to the 
respondent’s brief that he was ‘“able and willing’ to 
adjust his behavior” to support the conclusion that he 
had a potential for rehabilitation. ID at 139 (citing 
IAF, Tab 112 at 73). Statements of a party’s repre­
sentative in a pleading do not constitute evidence, 
Hendricks v. Department of the Navy, 69 M.S.P.R. 
163, 168 (1995), and it was error for the ALJ to rely 
on the representative’s statements in this regard. 16 
We find that there is not a strong potential for rehab­
ilitation here, particularly given the respondent’s fail­
ure to comply with SSA policy regarding CPOD deci­
sions and his numerous improper communications 
with claimants’ representatives that gave the 
appearance of a lack of impartiality. Indeed, as the 
ALJ found, the respondent “persistently challenged 
and resisted [SSA] direction, maintaining that [SSA’s] 
policies were incorrect and that [his] practices were 
justified.” ID at 133. Moreover, regarding his commu­
nications with claimants’ representatives, there is no 
evidence whatsoever that he improved his communi­
cations or judgment in this regard; thus, we find that 
there is little potential for rehabilitation.

T|41 Finally, regarding the adequacy and effec­
tiveness of alternative sanctions, the ALJ noted that

16 Although the respondent is pro se on review, PFR File, Tab 
7, he was represented during the proceedings below, IAF, Tabs 
5, 112.
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the respondent previously had not been sanctioned in 
connection with the sustained misconduct, and he 
concluded that the record did not show that removal, 
rather than a lesser sanction, would be more effective 
to deter the respondent or others from engaging in 
similar conduct. ID at 143. In its cross petition for 
review, SSA argues, in pertinent part, that the lack 
of prior discipline does not make removal inappropriate 
in this case. PFR File, Tab 5 at 20 (noting that, in 
cases such as Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 190, and Social 
Security Administration v. Steverson, 111 M.S.P.R. 
649 (2009), the Board has found good cause to 
remove an ALJ even in the absence of prior discipline). 
Here, the respondent received the December 5, 2011 
directive, which advised him that failure to follow 
the directive may lead to disciplinary action. IAF, 
Tab 93 at 23. Moreover, the ALJ made the following 
findings: (1) SSA referred the respondent to OIG in 
October 2013; (2) OIG conducted an investigation; (3) 
it was ODAR’s practice to hold in abeyance any 
administrative actions against an employee once an 
OIG referral has been made; and (4) prior to the OIG 
referral SSA had been working on potential discipline 
for the respondent. ID at 26-27. Thus, the fact that 
SSA took no action against the respondent from the 
time of its October 2013 referral to OIG until after it 
received the OIG reports in December 2014 and Feb­
ruary 2015, ID at 27, does not, under these circum­
stances, make this factor mitigating.

1|42 We agree with the ALJ’s analysis of the 
nature and seriousness of the misconduct, which is 
the most significant Douglas factor, and his conclusion 
that the respondent’s misconduct was “serious,” 
“repeated,” “directly pertain[ed] to [his] responsibilities
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as an ALJ,” “negatively impact [ed] the legal sufficiency 
and defensibility of his [CPOD] decisions,” “directly 
affect[ed] [the respondent’s] obligation to provide 
claimants with a full, due process hearing,” and 
“reflected poorly on the ALJ position.” ID at 131-32, 
143; Murry v. General Services Administration, 93 
M.S.P.R. 554, 1 8 (2003), aff’d, 97 F. App’x 319 (Fed. 
Cir. 2004). We also agree with the ALJ that the 
sustained misconduct warrants a “substantial” penalty. 
ID at 143. Although a 180-day suspension is a 
significant penalty, Colon v. Department of the Navy, 
58 M.S.P.R. 190, 204 (1993), we find that, given the 
serious and repeated nature of the misconduct, the 
Douglas factors discussed herein, and the ALJ’s 
assessment of the remaining factors, SSA has proven 
good cause to remove the respondent. See, e.g., 
Steverson, 111 M.S.P.R. 649, 11 2-3, 6-12, 19-21 
(finding good cause to remove the respondent ALJ 
based on charges of conduct unbecoming, lack of 
candor, misuse of Government equipment, and failure 
to follow agency policy).

We deny SSA’s request to suspend the respondent 
from the date the complaint was filed through the 
Board’s final decision.

143 SSA argued in its complaint that the respond­
ent’s neglect of duties and conduct unbecoming “funda­
mentally undermines public confidence” in the agency’s 
adjudicatory process, and, therefore, good cause exists 
to suspend him from the date of the October 2, 2015 
complaint through the Board’s final decision in this 
matter. IAF, Tab 1 at 5, 12-13. In the initial deci­
sion, the ALJ noted that SSA cited no authority to 
support its request for a retroactive suspension, and 
he rejected SSA’s request in this regard. ID at 144.
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In its cross petition for review, SSA challenges the 
ALJ’s conclusion, emphasizing that, because Congress 
has not defined the term “suspension” in 5 U.S.C. 
§ 7521, the Board can give it meaning. PFR File, Tab 
5 at 29-32.

T|44 Other than citing to section 7521, SSA pro­
vides no legal basis for its request; rather, SSA only 
appears to focus on policy arguments. Id. We are not 
persuaded by SSA’s arguments. Importantly, section 
7521(a) advises that an agency may not take an 
action against an ALJ until the Board “establishes] and 
determine^]” that the agency has made a showing of 
good cause. 5 U.S.C. § 7521(a); see, e.g., Social 
Security Administration v. Boham, 38 M.S.P.R. 540, 
546-47 (1988) (finding that SSA proved good cause to 
discipline the respondent ALJ based on his refusal to 
comply with reasonable orders concerning case 
scheduling and authorizing SSA to suspend him for a 
period up to 75 days), aff’d, 883 F.2d 1026 (Fed. Cir. 
1989) (Table). SSA is essentially asking the Board to 
approve a time-served suspension. However, the Board 
has held that the imposition of a time-served suspension 
is arbitrary. Milligan v. U.S. Postal Service, 106 
M.S.P.R. 414, K 13 (2007); see Greenstreet v. Social 
Security Administration, 543 F.3d 705, 709 (Fed. Cir. 
2008) (“[T]he length of a suspension is arbitrary 
when it is based solely on the suspended employee’s 
‘time served’ awaiting decision.”). We are not persuaded 
that it is appropriate to interpret the statute at 5 
U.S.C. § 7521 as authorizing a time-served or retro­
active suspension, and we deny SSA’s request.
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ORDER
1)45 We have considered the parties’ remaining 

arguments, but we find them unpersuasive. The Board 
authorizes the petitioner to remove the respondent 
for good cause shown, pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 7521.

NOTICE OF APPEAL RIGHTS17
The initial decision, as supplemented by this 

Final Order, constitutes the Board’s final decision in 
this matter. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.113. You may obtain 
review of this final decision. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(a)(1). By 
statute, the nature of your claims determines the 
time limit for seeking such review and the appropriate 
forum with which to file. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b). Although 
we offer the following summary of available appeal 
rights, the Merit Systems Protection Board does not 
provide legal advice on which option is most appropriate 
for your situation and the rights described below do 
not represent a statement of how courts will rule 
regarding which cases fall within their jurisdiction. 
If you wish to seek review of this final decision, you 
should immediately review the law applicable to your 
claims and carefully follow all filing time limits and 
requirements. Failure to file within the applicable 
time limit may result in the dismissal of your case by 
your chosen forum.

Please read carefully each of the three main 
possible choices of review below to decide which one 
applies to your particular case. If you have questions

17 Since the issuance of the initial decision in this matter, the 
Board may have updated the notice of review rights included in 
final decisions. As indicated in the notice, the Board cannot 
advise which option is most appropriate in any matter.
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about whether a particular forum is the appropriate 
one to review your case, you should contact that 
forum for more information.

(1) Judicial review in general.
As a general rule, an appellant seeking judicial 

review of a final Board order must file a petition for 
review with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal 
Circuit, which must be received by the court within 
60 calendar davs of the date of issuance of this 
decision. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(A).

If you submit a petition for review to the U.S. 
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you must 
submit your petition to the court at the following 
address:

U.S. Court of Appeals 
for the Federal Circuit 

717 Madison Place, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20439

Additional information about the U.S. Court of 
Appeals for the Federal Circuit is available at the 
court’s website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular 
relevance is the court’s “Guide for Pro Se Petitioners 
and Appellants,” which is contained within the court’s 
Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, 10, and 11.

If you are interested in securing pro bono repre­
sentation for an appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals 
for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our website at 
http://www.mspb.gov/probono for information regarding 
pro bono representation for Merit Systems Protection 
Board appellants before the Federal Circuit. The 
Board neither endorses the services provided by any

http://www.cafc.uscourts.gov
http://www.mspb.gov/probono
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attorney nor warrants that any attorney will accept 
representation in a given case.

(2) Judicial or EEOC review of cases involving 
a claim of discrimination.
This option applies to you only if you have 

claimed that you were affected by an action that is 
appealable to the Board and that such action was 
based, in whole or in part, on unlawful discrimination. 
If so, you may obtain judicial review of this decision— 
including a disposition of vour discrimination claims—
by filing a civil action with an appropriate U.S. 
district court (not the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 
Federal Circuit), within 30 calendar davs after you 
receive this decision. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(2); see 
Perry v. Merit Systems Protection Board, 582 U.S.
__ , 137 S. Ct. 1975 (2017). If you have a representative
in this case, and your representative receives this 
decision before you do, then you must file with the 
district court no later than 30 calendar davs after 
vour representative receives this decision. If the 
action involves a claim of discrimination based on 
race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or a disabling 
condition, you may be entitled to representation by a 
court-appointed lawyer and to waiver of any require­
ment of prepayment of fees, costs, or other security. 
See 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f) and 29 U.S.C. § 794a.

Contact information for U.S. district courts can 
be found at their respective websites, which can be 
accessed through the link below:

http ://www.uscourts. gov/Court_Locator/ 
CourtWebsites.aspx.

http://www.uscourts
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Alternatively, you may request review by the 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) 
of your discrimination claims only, excluding all 
other issues. 5 U.S.C. § 7702(b)(1). You must file any 
such request with the EEOC’s Office of Federal 
Operations within 30 calendar days after you receive 
this decision. 5 U.S.C. § 7702(b)(1). If you have a 
representative in this case, and your representative 
receives this decision before you do, then you must 
file with the EEOC no later than 30 calendar days 
after your representative receives this decision.

If you submit a request for review to the EEOC 
by regular U.S. mail, the address of the EEOC is:

Office of Federal Operations 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

P.O. Box 77960 
Washington, D.C. 20013

If you submit a request for review to the EEOC 
via commercial delivery or by a method requiring a 
signature, it must be addressed to:

Office of Federal Operations 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

131 M Street, N.E.
Suite 5 SW12G 

Washington, D.C. 20507

(3) Judicial review pursuant to the Whistle­
blower Protection Enhancement Act of 2012.
This option applies to you only if you have 

raised claims of reprisal for whistleblowing disclo­
sures under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) or other protected 
activities listed in 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B), (C), 
or (D). If so, and your judicial petition for review
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“raises no challenge to the Board’s disposition of alle­
gations of a prohibited personnel practice described 
in section 2302(b) other than practices described in 
section 2302(b)(8), or 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B), (C), or 
(D),” then you may file a petition for judicial review 
either with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal 
Circuit or any court of appeals of competent 
jurisdiction. 18 The court of appeals must receive your 
petition for review within 60 days of the date of 
issuance of this decision. 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(B).

If you submit a petition for judicial review to the 
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, you 
must submit your petition to the court at the following 
address:

U.S. Court of Appeals 
for the Federal Circuit 

717 Madison Place, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20439

Additional information about the U.S. Court of 
Appeals for the Federal Circuit is available at the 
court’s website, www.cafc.uscourts.gov. Of particular 
relevance is the court’s “Guide for Pro Se Petitioners 
and Appellants,” which is contained within the court’s 
Rules of Practice, and Forms 5, 6, 10, and 11.

18 The original statutory provision that provided for judicial 
review of certain whistleblower claims by any court of appeals 
of competent jurisdiction expired on December 27, 2017. The All 
Circuit Review Act, signed into law by the President on July 7, 
2018, permanently allows appellants to file petitions for judicial 
review of MSPB decisions in certain whistleblower reprisal 
cases with the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or 
any other circuit court of appeals of competent jurisdiction. The 
All Circuit Review Act is retroactive to November 26, 2017. 
Pub. L. No. 115-195, 132 Stat. 1510.

http://www.cafc.uscourts.gov
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If you are interested in securing pro bono repre­
sentation for an appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals 
for the Federal Circuit, you may visit our website at 
http://www.mspb.gov/probono for information regarding 
pro bono representation for Merit Systems Protection 
Board appellants before the Federal Circuit. The 
Board neither endorses the services provided by any 
attorney nor warrants that any attorney will accept 
representation in a given case.

Contact information for the courts of appeals 
can be found at their respective websites, which can 
be accessed through the link below:

http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/
CourtWebsites.aspx.

FOR THE BOARD:

Is/ for
Jennifer Everling 
Acting Clerk of the Board

Washington, D.C.

http://www.mspb.gov/probono
http://www.uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/
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INITIAL DECISION OF THE 
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE, 

MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD OF 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

(MARCH 16, 2017)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
MERIT SYSTEMS PROTECTION BOARD 

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION,

Petitioner,
v.

LEONARD COOPERMAN,

Respondent.

Docket Number: CB-7521-16-0001-T-1
Before: D. Michael CHAPPELL, 

Administrative Law Judge.

INITIAL DECISION
Petitioner Social Security Administration (“SSA” 

or the “Agency”), pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 7521, requests 
that the Merit Systems Protection Board (“MSPB” or 
“Board”) find good cause to remove Leonard Cooperman 
(“Respondent”) from the position of Administrative 
Law Judge (“ALJ”), and to suspend him from pay 
status from the date of the Complaint through the
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date of a final decision by the Board. The MSPB has 
jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 
§ 7521.1 For the reasons set forth below, good cause 
exists to discipline Respondent, and the appropriate 
penalty is suspension without pay for 180 calendar 
days. The Agency has failed to demonstrate that 5 
U.S.C. § 7521 allows a retroactive application of a 
penalty.

IntroductionI.

A. Statement of the Case
On October 2, 2015, the Agency filed a complaint 

against Respondent (“Complaint,” Tab l2). The Com­
plaint contains one charge of neglect of duties 
(“Charge 1”), which is based upon 8 enumerated 
specifications and a second charge of conduct 
unbecoming (“Charge 2”), which is based upon 16 
enumerated specifications. The Agency requests a 
determination by the Board that there is good cause 
to suspend Respondent from the date of the Complaint 
through the date of its final decision and to remove 
Respondent from the position of SSA ALJ (Complaint 
at 9-10). The Board’s Acknowledgement Order, dated

1 An agency may suspend an Administrative Law Judge “only for 
good cause established and determined by the Merit Systems 
Protection Board on the record after opportunity for hearing 
before the Board.” 5 U.S.C. § 7521; SSA u. Steverson, 111 
M.S.P.R. 649, 658 (2009), affd, 383 F. Appx. 939 (Fed. Cir. 2010); 
SSA v. Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 190, 210-11 (2010). Respondent does 
not challenge the Board’s jurisdiction. Answer at 4.

2 The “Tab” references herein refer to the location of the docu­
ment in the case file, and reflect the order in which filings were 
docketed with the MSPB.
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October 6, 2015, delegated adjudication of this matter 
to the undersigned Administrative Law Judge (Tab 2).

Pursuant to the Acknowledgement Order, Res­
pondent was required to file his response to the Com­
plaint, if any, by November 6, 2015. On November 5, 
2015, Respondent filed a Motion for Partial Dismissal of 
the Complaint (“Motion to Dismiss”), asserting that 
the Agency failed to provide Respondent with suffi­
cient notice of the charges pending against him in 
Charge 1 of the Complaint (Tab 12). The Agency filed 
an opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss on 
November 16, 2015 (Tab 14). Respondent filed his 
Answer to the Complaint on November 5, 2015, 
denying that he breached any duty he may have had 
regarding the exercise of his duties as an ALJ with 
SSA, denying that he engaged in conduct unbecoming, 
and incorporating by reference the arguments in his 
Motion to Dismiss (Tab 13). Respondent’s Answer 
also raised a defense of whistleblower retaliation. 
Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss was denied by Order 
issued on November 23, 2015 (Tab 16).

A Scheduling Order was issued on November 23,
2015, which set deadlines for completing discovery 
and exchanging witness and exhibit lists, and set a 
hearing date of March 2, 2016 (Tab 17). Upon motion 
filed by the Parties requesting additional time to 
resolve discovery requests and to accommodate the 
schedules of witnesses, an Order revising the 
Scheduling Order was issued on February 26, 2016 
(Tab 44). The hearing began on June 21, 2016. To 
accommodate the Parties’ request for additional time 
and counsel’s and the witnesses’ schedules, the hearing 
resumed on July 19, 2016 and concluded on July 21,
2016.
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At the hearing, 14 witnesses testified, including 
Respondent. In addition, the record includes 50 docu­
mentary exhibits, to which neither party objected, 
which were admitted into evidence as Joint Exhibits; 
140 documentary exhibits offered by the Agency and 
admitted into evidence; and 41 documentary exhibits 
offered by Respondent and admitted into evidence. 3 
The Parties also submitted joint stipulations of certain 
facts (JX 65).

By Order issued on July 25, 2016, the Parties 
were directed to file post-hearing proposed findings 
of fact and conclusions of law, legal memoranda in 
support thereof (“Post-Hearing Briefs”), and replies 
to the opposing party’s Post-Hearing Briefs (“Reply 
Briefs”) (Tab 92). Pursuant to MSPB Practices and 
Procedures Rule 1201.58, 5 C.F.R. § 1201.58, the 
record in this matter remained open for the limited 
purpose of receiving the Parties’ Post-Hearing Briefs 
and Reply Briefs.

The Parties filed their Post-Hearing Briefs on 
September 22, 2016, and their Reply Briefs on 
November 21, 2016 and November 23, 2016 (Tabs 
111-112; 115-116).

B. Evidence
Pursuant to Rule 1201.111(b), and in order to 

provide an adequate basis for appellate review, each 
initial decision must contain findings of fact and con­
clusions of law on all material issues presented and 
the reasons or bases for those findings and conclu­
sions. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.111(b)(1), (2); Spithaler v. OPM,

3 By Order dated December 15, 2016, Respondent’s Motion to 
Strike Exhibits was denied (Tab 120).
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1 M.S.P.R. 587, 589 (1980) (holding that Rule 1201.111 
requires that an initial decision must, inter alia, 
resolve all material issues of fact and disclose the 
evidentiary basis for factual findings, and resolve all 
material legal issues in a fashion that reveals the 
presiding official’s conclusions of law, legal reasoning, 
and the authorities on which that reasoning rests). 
See also SSA v. Burris, 39 M.S.P.R. 51, 54 (1988) 
(stating, “only respondent’s material exceptions will 
be addressed . . . despite the fact that all of 
respondent’s exceptions have been considered ...”). In 
accordance with the foregoing authorities, this Initial 
Decision contains findings on all material issues of 
fact and identifies the evidentiary basis for those 
findings. Citations to specific numbered findings of 
fact in this Initial Decision are designated by “F.” In 
addition, this Initial Decision contains conclusions of 
law on all material legal issues, and identifies the 
legal reasoning and authorities supporting those con­
clusions.

The requirements for initial decisions set forth 
in Rule 1201.111(b) are virtually identical to those in 
Section 557(c) of the Administrative Procedure Act 
(“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 557(c). The Supreme Court has 
held that the APA does not require that an initial 
decision “make subordinate findings on every collateral 
contention advanced, but only upon those issues of 
fact, law, or discretion which are ‘material.’” 
Minneapolis & St. Louis Ry. Co. v. United States, 361 
U.S. 173, 193-94 (1959). See also Borek Motor Sales, 
Inc. v. NLRB, 425 F.2d 677, 681 (7th Cir. 1970) 
(holding that it is adequate for the Board to indicate 
that it had considered each of the company’s exceptions, 
even if only some of the exceptions were discussed,
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and stating that “[m]ore than that is not demanded 
by the [APA] and would place a severe burden upon 
the agency”).

Accordingly, findings of fact proposed by the 
Parties that are not included in this Initial Decision 
have been rejected, either because they were not suf­
ficiently supported by the evidence, or because they 
were not dispositive or material either to the deter­
mination of the charges or penalty at issue, or to Res­
pondent’s defenses. Similarly, legal contentions and 
arguments of the Parties that are not addressed in 
this Initial Decision have been rejected because they 
lacked support in fact or law, were not material, or 
were otherwise lacking in merit. All of the Parties’ 
proposed findings of fact, contentions, and arguments 
contained in the Parties’ Post-Hearing Briefs and 
Reply Briefs were reviewed and considered.4

C. Burden of Proof
To be sustained, the charges brought against 

Respondent must be supported by a preponderance 
of the evidence. 5 C.F.R. § 1201.56(a)(l)(ii); Carr v. 
SSA, 185 F.3d 1318, 1321 (Fed. Cir. 1999); Brennan 
v. Dep’t of Health & Human Services, 787 F.2d 1559, 
1561 (Fed. Cir. 1986); SSA v. Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 
190, 196 (2010). “A preponderance of the evidence is 
specifically defined in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.56(c)(2) as 
‘that degree of relevant evidence which a reasonable 
mind, considering the record as a whole, might

4 References to the Agency’s Post-Hearing Brief and Reply Brief 
will be cited as “Agency Brief’ and “Agency Reply Brief,” 
respectively. Similarly, references to the Post-Hearing Brief and 
Reply Brief of Respondent will be cited as “Respondent’s Brief’ 
and “Respondent’s Reply Brief.”
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accept as sufficient to support a conclusion that the 
matter asserted is more likely to be true than not 
true.”’ Brennan, 787 F.2d at 1561. Moreover, “[t]he 
burden of proving the charge by a preponderance of 
the evidence is and remains throughout the proceeding 
upon the agency. However, ‘once an agency has made 
a prima facie showing, the burden of going forward 
with evidence to rebut that showing necessarily 
shifts to the employee. . . . Absent effective rebuttal, 
the agency must be held to have carried its burden of 
persuasion.”’ Id. at 1563 (quoting Schapansky v. Dep’t 
of Transp., 735 F.2d 477, 482-83 (Fed. Cir. 1984)). 
Respondent bears the burden of proving any affirm­
ative defenses by a preponderance of the evidence. 5 
C.F.R. § 1201.56(a)(2)(iii).

D. Summary of Initial Decision
As explained herein, the Agency has proven that 

Respondent neglected his duties (Charge 1) and that 
Respondent engaged in conduct unbecoming an ALJ 
(Charge 2). Respondent’s whistleblower defense is 
without merit. Accordingly, there is good cause to 
discipline Respondent. Based on the factors set forth 
in Douglas v. Veterans Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 
280 (1981), the appropriate penalty for Respondent’s 
misconduct is a suspension without pay for 180 
calendar days. The Agency has failed to demonstrate 
that 5 U.S.C. § 7521 allows a retroactive application 
of a penalty.
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II. Facts

A. Background
1. Respondent Leonard Cooperman (“Respond­

ent”) is an Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) with 
the Social Security Administration (“SSA” or “the 
Agency”), who was appointed to his position by SSA 
as an ALJ on June 12, 2005. (Cooperman, Tr. 6:201; 
JX 65 (Joint Stipulation No. 3)).

2. After he was hired in 2005, the Agency provided 
four weeks of training to Respondent related to the 
performance of his duties. (Cooperman, Tr. 7:95-96; 
MacLean, Tr. 4:147; Masengill, Tr. 1:163).

3. Since 2005, the Agency has provided training 
for Respondent related to the performance of his 
duties at least every three years. (Cooperman, Tr. 7:96).

4. The Office of Disability Adjudication and Review 
(“ODAR”) is the component of SSA that manages the 
hearing operations and appeals for claims under 
Titles II and XVI of the Social Security Act. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:208; Masengill, Tr. 1:158-159; JX 16).

5. ODAR is divided into ten regions. Region 1 
includes the Boston Region. (Bice, Tr. 4:244-245; JX 
65 (Joint Stipulation No. 2)).

6. There are eight hearing offices in the Boston 
Region, including the Springfield, Massachusetts 
Hearing Office. (JX 65 (Joint Stipulation No. 2)).

7. Since his ALJ appointment, Respondent has 
been assigned to work in the Springfield ODAR 
hearing office, located in Springfield, Massachusetts. 
(JX 65 (Joint Stipulation No. 3)).
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8. Debra Bice has been the Chief Administrative 
Law Judge (“CALJ”) of SSA since January 2011. 
(Bice, Tr. 4:188, 231; JX 65 (Joint Stipulation No. 1)).

9. CALJ Bice and her deputy direct a nationwide 
field organization, including three Associate Chief 
Administrative Law Judges (“ACALJs”) and ten 
Regional Chief Administrative Law Judges (“RCALJs”) 
who assist in the management of each Region. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:243-244).

10. CALJ Bice has the delegated authority to 
request that the Merit Systems Protection Board 
(“MSPB” or “Board”) find good cause to suspend and 
remove Respondent. (Bice, Tr. 4:294).

11. Paul Lillios served as an ACALJ in and 
around 2012 and 2013. (Bice, Tr. 4:306-307; 5:334- 
336; 6:18, 39-40; Sax, Tr. 3:48).

12. Mark Sochaczewsky is an Associate Chief 
Administrative Law Judge within the Office of the 
Chief Administrative Law Judge (“OCALJ”). He has 
served as an ACALJ since November/December 2014. 
(Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:32-34; Bice, Tr. 4:248).

13. ACALJ Sochaczewsky started with SSA in 
1994 as an AU hearing and adjudicating cases with 
the New York office. Thereafter, he was the Hearing 
Office Chief Administrative Law Judge (“HOCAU”) 
for the Bronx hearing office, and then the RCALJ for 
the New York Region. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:24, 34).

14. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s duties include review­
ing Agency policies and proposed changes to policies. 
In addition, he periodically reviews rulings made by
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the Appeals Council,5 at the request of ALJs whose 
cases have been remanded. ACALJ Sochaczewsky 
is also the liason for OCALJ to each Region’s inline 
quality review process, which consists of attorneys 
within each region reviewing ALJ decisions for 
policy compliance prior to issuance. (Sochaczewsky, 
Tr. 5:34-47).

15. Carol Sax served as the RCALJ for Region 1 
from February 2008 through July 2015. (Sax, Tr. 
2:211).

16. Each hearing office is supervised by a Hearing 
Office Chief Administrative Law Judge. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:232; Sax, Tr. 2:212-213; JX 14).

17. Since March 2005, Addison Masengill has 
served as the HOCALJ of the Springfield, Mass­
achusetts Hearing Office. (Masengill, Tr. 1:155, 158).

18. Since June 2005, HOCALJ Masengill has 
served as Respondent’s first line supervisor. 
(Masengill, Tr. 1:158; JX 65 (Joint Stipulation No. 4)).

19. Claims under Title II of the Social Security 
Act are principally claims for retirement benefits, based 
upon the claimant’s work under the Social Security 
system. Claims under Title XVI of the Social Security 
Act are commonly referred to as supplemental security 
income and encompass payments for the blind, aged, 
and disabled under Title XVI of the Social Security 
Act that are not based upon earnings under the 
Social Security system. (Bice, Tr. 4:207-210).

5 The Appeals Council is a component of ODAR which reviews 
appeals of ALJ decisions. F. 22. See also F. 21, 23-24.
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20. SSA ALJs hear cases where the claimant 
appeals a decision from a local office finding that the 
claimant was not disabled. The claimant then has a 
right to a formal oral hearing with an SSA ALJ. The 
ALJ assigned to a case reviews the case in electronic 
form and then has a formal hearing in which sworn 
testimony is taken. The hearing is recorded and 
there may be a medical expert or a vocational expert, 
depending on the case. The claimant attends the 
hearing, and if represented, the representative attends 
as well. The ALJ receives the testimony and reviews 
the evidence on the signs, symptoms, and laboratory 
findings that are associated with doctors’ reports or 
other types of reports. The ALJ then makes a decision 
under the five-step sequential process defined in 20 
C.F.R. § 404.1520 and 20 C.F.R. § 416.920 (see F. 36). 
(Masengill, Tr. 1:166-168, 170).

21. If an ALJ denies an individual’s claim for 
disability, the claimant can appeal the unfavorable 
decision to the Appeals Council within ODAR, or 
submit another application for disability. (Masengill, 
Tr. 1:158, 198).

22. ODAR includes the Appeals Council, which 
reviews cases appealed from ALJs. (Masengill, 
Tr. 1:158-159).

23. In addition to hearing appeals of denied 
claims, the Appeals Council also reviews a subset of 
fully favorable decisions, which are not appealed, on 
what the Agency refers to as “own motion review.” 
(Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:91-92, 201).

24. The Appeals Council is made up of Adminis­
trative Appeals Judges (“AAJs”) who have very 
similar qualifications to ALJs and receive similar
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training, although AAJs’ training is slightly longer. 
(Bice, Tr. 4:285-286).

B. Duties of ALJs

1. Generally
25. SSA AU’s duties are outlined in the position 

description. (JX 14; Complaint Exhibit 1; Bice, 
Tr. 4:211-213; Sax, Tr. 3:8; Masengill, Tr. 1:156)6

26. The primary duties of an SSA ALJ are to 
hold hearings and to decide cases under the programs 
administered by SSA, including Titles II and XVI of 
the Social Security Act. (JX 16; Bice, Tr. 4:207-208; 
Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:24; Masengill, Tr. 1:156).

27. In hearing and deciding cases under the 
programs administered by SSA, including Titles II 
and XVI of the Social Security Act, an SSA ALJ’s 
principal responsibilities are to hold a full and fair 
hearing and issue a legally sufficient and defensible 
decision. (JX 14; Complaint Exhibit 1; JX 16 (HALLEX7 
I-2-0-5 B)).

28. A legally sufficient decision is one that pro­
vides factual findings, a rationale that complies with 
the Social Security Act, Agency regulations, rulings, 
and policies, and an explanation of why a prepon-

6 JX 14 is a copy of the position description for an Administra­
tive Law Judge, dated 1994. That version of the ALJ position 
description was in effect until December 2013. The current 
position description for an Administrative Law Judge, revised 
by OPM on November 26, 2013, is attached to the Complaint as 
Exhibit 1. (Bice, Tr. 4:213-214; Complaint Exhibit 1 at p. 19).

7 HALLEX is the Hearing Appeals and Litigation Law Manual. 
F. 33.
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derance of the evidence supports the decision. 
(Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:78 (“So unless you explain and 
expound and support the basis for your decision, you’re 
not complying with the requirement to have a full and 
fair hearing and a legally sufficient decision”); 
JX 3; JX 16 (HALLEX 1-2-8-25)).

29. SSA ALJs have a duty to issue decisions that 
are “legally sufficient” and “policy compliant,” which 
means in compliance with the Social Security Act, 
regulations, rulings and Agency policies. (Bice, Tr. 
4:278-279; 5:344; Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:55-56; Sax, Tr. 
2:216-217).

30. SSA ALJs have a duty to comply with Agency 
regulations found in the Code of Federal Regulations. 
(Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:29, 137; Masengill, Tr. 1:173, 200- 
201; Cooperman, Tr. 6:231-232; PX 16 (Response to 
Request for Admission, No. 4)).

31. SSA AUs have a duty to comply with Social 
Security Rulings. (Bice, Tr. 4:222-223; Sochaczewsky, 
Tr. 5:29, 31, 137; Masengill, Tr. 1:173, 201; Cooperman, 
Tr. Vol. 6:231-232).

32. SSA AUs have a duty to comply with Acqui­
escence Rulings. (Bice, Tr. 4:225-227).8

33. HALLEX is the Hearing Appeals and Litiga­
tion Law Manual. It is designed to amplify and provide 
more specificity regarding regulations and rulings,

8 As an example of an Acquiescence Ruling, SSA might “acquiesce” 
to a ruling from a circuit court of appeals interpreting the 
Social Security Act as applying to the states in that circuit; but 
if the SSA Commissioner did not want to follow that interpretation 
in states outside that circuit, SSA would not be required to do 
so. (Masengill, Tr. 1:202).
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and constitutes written Agency policy. HALLEX is 
binding on Administrative Law Judges. (Masengill, 
Tr. 1:190-192, 201; Bice, Tr. 4:220-222; Sax, Tr. 2:289- 
290).

34. In the absence of HALLEX or other regulatory 
or sub-regulatory guidance, the Program Operations 
Manual System (‘TOMS”) can be utilized for guidance, 
but POMS is not a prime source of ODAR policy. The 
POMS sets forth internal policies for proceedings at 
the district office level, not for hearing operations, 
and its provisions are not binding on the hearing 
office level. HALLEX is Agency policy for ODAR. 
(Sax, Tr. 2:292; Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:139-141, 147).

35. SSA ALJs have a duty to comply with 
HALLEX. (Bice, Tr. 4:220-222; Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:32; 
Masengill, Tr. 1:201; 2:120; JX 4).

2. Closed period of disability decisions
36. The Agency has specific procedures for ALJs 

to follow in adjudicating cases. For disability cases, 
Social Security regulations require a five-step 
sequential evaluation process to evaluate whether a 
claimant is disabled under the Social Security Act. 
Step one of the process is a determination as to 
whether the claimant is working or not. At step two, 
the ALJ evaluates whether the claimant has a 
significant or severe condition. If the claimant has a 
significant or severe condition, at step three, there is 
a determination as to whether the condition is the 
same as a condition published in the regulations. If 
the condition is not one of the published conditions, 
at step four, the ALJ determines what the claimant 
can possibly do and whether the claimant could do 
his or her past work. If the conclusion is no, at step
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five, the AU determines whether the claimant can 
do any other work. If the answer is no, the claimant 
is considered disabled. (Bice, Tr. 4:248-252; Masengill, 
Tr. 1:168; 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520; 20 C.F.R. § 416.920).

37. A closed period of disability decision (at 
times referred to by the Parties, the witnesses, and 
SSA documents as a “CPOD”) is a decision finding 
a claimant was disabled and also finding that the 
claimant later experienced medical improvement in 
his or her medical condition such that the claimant 
was able to engage in some form of substantial 
gainful activity, and thus, was no longer disabled. As 
such, a closed period of disability decision finds that 
a claimant was disabled for a specific period of time 
and eligible for benefits, but that as of the end of that 
point in time, the claimant is no longer disabled and 
no longer eligible for disability benefits. (Masengill, 
Tr. 1:218; Sax, Tr. 2:220-225).

38. A finding of a closed period of disability 
requires the AU to undertake two separate analyses. 
The first step involves the five-step sequential evalua­
tion process, referred to in F. 36, which is utilized to 
determine if a claimant is disabled. Once the ALJ 
has determined the claimant is disabled, for a closed 
period decision, the AU must then determine that 
the claimant has experienced medical improvement 
and is no longer disabled. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:87-90).

39. Part of the analysis of whether a claimant is 
no longer disabled involves the AU evaluating a 
claimant’s residual functional capacity (“RFC”) on a 
function-by-function basis and determining the 
claimant is no longer disabled. This is referred to in 
the record at times as the “second RFC.” (Sax,
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Tr. 2:220-225; Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:87-89, 97-98, 151- 
152; PX 61 at SSA0000614).

40. The assessment of a claimant’s residual func­
tional capacity requires the adjudicator to find the 
most that the claimant can do functionally with the 
claimant’s exertional/non-exertional limitations, as well 
as environmental limitations and mental limitations. 
The adjudicator must then tie the finding as to 
residual function capacity of the claimant to the 
record, by providing support from the record for that 
residual functional capacity. (Brens, Tr. 4:83).

41. As an SSA ALJ, Respondent is required to 
comply with Agency regulations and policy when 
issuing a decision awarding a closed period of disability. 
(PX 16 (Response to Request for Admission, No. 27)).

42. The Division of Quality Services (“DQS”), at 
the direction of CALJ Bice, performs analyses of ALJ 
decisions to determine whether they are legally suffi­
cient and policy compliant. (Sax, Tr. 2:269-270).

43. DQS, in its report of a focused review of 
Respondent’s decisions issued from December 5, 2011 
through June 30, 2013 (see F. 107), stated:

Section 223(f) of the Social Security Act, 42 USC 
423(f), requires that cessation [of disability ben­
efits] be supported by substantial evidence of 
medical improvement and the ability to work. 
The regulations require an ALJ to follow the 
medical improvement review standard (MIRS), a 
two-part evaluation of evidence of medical 
improvement, as it relates to the ability to work, 
which is demonstrated by a decrease in severity 
(changes in symptoms, signs, or laboratory find­
ings) and which requires a comparison of the
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claimant’s RFC prior to and following the date of 
cessation. (20 CFR 404.1594 and 416 .994).

(JX 19 at SSA0006406; see 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594; 20 
C.F.R. § 416.994; Bice, Tr. 4:248-249).

44. When issuing a decision for a closed period 
of disability, an SSA ALJ must find medical improve­
ment relating to the claimant’s ability to perform 
work at substantial gainful activity (“SGA”) levels, as 
defined by Agency regulations, rulings, and policies. 
(Bice, Tr. 6:77; JX 19 at SSA00006406; Sochaczewsky, 
Tr. 5:86-89).

45. Medical improvement is something that every 
ALJ has to consider in any case involving a closed 
period of disability. There is initial training, OCEP 
training (ODAR Continuing Education Program), and 
quarterly training on this issue, and the Agency 
has provided more than one training specifically 
focused on how to evaluate medical improvement. 
(Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:90-91).

46. The Agency interprets the medical improve­
ment regulations in 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1594 and 416.994 
to require that a finding of medical improvement be 
based upon more than a claimant’s acknowledgment 
that his or her condition has medically improved, and to 
require supporting medical evidence. (Sochaczewsky 
Tr. 5:95-96; Bice, Tr. 7:287-288; Masengill, Tr. 1:219- 
222, 243 (stating that 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1594 and 
416.994 require that a finding of medical improvement 
be based upon signs, symptoms, laboratory findings, 
and similar medical evidence, and that medical evi­
dence is required to back up a claimant’s assertion 
that his or her medical condition has improved)).

j
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47. The Agency interprets SSA regulations in 
20 CFR chapters 404 and 416 to require a closed 
period of disability decision to be based upon objective 
medical evidence of medical improvement, including 
evidence that the claimant’s residual functional capacity 
has improved to the point where the claimant can 
return to work. (Sax, Tr. 2:220-222, 227-228).

48. Under HALLEX, all ALJ decisions must 
“provide the rationale for the ALJ’s findings of fact 
and conclusions of law, by including” as applicable, 
“[a]n explanation of the finding(s) on each issue that 
leads to the ultimate conclusion, including citing and 
discussing supporting evidence” and “[a] discussion 
of the weight assigned to various pieces of evi­
dence. ...” (JX 16 (HALLEX 1-2-8-25)).

49. A closed period of disability decision must 
describe the medical improvement that occurred. 
Where medical improvement occurs, the ALJ must 
further determine the claimant’s new residual function 
capacity in the medically improved state, which is a 
key determination in a claimant’s ability to work and 
a “core, critical responsibility” of Agency policy and of 
adjudication. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:84-89).

50. A finding of medical improvement related to 
the ability to do work that recites only the claimant’s 
acknowledgement of medical improvement fails to 
describe the medical improvement or explain what 
has occurred. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:93-94).

51. Under the rubric required by 20 C.F.R. 
§ 404.1594, a claimant’s statement that his or her 
condition has improved is “never” sufficient to support 
a closed period of disability, without supporting 
evidence and analysis of the purported medical im-
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provement. The regulations contemplate a description 
and explanation of medical improvement, supported 
by the record evidence, and a function-by-function 
analysis. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:95-98, 112-115; Bice, 
Tr. 7:287-288).

3. Complete record of hearing
52. SSA AUs have a duty to hold full and fair 

hearings on the record. (Bice, Tr. 4:269; JX 2).
53. SSA ALJs “must obtain a clear and concise 

record, containing all relevant facts, while excluding 
all immaterial matters.” (JX 14 at SSA000005 (ALJ 
position description)). See also Complaint Exhibit 1 
at 20 (An SSA AU “must timely develop a clear and 
concise record, containing all relevant facts, while 
excluding all immaterial matters.”).

54. SSA AUs must make a complete record of 
the hearing proceedings. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:218; 
Bice, Tr. 4:277; Cooperman, Tr. 7:106-107; JX 2; JX 
16 (HALLEX 1-2-6-40): “The administrative law judge 
(ALJ) must make a complete record of the hearing 
proceedings. Therefore, the AU or designee will make 
a verbatim audio recording of the entire hearing.”).

55. SSA ALJs must summarize, on the record, 
the content and conclusion of any off-the-record dis­
cussions. (Bice, Tr. 4:241-243; JX 2; Cooperman, Tr. 
7:109; PX 16 (Response to Request for Admission, 
No. 40) (admitting that as an SSA AU, Respondent 
is required to summarize on the record the content 
and conclusion of any off-the-record discussions); 
Masengill, Tr. 1:192; Sax, Tr. 2:239-240; JX 16 
(HALLEX 1-2-6-40)).
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56. A complete hearing record helps to guarantee 
due process rights to the claimants, so that a reviewer 
can ascertain what happened off the record. (JX 2; 
Sax, Tr. 2:239).

57. HOCALJ Masengill’s practice for memorial­
izing an off-the-record conversation, should one occur, is 
to specify on the record what the discussion entailed, 
and then ask the claimant or claimant’s representative 
whether his description of the conversation is consistent 
with his or her understanding. HOCALJ Masengill 
believes his practice is consistent with HALLEX. 
(Masengill, Tr. 1:193).

58. DQS, in its report of a focused review of 
Respondent’s decisions issued from December 5, 2011 
through June 30, 2013 (see F. 107), stated:

The regulations at 20 CFR 405.330, as well as 
HALLEX 1-2-1-75, require that a record of pre- 
hearing conferences be made and that the ALJ 
issue an order stating all agreements and actions 
resulting from the conference. Additionally, 
HALLEX 1-2-6-40 requires that the “content and 
conclusion” of any off-the-record discussion 
conducted with the claimant or representative 
be summarized on the record. Notably, this 
provision states that the AU may decide to 
discuss and resolve questions that arise during 
the course of the hearing that are “not relevant 
to the issues in the claimant’s case.”

(JX 19 at SSA0006395).

4. Personally Identifiable Information
59. Personally Identifiable Information (“PII”) is 

defined in the Annual Reminder on Safeguarding
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Personally Identifiable Information for SSA Employees 
as: “information which can be used to distinguish or 
trace an individual’s identity, such as his/her name, 
social security number, biometric records etc., alone, 
or when combined with other personal or identifying 
information which is linked or linkable to a specific 
individual such as date and place of birth, mother’s 
maiden name, etc.” (PX 5 at SSA0000042).

60. PII is defined in the Administrative Instruc­
tions Manual System as: “any information about an 
individual maintained by an agency, including (1) any 
information that can be used to distinguish or trace 
an individual’s identity, such as name, social security 
number, date and place of birth, mother’s maiden 
name, or biometric records; and (2) any other infor­
mation that is linked or linkable to an individual, such 
as medical, educational, financial, and employment 
information.” (PX 5 at SSA0000594).

61. SSA employees handle PH on a regular basis. 
SSA ALJs handle PII relating to claimants and 
beneficiaries. (Bryant, Tr. 3:115-116; Masengill, 
Tr. 1:204).

62. Agency policies related to PII are set forth 
in the Administrative Instructions Manual System, 
the Information Systems Security Handbook/Informa­
tion Security Policy, and the Annual Reminder for 
Safeguarding Personally Identifiable Information for 
SSA Employees. (Bryant, Tr. 3:98).

63. Agency policy prohibits employees from 
sending or forwarding an email containing PII to a 
non-secure email communication channel. (Bryant, 
Tr. 3:113-114; PX 4 at SSA0000398 (“Do not send or 
forward PII (or other information that requires confi-
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dentiality or protection from disclosure) using a non- 
SSA (or non-secure) email account to anyone.”)).

64. Agency employees may send or forward an 
email containing PII using a secure email communi­
cation channel. (Bryant, Tr. 3:113-114; PX 4 at SSA- 
0000396 (“Only send email containing PII or other 
sensitive information to email addresses that are 
secure ... ”)).

65. Agency employees may send or forward an 
email containing PII to an unsecure email account 
only after taking steps to encrypt the email. (Bryant, 
Tr. 3:113-114, 280-281, 303-304; Sax, Tr. 2:244, 314- 
316; Bice, Tr. 6:53-54; PX 4 at SSA0000398).

66. Emails sent from Agency email accounts to 
outside, unsecure email accounts are not automatically 
encrypted. (Bryant, Tr. 3:279).

67. When replying to an email that contains 
PII, Agency employees are required to either remove 
the PII from the email, or ensure that their reply is 
encrypted. (Bryant, Tr. 3:281; PX 4 at SSA0000399 
(“Do not include sensitive or protected information in 
an email reply unless the recipient has secure email 
or the information is protected by an encrypted 
attachment.”)).

68. Agency policy prohibits employees from 
forwarding emails containing PII from their work 
email account to their personal email account. (Bryant, 
Tr. 3:281; PX 4 at SSA0000398 (“Do not copy (i.e., cc 
or bcc) work related email to your personal non-SSA 
email account.”).

69. Agency policy prohibits employees from 
sending PII obtained in the course of their employment
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from their personal email account. (Bryant, Tr. 3:280- 
281; PX 4 at SSA0000398 (“Do not send or forward 
PII (or other information that requires confidentiality 
or protection from disclosure) using a non-SSA (or 
non-secure) email account to anyone.”)).

5. Fairness and impartiality
70. The ALJ position description identifies impar­

tiality as one of the inherent demands of the ALJ 
position. (JX 14 at SSA0000004; Complaint Exhibit 
1 at p. 19).9

71. SSA AUs have a duty to act in a fair and 
impartial manner. (Bice, Tr. 6:74; 5:290; MacLean, 
Tr. 4:185-186; Cooperman, Tr. 7:93-94; JX 15 at 
SSA0000096).

72. SSA ALJs have a duty to provide fair and 
impartial hearings for claimants. (Cooperman, Tr. 7:93- 
94; PX 16 (Response to Request for Admission, No. 
24); see also Bice, Tr. 5:300).

73. SSA ALJs have a duty to maintain the 
appearance of impartiality. (Bice, Tr. 6:74; 5:290; 
Cooperman, Tr. 7:93-94; MacLean, Tr. 4:185-186; PX 
16 (Response to Request for Admission, No. 26)).

74. SSA ALJs shall endeavor to avoid any actions 
creating the appearance that they are violating the 
law or the ethical standards applicable to members 
of the executive branch of the federal government. 
(Bice, Tr. 6:150; Cooperman, Tr. 7:93-94; JX 15 at 
SSA0000103; 5 C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(8), (14)).

9 See n. 6.



App.74a

75. The Standards of Ethical Conduct for 
Employees of the Executive Branch require, among 
other things, that executive branch employees, 
including AUs, act impartially and avoid any actions 
creating the appearance that they are not acting 
impartially. (5 C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(8), (14)).

76. The SSA Annual Personnel Reminders, dated 
October 2013, reminded all Agency employees of the 
duty to take appropriate steps to avoid an appearance 
of a loss of impartiality while performing official 
duties. (JX 15 at SSA0000096). See also Bice, Tr. 7:19, 
298 (SSA issues annual personnel reminders to remind 
ALJs of the duty of impartiality).

C. Chronology
77. In 2010, the Springfield Hearing Office, which 

is part of Region 1 (F. 5-6), was hearing and deciding 
cases from Mansfield, Ohio, which is part of the 
Central Ohio Region (Region 5), in order to assist 
Region 5 with an overwhelming caseload. Respondent 
decided some of those cases. (Sax, Tr. 2:218).

78. In the later part of 2010, Region 5 notified 
Region 1 of complaints it had received regarding Res­
pondent’s handling of closed period of disability deci­
sions. The complaints involved assertions that claim­
ants had been pressured into accepting a closed 
period of disability, rather than having a full hearing. 
After issuance of the closed period of disability decision, 
claimants were almost immediately reapplying for 
benefits, which increased the workload for Region 5. 
Region 5 referred 11 cases handled by Respondent to 
Region 1 for investigation. (Masengill, Tr. 1:210-214, 
216-217; Sax, Tr. 2:218-220, 249).
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79. A “complaint,” as that term is used by the 
Agency, typically constitutes a letter written as part 
of an appeal of a decision, and may originate from a 
claimant or claimant’s representative. (Masengill, 
Tr. 1:209, 259).

80. In response to complaints about the Ohio 
cases handled by Respondent that were referred to 
Region 1 (F. 77), an additional 35 of Respondent’s cases 
were examined, and it was determined that there 
were “questionable” closed period of disability decisions. 
Although RCALJ Sax and HOCALJ Masengill wanted 
to conduct a Weingarten interview of Respondent,10 
CAU Bice decided to provide Respondent with 
retraining instead. (Sax, Tr. 2:249-251; Bice, Tr. 5:326- 
327; Masengill, Tr. 1:229-230).

81. On September 7, 2010, Respondent sent an 
email to ACALJ Frank Cristaudo, RCAU Sax, and 
HOCALJ Masengill, regarding an Appeals Council 
remand Respondent had received. The Appeals Council 
remanded Respondent’s decision in part because of 
deficiencies in the stated evidentiary bases for the 
closed period of benefits. (PX 158).

82. In the September 7, 2010 email referenced 
in F.81, Respondent wrote: “As you can see, the 
claimant represented by competent counsel agreed 
that a closed period would be an appropriate way of 
resolving her case, and I entered a decision awarding 
her a closed period in this title 2-16 case on October 
21, 2009. As the matter was resolved in this manner,

10A Weingarten interview is an investigative interview conducted 
by management with an employee, in which the employee is 
entitled to representation and which may result in disciplinary 
action being taken against the employee. F. 102.
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I saw no need in my decision to go through the 
extensive analytic process I would ordinarily go 
through, say, in an unfavorable decision.” Respondent 
characterized the Appeals Council’s decision as finding 
“fault with the fact that I did not write my decision to 
their satisfaction,” although Respondent also acknow­
ledged that the evidentiary basis recited in the closed 
period decision remanded by the Appeals Council 
was “brief.” (PX 158).

83. In his September 7, 2010 email referenced 
in F. 81, Respondent specifically asked for guidance 
as to the level of detail he was required to provide in 
order to support a closed period of disability decision 
when the claimant agrees to resolve the case in that 
manner, stating: “In a case that is resolved pursuant 
to an agreed-to closed period, am I obligated to write 
a decision that exhaustively canvasses all of the 
medical evidence, and provides painstaking rationale 
as the AC demands?” Respondent stated he would do 
so if required, but that this would “surely” “negatively 
affect [his] productivity.” (PX 158).

84. In response to Respondent’s email request 
for guidance (F. 83), HOCALJ Masengill replied: “My 
best advice has always been to adequately rationalize 
the favorable aspect of any decision, but to pay extra 
special attention to fully rationalize the cessation of 
any benefits, even in an ‘agreed to’ Closed Period sit­
uation.” Explaining the bases for his advice, HOCALJ 
Masengill described two potential scenarios. In the 
first scenario, “claimant with counsel is offered a 
CPD; claimant accepts CPD; ALJ issues a ‘favorable’ 
CPD decision; the day after the hearing the claimant 
changes his mind and/or alleges that counsel or [the] 
ALJ did not fully explain .. . [; and] appeal is taken
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regarding only the cessation of benefit.” Without an 
adequate rationale in the decision, the Appeals Council 
“has no ammunition/basis to deny appeal” and the 
U.S. Attorney cannot or will not “defend [a] case in 
[federal [c]ourt that is not adequately rationalized 
(even in an ‘agreed to’ situation)” and ultimately the 
case “is returned to ODAR.” The second scenario 
outlined by HOCALJ Masengill described an offer to 
a claimant of a closed period decision, “with the 
possible implication that otherwise there may be an 
unfavorable result.” The claimant accepts the offer 
and a decision is entered, but the “claimant walks 
into the District Office the next day and reapplies for 
benefits....” HOCALJ Masengill closed by reiterating: 
“Again, my best advice is to fully rationalize any 
cessation, no matter what the claimant agrees to do. 
Within reason, assume you are an [Assistant U.S. 
Attorney] defending the cessation before a [federal 
tj]udge.” (PX 158).

85. On or about January 21, 2011, a U.S. District 
Court Magistrate Judge issued an order remanding a 
case adjudicated by Respondent, noting that “contrary 
to the directives of the regulations and the HALLEX 
manual, the record does not reflect what was discussed 
off the record prior to the hearing regarding a ‘proposal’ 
Plaintiff apparently felt pressured to ‘accept’ in lieu 
of a ‘full hearing.’” The court’s order required the 
Agency to provide Respondent a copy of the opinion, 
and when HOCALJ Masengill did so, Respondent 
indicated that he thought the opinion was incorrect. 
(PX 64 (.Betancourt v. Astrue, 824 F. Supp. 2d 211, 
216-17 (D. Mass. 2011)); Masengill, Tr. 1:232-233).

86. In June 2011, Respondent received two hours 
of retraining from ALJ Edward Brady, via video tele-
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conference. ALJ Brady at the time was the ALJ in 
charge of national mentoring. The training addressed 
the necessary rationale to be included in closed period 
of disability decisions and the need to memorialize 
off-the-record discussions with claimants’ representa­
tives on the record, among other issues. (JX 1; Coop- 
erman, Tr. 7:130; Masengill, Tr. 1:230).

87. ALJ Brady advised Respondent, as part of 
the training referred to in F. 86, that “the CFR dictates 
that where a closed period of disability is granted, 
even by consent, the decision needs to discuss the 
basis for that determination.” Citing specific sections 
of the Code of Federal Regulations, ALJ Brady ex­
plained: “That is, the decision should include a dis­
cussion of medical improvement showing how the signs, 
symptoms, and objective testing show improvement 
under the medical improvement standard at the time 
the period closes. . . . [A]ny RFC, regardless of the 
agreement as to medical improvement must be married 
to corresponding medical evidence.” ALJ Brady also 
discouraged Respondent from using off-the-record con­
versations for substantive matters, but advised that 
where there is any discussion off the record, it 
should be memorialized on the record, “while allowing 
the representative] to supplement or dispute the 
summary of that conversation.” (JX 1).

88. On August 3, 2011, while at the Agency’s 
annual ALJ training meeting, ACALJ Cristaudo and 
HOCALJ Barry Best (a HOCALJ in Region 1 attending 
the annual training meeting) had a meeting with 
Respondent, addressing the Agency’s requirement for 
finding medical improvement in closed period of 
disability decisions and requirement for memorializing 
on the record any off-the-record discussions. ACALJ
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Cristaudo had been asked by CALJ Bice to speak 
with Respondent regarding complaints against him 
raising these topics. (PX 61; Cristaudo, Tr. 2:128- 
129; Sax, Tr. 2:258-259; Cooperman, Tr. 7:130).

89. At the meeting referred to in F. 88, ACALJ 
Cristaudo advised Respondent, among other things, 
that finding a closed period of disability requires a 
second RFC determination, and that the claimant’s 
concession that he or she can work does not suffice. 
HOCALJ Best’s notes of the meeting state that Res­
pondent stated he does “closed period decisions to 
achieve justice.... If [the claimants] are lucid and 
say they want a closed period? I don’t see a need to 
corroborate that. A second RFC? I cite the claimants’ 
concession that they can work.” In response, according 
to the notes, ACALJ Cristaudo reiterated: “There 
needs to be a second RFC.” The notes report that 
Respondent further stated: “I’ve done everything 
right. I’m a model judge. Closed periods are good: 
They have a beneficial effect. In some cases they may 
involve giving some money to somebody who’s not 
entitled, but it can be a good thing. . . . Why am I not 
getting plaudits? If you want to play hardball, I’ll get 
an attorney.” (PX 61 at SSA0000613-614; Cristaudo, 
Tr. 2:132-133).

90. In or around September 2011, the Agency 
received complaints regarding Respondent’s closed 
period decisions that were issued after the training 
referred to in F. 86-89, which were reviewed by RCAU 
Sax. In general, the claimants were dissatisfied with 
receiving a closed period of disability, notwithstand­
ing having agreed to the closed period, and were 
refiling for benefits, claiming they were disabled. 
(Sax, Tr. 2:260-262).
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91. On September 1, 2011, CALJ Bice sent a 
memorandum to all ALJs, reminding them that they 
“must make a complete record of the hearing 
proceedings” pursuant to 20 CFR 404.951 and 
416.1451, and that “HALLEX 1-2-6-40 provides: The 
Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) must make a complete 
record of the hearing proceedings. Therefore, the AU 
or designee will make a verbatim recording of the 
entire hearing. This is the official record of the 
hearing.” CALJ Bice further explained:

A complete record includes any conversation 
relevant to the case between the ALJ, parties to 
the hearing, and/or witnesses. If the conversation 
is not recorded, the ALJ must summarize on the 
record the content and conclusion of any off-the- 
record discussion. If an ALJ is going to go off the 
record, he or she should explain why he or she is 
going off the record.

(JX 2).
92. RCALJ Sax, in consultation with OCALJ, 

decided to issue a directive to Respondent regarding 
policy compliance. This directive was issued by 
HOCALJ Massengill on December 5, 2011. (Sax, 
Tr. 2:262-263).

93. A directive advises the ALJ of a problem with 
compliance, directs the ALJ to comply, and advises 
the ALJ that failure to follow the directive may lead 
to discipline. (Sax, Tr. 2:263-264; Masengill, Tr. 1:236).

94. A directive is “a pretty firm step” to take 
because it is directing an ALJ to follow particular 
provisions of the law. (Bice, Tr. 5:288).
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95. On December 5, 2011, HOCALJ Masengill 
delivered a directive to Respondent directing him to 
comply with the requirements for issuing closed 
period of disability decisions and memorializing off- 
the-record discussions (“December 5, 2011 Directive”). 
(JX 7; Masengill, Tr. 1:235-236; Cooperman, Tr. 7:132- 
136).

96. The December 5, 2011 Directive stated in 
pertinent part:

As a Social Security Administration (SSA or 
agency) Administrative Law Judge (ALJ), you 
are responsible for conducting hearings and 
issuing timely and legally sufficient decisions. 
See HALLEXI-2-0-5-B. A legally sufficient decision 
requires that you comply with SSA’s laws, regu­
lations, rulings, and policies. . . .
In your decisions, you are required to analyze 
medical evidence that supports a finding of the 
claimant’s medical improvement or to explain 
why the claimant’s case falls within an exception 
to medical improvement. The decision also requires 
you to analyze the claimant’s residual functional 
capacity (RFC) assessment and to explain how 
the RFC relates to a claimant’s current work 
capacity and results in the claimant’s ability to 
engage in substantial gainful activity (SGA). 
Many of your decisions involving closed periods 
of disability contain analytical deficiencies. Fur­
thermore, in many of these cases, you had “off- 
the-record” discussions with the claimants and/or 
their representatives regarding the claimant’s 
case and did not summarize the discussions on 
the record after the hearings resumed.
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. . . You continue to hold hearings in which 
claimants amend their claims to a closed period 
based on off-the-record discussions. Your decisions 
in these cases contain analytical deficiencies 
including a lack of analysis to support a non­
disability RFC and a lack of analysis to support 
a finding of medical improvement beyond the 
claimant’s agreement to a closed period. ... In 
addition, these decisions fail to summarize off- 
the-record discussions. . . .
To ensure that you provide claimants with 
legally sufficient and judicious decisions, I am 
directing you to include in each of your written 
decisions a thorough analysis of a claimant’s 
medical improvement and a claimant’s RFC, and 
to comply with the applicable agency policies 
and procedures, as described in detail below.
Analysis to Support Medical Improvement 
and Increased RFC
Pursuant to 20 CFR § 404.1594 and § 416.994:
1. I direct you to determine whether there has 

been medical improvement. You must analyze 
any improvement by comparing the prior and 
current medical evidence and by illustrating 
any improvement in the signs, symptoms, 
or laboratory findings.
Your analysis should discuss evidence that 
centers on the factors set forth at 20 CFR 
§ 404.1528 and § 416.928 and that align 
with the guidance for evidence set forth at 
20 CFR § 404.1512-1518 and § 416.912-918.
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2. I direct you to determine if any medical 
improvement relates to the ability of the 
claimant to perform work.
i. Compare the prior RFC with the increase 

in the current RFC, based on changes 
in signs, symptoms, or lab findings.

ii. Analyze how the increased RFC reflects 
the improvement in the exertional and 
nonexertional basic work activities, as 
applicable, and in accordance with the 
requirements set forth at 20 CFR 
§ 404.1545 and § 416.945. .. .

3. I direct you to explain how the medical 
improvement analyzed in number 2, above, 
now results in the claimant being able to 
engage in work at the SGA level....
I also direct you to summarize on the record, 
all off-the-record discussions concerning 
amending claims involving closed periods of 
disability, as well as any other discussions 
relevant to the issues in a claimant’s case. 
HALLEX 1-2-6-40, 1-2-6-75, 20 CFR 
§ 404.951, §416.1451, § 404.961, and 
§ 416.1461 mandate that the ALJ make a 
complete record of the proceedings. This 
applies both to hearings and to pre-hearing 
conferences.

Although this directive does not constitute disci­
plinary action, please be advised that failure to 
follow this management directive may lead to 
disciplinary action.
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I urge you to accept this letter in the spirit in 
which it is given, as notice that it is essential 
that you comply with agency law, regulations, 
rulings, and policies.... I am available to discuss 
how we might further assist you.

(JX 7).
97. After the December 5, 2011 Directive, Res­

pondent asked HOCALJ Masengill to review some of 
Respondent’s decisions and asked for feedback as to 
deficiencies. HOCALJ Masengill reviewed four or 
five decisions and perceived a pattern, which caused 
him to generate a list of comments and suggestions 
that he provided to Respondent. These comments 
and suggestions were designed to apply to any closed 
period decisions that Respondent might write. HOCALJ 
Masengill’s suggestions included specific language 
that Respondent could use in his decisions, as 
templates, that would detail any off-the-record con­
versation in which a claimant agreed to a closed 
period of disability and would identify specific medical 
evidence supporting a finding of medical improvement. 
(Masengill, Tr. 1:241-242; 2:56; PX 160).

98. Also included in HOCALJ Masengill’s 
comments and suggestions referred to in F. 97 was 
HOCALJ Masengill’s comment that “[cjlosing the 
[p]eriod [of disability] on or about the date of the 
hearing (absent compelling evidence) is generally 
difficult to rationalize adequately.” This is because 
“cessation of benefits is based on something called 
medical improvement, which is reflected in signs, 
symptoms, laboratory findings, medical evidence, [and] 
doesn’t necessarily magically happen the day of the 
hearing or soon before or after.” (PX 160; Masengill, 
Tr. 1:243; see also Tr. 1:227 (“[P]eople don’t medically
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improve magically that day . . . they show up at a 
hearing with the judge.”)).

99. On December 21, 2011, Respondent advised 
HOCALJ Masengill that Respondent would “strive to 
implement” HOCALJ Masengill’s list of comments 
and suggestions “where appropriate.” Respondent 
asked HOCALJ Masengill whether, going forward, 
HOCALJ Masengill wanted to review Respondent’s 
closed period of disability decisions before they are 
signed. HOCALJ Masengill responded that this was 
not necessary unless Respondent needed an opinion 
on a particular case, stating: “I think my suggestions 
should cover most of these types of situations.” In 
addition, HOCALJ Masengill did not deem it necessary 
to continue to review Respondent’s decisions after 
providing Respondent with the December 5, 2011 
Directive because he believed that Respondent had 
received appropriate guidance and feedback regarding 
his decisions. (JX 40; Masengill, Tr. 1:245).

100. After issuance of the December 5, 2011 
Directive and providing the list of comments and 
suggestions referred to in F. 97-98, HOCALJ Masengill 
declined Respondent’s request to have additional 
“collegial meetings” on the issues raised in those doc­
uments. HOCALJ Masengill believed that at that 
point in time, Respondent only wanted such meetings 
in order to attempt to “convince [HOCALJ Masengill] 
that [Respondent’s] process was correct; his method 
was correct; and that he didn’t need to fully rationalize 
certain things or fully detail on the record things 
that happened off the record.” (Masengill, Tr. 2:59).

101. Based on additional complaints received by 
the Agency after issuance of the December 5, 2011 
Directive and a review of Respondent’s decisions
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from December 6, 2011 through March 1, 2012, the 
Agency believed that Respondent was not complying 
with the December 5, 2011 Directive and decided to 
conduct a Weingarten interview with Respondent. 
HOCALJ Masengill conducted this Weingarten inter­
view on October 25, 2012. (JX 49; Sax, Tr. 2:267-269; 
PX 196; Masengill, Tr. 1:252-253).

102. A Weingarten interview is an investigative 
interview conducted by management with an employee, 
in which the employee is entitled to representation and 
which may result in disciplinary action being taken 
against the employee. The purpose of a Weingarten 
interview is to gather information. It is not to be a 
counseling session. (Massengill, Tr. 1:228-229, 2:77- 
78; Sax, Tr. 3:89).

103. HOCALJ Masengill informed RCAU Sax 
of the content of the Weingarten interview with Res­
pondent via memorandum dated December 11, 2012, 
and RCAU Sax, in turn, forwarded the memorandum 
to CALJ Bice. (Masengill Tr. 1:255; Sax, Tr. 3:41-42; 
PX 196).

104. HOCAU Masengill reported to RCAU Sax 
regarding the results of the October 25, 2012 
Weingarten interview with Respondent (F. 101), 
stating:

After reviewing the issues in this matter, it is 
clear to me that Judge Cooperman has failed to 
follow the Directive given to him on December 5, 
2011. Specifically, Judge Cooperman has continued 
to have off-the-record Representative contact 
and discussions regarding possible . . . Closed 
Periods, details of which have not been fully 
memorialized on-the-record or in the Decisions.
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He has failed to follow Agency Policy as set forth 
in HALLEX. . . .
Additionally, in my opinion, Judge Cooperman 
continues to fail to adequately rationalize the 
cessation of benefits in so called “agreed to” 
Closed Period cases. . . . This is also contrary to 
the December 5, 2011 Directive and Agency 
Policy. . . .

(PX 196).
105. In early 2013, HOCALJ Masengill was 

advised of at least two additional complaints concerning 
Respondent’s decisions and was directed to conduct 
another Weingarten interview of Respondent. This 
second Weingarten interview took place on March 
28, 2013. (Masengill, Tr. 1:270-271; JX 42).

106. In his report of the March 28, 2013 
Weingarten interview (F. 105), HOCALJ Masengill 
concluded:

After reviewing the issues in this matter, it is 
clear that Judge Cooperman continues to fail to 
follow the written Directive given to him on 
December 5, 2011. . . . Specifically, Judge 
Cooperman continues to have off-the-record 
Representative contact and discussions regarding 
possible ... Closed Periods, details of which have 
not been fully memorialized on-the-record or in 
the Decisions. He continues to fail to follow 
Agency Policy as set forth in HALLEX. . . .
In my opinion, Judge Cooperman continues not 
to rationalize adequately the cessation of benefits 
in so called “agreed to” Closed Period cases. He 
believes that a claimant’s assent (upon advice of
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competent counsel) to a Closed Period decision is 
sufficient evidence to demonstrate Medical 
Improvement. He appeared to be stating that 
there needed to be no medical evidence or 
rationale to justify his conclusions. . . .
Judge Cooperman continues to express the rather 
strong belief that he is absolutely deciding his 
cases correctly, efficiently, and equitably. It 
appears that he continues his practice of significant 
Closed Period adjudication, without following 
Agency Policy. This is despite the history of 
multiple discussions (by me, the Springfield, MA 
Hearing Office Director, and other ALJs), training 
sessions (Judge Brady-then National ALJ Mentor), 
investigations (Ohio Cases) and counseling (both 
oral and written), a personal meeting with Judge 
Cristaudo (then Associate Chief ALJ), a formal 
Written Directive (December 5, 2011), and a prior 
Weingarten Meeting.

(JX 42 at SSA0008623-8624).
107. DQS, which is part of ODAR’s Appellate 

Operations, conducted a focused review of Respondent’s 
disability decisions issued from December 5, 2011 
through June 30, 2013 and prepared a report, dated 
September 26, 2013 (“Focused Review”). CALJ Bice 
was invited to the meeting to discuss the Focused 
Review, and according to HOCALJ Masengill, CALJ 
Bice was present for the meeting. (JX 19; Bice, 
Tr. 4:319; 6:117-118, 120-122; Masengill, Tr. 2:88-89).

108. When a focused review is undertaken 
regarding a particular adjudicator at SSA, the only 
information given to DQS is the name of the 
adjudicator. No information is provided as to why the
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request for the focused review is being made. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:319).

109. The Focused Review findings with respect 
to Respondent’s decisions included: agreed-upon closed 
period of disability decisions that were not supported 
by the evidence of record; off-the-record discussions 
or prehearing conferences that were not adequately 
summarized on the record; and unsecured email 
communications between Respondent and claimants 
or claimants’ representatives that contained PII 
belonging to the claimants. (JX 19 at SSA0006395- 
6398, 6406-6408).

110. Although the normal practice by the Agency 
after conducting a focused review of an AU is to pro­
vide the ALJ with a copy of the review and self-directed 
training resources, CALJ Bice determined not to do 
this in the case of Respondent, for two reasons. First, 
the Agency had decided to refer Respondent to the 
Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”). Second, 
CALJ Bice believed that the Agency had covered sub­
stantially the same issues in the training and in the 
December 5, 2011 Directive previously given to 
Respondent in 2011. (Bice, Tr. 4:323-324; 6:124-125).

111. On October 2, 2013, CALJ Bice made a 
referral to OIG for investigation into the “possibility 
of fraud, waste and abuse, or mismanagement by 
ALJ Cooperman or the representatives appearing 
before him.” CALJ Bice’s concern grew out of the 
nature of some of Respondent’s email communications 
with certain claimants’ representatives and non-policy 
compliant awards of benefits for closed periods of 
disability. (JX 60; Bice, Tr. 6:30-31).



App.90a

112. OIG conducted an investigation (“OIG 
Investigation”), pursuant to CALJ Bice’s referral, 
which concluded on or about February 11, 2015. 
Respondent was interviewed as part of the investiga­
tion. (JX 6; JX 22; JX 23).

113. In a December 8, 2014 written report (“OIG 
Report”), OIG concluded there was no evidence of 
criminal wrongdoing by Respondent. However, OIG 
did find evidence that “summaries of the off-the- 
record discussions were not memorialized on the 
record as required by HALLEX 1-2-6-40”; that certain 
decisions “lacked sufficient reference to medical evi­
dence to support” the decision; and that Respondent 
sent “emails containing PII [that] were not encrypted 
or password protected ... in violation of SSA policy.” 
(JX 6 at SSA00002461-2463).

114. In a February 11, 2015 addendum to the 
OIG Report, OIG further stated that its investigation 
supported the findings of the Focused Review, and 
that its investigation further revealed violations of 
Agency policy concerning Respondent’s use of email, 
but took “no position with respect to the imposition of 
SSA administrative actions against the employee.” 
(JX 22 at SSA00002468).

115. It is ODAR’s practice to hold in abeyance 
any administrative actions against an employee once 
a referral to OIG is made in order to allow the OIG’s 
investigation to move forward. At the time CALJ 
Bice made her referral to OIG regarding Respondent, 
ACALJ Lillios had been working with the Region 1 
DQS on potential discipline for Respondent. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:313-314).
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116. After receiving the OIG reports, CALJ Bice 
began seriously considering charges for removal of 
Respondent. (Bice, Tr. 4:328-329).

117. In or around December 2014, at the request 
of CALJ Bice and the Office of General Counsel 
(“OGC”), ODAR attorney advisor Ms. Arlene Brens 
reviewed selected decisions of Respondent for policy 
compliance and prepared a report (“Ms. Brens’ 
Review”). CALJ Bice wanted to determine if Respond­
ent was continuing to engage in the behavior identified 
by OIG. (JX 20; Brens, Tr. 4:49, 57, 66-67, 72-73).

118. Ms. Brens has worked as a decision writer 
for ODAR in the Washington, D.C. hearing office. 
Decision writers are trained in all the regulations 
and policies applicable to disability adjudications. 
After becoming a senior attorney advisor/decision 
writer in 2011, Ms. Brens handled the more difficult 
and complex cases in the office, including cases 
involving multiple remands. Ms. Brens estimated that 
by the time she left the Washington, D.C. Hearing 
Office, she had written over 1,000 decisions, including 
many closed period of disability decisions. In approx­
imately 2013, Ms. Brens was promoted to attorney 
advisor in the ODAR headquarters, working directly 
for CALJ Bice and Deputy CALJ Jack Allen. (Brens, 
Tr. 4:50-57, 63, 71).

119. The purpose of Ms. Brens’ Review was to 
determine if Respondent’s decisions were in compliance 
with Agency policies, with respect to the decision and 
the conduct of the hearing, including whether Res­
pondent’s closed period of disability decisions were 
supported by the evidence of record. Ms. Brens 
prepared a report of her review, which addressed 
four cases. (JX 8; Brens, Tr. 4:71-74).
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120. To conduct her review (F. 117), Ms. Brens 
identified which cases of Respondent’s to review from 
a list provided to her by the Division of Workload 
Management, which was drawn from ODAR’s case 
management and processing system. She also identified 
cases from emails she had reviewed between Respond­
ent and claimants’ representatives while assisting in 
the OIG Investigation on behalf of OCALJ. For each 
case she reviewed, Ms. Brens reviewed the case record, 
including the hearing recording, the medical record, 
any email correspondence, and the decision. (Brens, 
Tr. 4:67-71).

121. The Complaint in this matter was issued 
on October 2, 2015. (Tab 1).

122. After the Complaint was issued, at the 
request of CALJ Bice, through OGC, ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky reviewed certain of Respondent’s cases, 
identified by OGC, for policy compliance (hereafter, 
“ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review”). ACALJ Soch­
aczewsky was also provided a copy of the Complaint 
against Respondent. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:70-72, 206).

123. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review consisted of 
reviewing the decisions, listening to some or all of the 
hearings, and for some cases, reviewing correspon­
dence and some of the medical and other evidence in 
the case. (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:70-71).

124. PX 19 reflects the notes of ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s Review of 20 of Respondent’s cases. 
PX 19 was prepared by OGC based on ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s notes. Some additional cases that 
were part of ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review were not 
included in PX 19 because there was doubt as to
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whether those cases violated any policy. (PX 19; 
Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:73-74, 207-210).

D. Charge One: Neglect of Duties

1. Specifications 1 and 2
125. The Agency uses a template called the 

Finding Integrated Template (“FIT”) to help streamline 
the decision writing process. ALJs and decision writers 
are encouraged, but not required, to utilize the FIT 
template. (Bice, Tr. 4:196-199).

126. Respondent, in writing his own decisions, 
utilizes the FIT template. (Cooperman, Tr. 6:213-215).

127. Respondent’s closed period of disability 
decisions typically recited the applicable law as 
follows, in pertinent part:

If the claimant is found disabled at any point in 
the process, the undersigned must also determine 
if his disability continues through the date of the 
decision. . . . [T]he undersigned must show that 
medical improvement has occurred which is 
related to the claimant’s ability to work, or that an 
exception applies (20 CFR 404.1594(a) and 
416.994(a)). In most cases, the undersigned must 
also show that the claimant is able to engage in 
substantial gainful activity (20 CFR 404.1594(a) 
and 416.994(a)). In making this determination, 
the undersigned must follow an additional eight- 
step evaluation process for the Title II claim and 
a seven-step process for the Title XVI claim (20 
CFR 404.1594 and 416.994) . . . Medical improve­
ment is any decrease in medical severity of the 
impairment(s) as established by improvement
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in symptoms, signs or laboratory findings (20
CFR 404.1594(b)(1) and 416.994(b)(l)(i)).

(PX 32 at 3-4 of 8; see also PX 20, 23, 28, 30, 33-35, 
37, 38, 40).

128. Respondent issued a closed period of 
disability decision in the Hatcher case on October 9,
2012. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined that 
there was no discussion of the claimant’s medical 
improvement. (PX 19 at 1-2; PX 32).

129. Respondent issued a closed period of 
disability decision in the Amaro case on December 
19, 2012. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined 
that the decision contained an insufficient discussion 
of medical improvement. The Focused Review con­
ducted by DQS identified the Amaro decision as an 
agreed-upon closed period of disability decision that 
was not supported by the evidence in the record. (PX 
19 at 2; JX 19 at SSA0006406, 6408; PX 20).

130. Respondent issued a closed period of
disability decision in the Young case on January 4,
2013. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined that 
the decision contained an insufficient discussion of 
medical improvement. (PX 19 at 2; PX 40).

131. Respondent issued a closed period of
disability decision in the Rivera case on January 4, 
2013. (PX 37).

132. The Focused Review conducted by DQS 
identified the Rivera decision as one in which there 
was an agreed-upon closed period of disability that 
was not supported by the evidence of record. The 
Focused Review noted that the rationale for the 
finding of medical improvement was limited to a
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statement that “[a]t the hearing, the claimant ack­
nowledged this is so.” The Focused Review further 
noted that the record included a treating source opin­
ion and the opinion of a nurse practitioner that the 
claimant was essentially disabled, with both of these 
opinions post-dating the date that Respondent deter­
mined the claimant’s disability ceased. ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s Review also determined that the 
decision in Rivera contained an insufficient discussion 
of medical improvement. (JX 19 at SSA0006406- 
6407; PX 19 at 2; PX 37).

133. Respondent issued a closed period of dis­
ability decision in the Par slow case on January 8, 
2013. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined that 
the decision contained an insufficient discussion of 
medical improvement. (PX 19 at 2; PX 34).

134. Respondent issued a closed period of 
disability decision in the Petracone case on October 3,
2013. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined there 
was “no true discussion/explanation of medical 
improvement, other than claimant admitted he 
improved,” and that the end date of the closed period 
was “suggested” to the claimant. (PX 19 at 3; PX 35).

135. Respondent issued a closed period of 
disability decision in the Fernandez case on April 25,
2014. (PX 30).

136. Ms. Brens’ Review concluded that there were 
a number of deficiencies in the Fernandez decision, 
including that Respondent’s finding of medical improve­
ment was “conclusory.” Ms. Brens’ Review elaborated:

ALJ Cooperman used the basic FIT general langu­
age for the medical improvement discussion[:]
“[B]ecause the claimant no longer has a severe
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impairment or combination of impairments, the 
undersigned finds that the claimant’s functional 
capacity for basic work activities has increased.” 
There was no explanation with supporting medi­
cal evidence as to why the claimant had medically 
improved. He stated “it appears those problems 
have receded, however, and therefore the claim­
ant believes her overall condition has improved 
enough to warrant a request for a closed period, 
rather than for ongoing benefits as she origi­
nally sought when she filed her application for 
benefits.”

(JX 20 at SSA0010948-10949; Brens, Tr. 4:81-83; PX
30).

137. Ms. Brens’ Review of the Fernandez decision 
concluded that the decision was also deficient because 
“[t]here is no support in the record for the closed 
period dates given that the claimant continued to 
have treatment and surgery after the closed period 
ended.” (JX 20 at SSA00109490).

138. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review of the Fer­
nandez decision concluded that there was “no explan­
ation of basis for new RFC after closed period.” (PX 19 
at 1).

139. Respondent issued a closed period of dis­
ability decision in the Daddario case on August 27, 
2014. (PX 28).

140. ACALJ Sochaczewsky, based on his review, 
concluded that the Daddario decision was not policy 
compliant because, among other reasons, the decision 
did not sufficiently discuss or establish medical 
improvement. (PX 19 at 1; Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:101- 
103; PX 28).
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141. ACALJ Sochaczewsky explained that the 
Respondent’s findings of medical improvement in the 
Daddario decision do not “explain what got better 
and why it got better and why the evidence supports 
the finding. The judge does say there’s no longer 
severe impairment, but the why is missing. And it 
appears to accept the claimant’s saying I want a 
closed period to substitute for the medical improvement 
part.” The regulations in 20 CFR part 400 and 
HALLEX 1-28-25 require an explanation of medical 
improvement. Establishing medical improvement 
requires more than saying the “magic words ... there’s 
medical improvement.” (Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:112-118; 
F. 28, 50-51; JX 16 (HALLEX at 1-28-25)).

142. In addition to the review done by ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky, Ms. Brens reviewed the Daddario 
case and found a number of deficiencies, including a 
“conclusory” finding of medical improvement that 
lacked any explanation with supporting medical 
evidence as to why the claimant had medically 
improved. (JX 20 at SSA0010946-10948; PX 28).

143. Ms. Brens concluded that there was no sup­
port in the record for the end-date of the closed 
period in the Daddario decision. “As ALJ Cooperman 
admitted at the [disability] hearing, it was an arbi­
trary date.” (JX 20 at SSA0010947; PX 28). See also 
Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:111-112 (“[I]t’s the rare instance 
where someone who has ... a disabling impairment, 
no longer has any severe impairment at all.”).

144. The Appeals Council vacated and remanded 
the Daddario decision for failing to support the 
closed period, stating that it was an error of law to 
provide no evidentiary support from the record for
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the finding of medical improvement. (Brens, Tr. 4:124- 
125).

145. Respondent issued a closed period of dis­
ability decision in the Broussard case on July 23, 2014. 
ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined, among 
other things, that there was “no true discussion 
/explanation” of the finding of medical improvement. 
(PX 19 at 2; PX 23).

146. Respondent issued a closed period of dis­
ability decision in the Lowe case on July 24, 2014. 
ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined, among 
other things, that there was “no true discussion/ 
explanation of medical improvement, other than 
claimant admitted she could perform sedentary 
work. ...” (PX 19 at 2; PX 33).

147. Respondent issued a closed period of 
disability decision in the Simmons case on August 
28, 2014. (PX 38).

148. The Simmons case had been remanded to 
Respondent, after an Appeals Council “own motion” 
review (F. 23) of Respondent’s previous closed period 
of disability decision. The Appeals Council found as 
to the earlier Simmons decision that: “The claimant’s 
acknowledgment of medical improvement is not a 
determination made in accordance with the require­
ments of 20 C.F.R. 404.1594.” (PX 38 n.3; Sochaczewsky, 
Tr. 5:91-92, 94-96).

149. In Respondent’s decision on remand in 
Simmons, Respondent referenced the Appeals Council 
remand, stating: “The AC further faulted my decision 
by concluding that ‘The claimant’s acknowledgment 
of medical improvement is not a determination made 
in accordance with the requirements of 20 C.F.R.
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404.1594.’... I summarily reject the AC position that 
a lucid claimant’s acknowledgment of occupational 
capacity is insufficient to support a finding of medical 
improvement. The regulatory section which the AC 
cites, 20 C.F.R. [404].1594, states in pertinent part 
that medical improvement is any decrease in the 
severity of an impairment. Such a decrease in severity 
must be based, as the regulatory provision states, on 
changes in symptoms, signs or lab findings. Who 
better to report (and know) what a person’s symptoms 
are than that person himself? Certainly not the 
doctor, not the nurse; indeed, no one is in a better 
position to know the severity of symptoms than the 
person who is suffering them. Thus, the regulatory 
provision cited by the AC in fact undermines their 
conclusion, and expressly supports mine.” (PX 38).

150. ACALJ Sochaczewsky concluded that the 
Simmons decision on remand did not comply with 
Agency policy in a number of different ways, including 
that there was no medical improvement explanation 
or analysis, or a complete, second RFC. (Sochaczewsky, 
Tr. 5:83-84, 93-96; PX 19 at 1; PX 38).

2. Specifications 3 and 4
151. Respondent believes that he could not 

achieve the same degree of candor in a discussion on 
the record that he could achieve in a discussion off 
the record. (Cooperman, Tr. 6:270-271).

152. Paul Durkee is an attorney practicing Social 
Security disability law who maintains offices in 
Worcester, Massachusetts, with the law firm of 
McGuire & McGuire, where he has worked since 1980. 
Over the past eight years, Mr. Durkee has appeared 
before Respondent numerous times. He also has
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appeared before other ALJs at the Springfield Hearing 
Office. (Durkee, Tr. 3:155-161).

153. In Mr. Durkee’s experience, Respondent’s 
practice was to memorialize an off-the-record conver­
sation by stating on the record the fact that there 
had been an off-the-record conversation and asking 
the claimant “if he or she was made aware that we 
had discussed their case.” (Durkee, Tr. 3:164).

154. Bainbridge Testa is an attorney who has 
been practicing law for over twenty years. Mr. Testa 
currently has his own firm and handles primarily 
Social Security disability matters in Massachusetts 
and throughout New England. Over the past eight 
years, Mr. Testa has appeared before Respondent 
numerous times. He also has appeared before other 
ALJs at the Springfield Hearing Office and at other 
SSA hearing offices throughout New England. (Testa, 
Tr. 3:203-207).

155. In Mr. Testa’s experience, it was not unusual 
to have off-the-record conversations with an ALJ 
during a hearing about a disability case. Mr. Testa 
has had off-the-record conversations about substantive 
issues in a case with ALJs during hearings, and in 
his experience, either he or the ALJ would memorialize 
the conversation by giving a summary on the record. 
(Testa, Tr. 3:214-215).

156. Respondent issued a decision in the Amaro 
case on December 19, 2012, after a hearing on Decem­
ber 18, 2012. The Focused Review conducted by DQS 
identified Amaro as a case in which a claimant 
agreed to a closed period of disability decision after 
an off-the-record conversation. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s 
Review determined that there was an insufficient



App.lOla

summary of the off-the-record conversation. (PX 41; 
JX 19 at SSA0006395, 6397; PX 19 at 2).

157. Respondent issued a decision in the Bond 
case on October 12, 2012, after a hearing held on 
October 10, 2012. The Focused Review conducted by 
DQS identified Bond as a case in which a claimant 
agreed to an amended onset date after an off-the-record 
conversation. (JX 19 at SSA0006395, 6397; PX 22).

158. The Focused Review noted that at the Bond 
hearing, Respondent referenced an off-the-record dis­
cussion stating, “We talked about this by e-mail. 
[Your representative] and I have a very good rela­
tionship . . . she helps me make the right decision in 
a case. So we’ve talked about your situation and I 
know she’s discussed what we’ve talked about with 
you.” The Focused Review further noted that this off- 
the-record discussion “was not summarized on the 
record” and was followed by the claimant’s agreement to 
an amended onset date. (JX 19 at SSA0006398, 6405).

159. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined 
that there was an insufficient summary of the off- 
the-record conversation in Bond. (PX 19 at 2).

160. Respondent held a hearing and issued a 
decision in the Young case on January 4, 2013. The 
summary of the hearing recording, contained in the 
case file, notes that the recording was stopped and 
restarted during the hearing. (PX 40; PX 60).

161. The Focused Review identified Young as a 
case in which the claimant agreed to an amended 
onset date and a closed period of disability decision 
after an off-the-record conversation. The Focused 
Review stated that “[a]t the beginning of the hearing, 
the ALJ referenced, but did not summarize, an off-
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the-record discussion with the representative concern­
ing ‘the pluses and minuses and different options we 
might have for resolving [the claim]’. . . . ‘The bottom 
line is ... we talked about the strengths and weak­
nesses of your case . . . [and] we discussed different 
ways of resolving the case. . . . ’” (JX 19 at SSA- 
0006396).

162. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review concluded 
that there was an insufficient summary of an off-the- 
record conversation in Young. (PX 19 at 2).

163. Respondent held a hearing and issued a 
decision in the Parslow case on January 8, 2013. The 
summary of the hearing recording, contained in the 
case file, notes that the recording was started several 
times at the beginning of the hearing and that there 
was a discussion prior to the commencement of the 
recording. (PX 34; PX 54).

164. The Focused Review identified Parslow as 
a case in which the claimant agreed to an amended 
onset date and a closed period of disability decision 
after an off-the-record conversation. The Focused 
Review states that “[t]he ALJ referenced, but did not 
summarize, an off-the-record discussion with the 
representative about the case.” After questioning of 
the claimant on the record, and “[a]t the end of the 
hearing, after an off-the-record discussion between 
the claimant and the representative and in answering 
the ALJ’s questions concerning the proposed CPOD,” 
the claimant stated that he “just wantfed] to settle 
this and go home.” (JX 19 at SSA0006396-6397).

165. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review concluded 
that there was an insufficient summary of an off-the- 
record conversation in Parslow. (PX 19 at 2).
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166. Respondent held a hearing in the Simmons 
case on July 30, 2014, and issued a decision on August 
28, 2014. The summary of the hearing recording, 
contained in the case file, notes that the recording 
was stopped and restarted during the hearing. (PX 
38; PX 58).

167. ACALJ Sochaczewsky, who reviewed the 
Simmons decision and listened to the hearing recording, 
concluded that this decision was not policy compliant, 
including because there was an incomplete summary 
of an off-the-record conversation. (PX 19 at 1; Soch­
aczewsky, Tr. 5:83-85).

3. Specifications 5 and 6
168. Information by itself that is not PII can 

become PII if combined with other information. 
(Bryant, Tr. 3:111; PX 5 at SSA0000042).

169. A person’s last name combined with the 
last four digits of their Social Security Number 
(“SSN”) is PII. (Bryant, Tr. 3:96, 111; PX 4 at 
SSA0000397).

170. A person’s last name combined with medical 
information is PII. (Bryant, Tr. 3:96, 111; PX 5 at 
SSA0000594).

171. A secure communication channel is one 
that automatically encrypts emails sent through that 
channel. (Bryant, Tr. 3:275-276; see also PX 4 at SSA- 
0000397).

172. Web-based email services such as Yahoo, 
Gmail, Hotmail, or Verizon.net are not, and have 
never been, secure email partners. Emails sent to 
such web-based email services from ssa.gov email
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accounts are not secure. No law firm is, or has ever 
been, a secure email partner. (Bryant, Tr. 3:248, 275- 
278; Bice, Tr. 6:53-54; PX 12 (identifying secure email 
partners)).

173. Agency policy, as stated in the Information 
Systems Security Handbook, directs: “Do not send or 
forward PII (or other information that requires confi­
dentiality or protection from disclosure) using a non- 
SSA (or non-secure) email account to anyone” and 
“[o]nly send email containing PII or other sensitive 
information to email addresses that are secure. ...” 
(PX 4 at SSA0000396, SSA0000398).

174. Agency policies prohibiting employees from 
sending emails containing PII to unsecure accounts 
unless the PII is encrypted (F. 63-65) were in effect 
in fiscal year 2013 and fiscal year 2014. (Cooperman, 
Tr. 3:103-104; Bryant, Tr. 3:114-115).

175. Agency employees, including Respondent, 
have a duty to safeguard PII to protect an individual’s 
privacy. (Bryant, Tr. 3:114-115; Masengill, Tr. 1:205- 
206; PX 5 at SSA0000042; see F. 62-69).

176. The Agency sends employees, including 
Respondent, annual personnel reminders regarding 
their duty to safeguard PII and the methods for 
doing so. (Bryant, Tr. 3:98-102; Masengill, Tr. 1:205; 
Sax, Tr. 2:244; Bice, Tr. 5:298; JX 15; PX 5; JX 13).

177. The Annual Reminder on Safeguarding 
Personally Identifiable Information for SSA Employees 
instructs: “Each SSA employee is responsible for 
properly safeguarding PII from loss, theft or improper 
disclosure, including inadvertent disclosure . . . [and 
must k]now, understand and follow all Agency policies
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and directives on security, privacy and confidentiality 
practices.” (PX 5 at SSA0000042).

178. The Annual Reminder on Safeguarding 
Personally Identifiable Information for SSA Employees 
instructs: “Employees who fail to adequately safeguard 
PII or who violate Agency policies for safeguarding 
PII may be subject to disciplinary action up to and 
including removal from [f]ederal service or other 
actions in accordance with applicable law and Agency 
policy.” (PX 5 at SSA0000042).

179. In addition to the annual personnel 
reminders, the Agency reminds employees about the 
duty to safeguard PII through periodic reminders 
and mandatory training. (Bryant, Tr. 3:97, 102, 116, 
243; Masengill, Tr. 1:205; Sax, Tr. 2:244; PX 4; JX 13; 
PX 11).

180. On June 23, 2011, after taking the annual 
training on handling PII, Respondent sent an email 
to HOCALJ Masengill asking him if there were 
matters Respondent should omit from his emails 
with claimants’ representatives. (Masengill, Tr. 1:206- 
207; PX 194).

181. HOCALJ Masengill responded to Respond­
ent’s June 23, 2011 email (F. 180) by email dated June 
30, 2011, in which HOCALJ Masengill instructed 
Respondent not to include information such as SSNs, 
dates of birth, addresses, etc. in his emails to claimants’ 
representatives. (Masengill, Tr. 1:206-207; PX 194).

182. In fiscal year 2013 and fiscal year 2014, 
Respondent received training related to the duty to 
safeguard PII. (Cooperman, Tr. 7:100-101).
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183. In fiscal year 2013 and fiscal year 2014, 
Respondent was aware of his duty to safeguard PII 
and to encrypt emails sent to unsecure email accounts. 
(Cooperman, Tr. 7:103-104; 6:229).

a. Specification 5
184. Respondent did not encrypt emails he sent 

to claimants’ representatives in fiscal year 2013. 
(Cooperman, Tr. 7:105).

185. Respondent did not know and did not ask 
if claimants’ representatives with whom he 
communicated via email in fiscal year 2013 were 
considered SSA secure email partners. (Cooperman, 
Tr. 7:104).

186. On October 10 and 11, 2012, Respondent 
exchanged emails with Mr. Testa, a claimant’s repre­
sentative who was representing a claimant on a 
matter before Respondent. Mr. Testa’s email to Res­
pondent on October 10, 2012 included a claimant’s full 
name. In a reply email sent by Respondent to Mr. 
Testa, Respondent asked Mr. Testa to provide the 
claimant’s SSN. Mr. Testa sent a follow up email to 
Respondent on October 10, 2012 with the claimant’s 
full name and SSN. In reply, Respondent sent an 
email on October 11, 2012 that contained PII, including 
the claimant’s full name and a summary of the 
claimant’s medical history. These emails were 
exchanged between Respondent’s work email account 
and a yahoo.com email address. (PX 142).

187. On October 16, 2012, Respondent sent an 
email to Ms. Linda McGrail, a claimant’s representative 
who was representing a claimant on a matter before 
Respondent, that contained PII, including a claimant’s
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full name, date of birth, and detailed medical history. 
(PX 135).

188. On November 14, 2012, Respondent
exchanged emails with Ms. Bonita Porter, a claimant’s 
representative who was representing a claimant on a 
matter before Respondent, that contained PII, includ­
ing a claimant’s full name and SSN. These emails 
were exchanged between Respondent’s work email 
account and a law firm’s email address. (PX 185).

189. On November 23, 2012, Respondent sent 
an email to Mr. David R. Patterson, a claimant’s 
representative who was representing a claimant on a 
matter before Respondent, that contained PII, including 
a claimant’s full name, month and year of birth, and 
medical history. This email was sent from Respondent’s 
work email account to a verizon.net email address. 
(PX 107).

190. On December 21, 2012, Respondent sent 
an email to “Attorney Spinola,” a claimant’s repre­
sentative who was representing a claimant on a 
matter before Respondent, that contained PII, including 
a claimant’s full name, date of birth, and medical 
history. Respondent sent this email from his work 
email account to a verizon.net email address. (PX 110).

191. On December 4, 2012 and January 11, 14, 
and 17, 2013, Respondent exchanged emails with Ms. 
Michelle Begley, a claimants’ representative who was 
representing several claimants on matters before 
Respondent, that contained PII, including the full 
names, dates of birth, and medical histories of three 
claimants. The emails were exchanged between Res­
pondent’s work email account and a lawyer’s email 
address. (PX 111).
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192. On February 14 and 15, 2013, Respondent 
exchanged emails with Ms. Porter, who was repre­
senting a claimant on a matter before Respondent, that 
contained PII, including a claimant’s full name, med­
ical history, and last four digits of the SSN. These 
emails were exchanged between Respondent’s work 
email account and a law firm’s email address. (PX 129).

193. On May 15, 2013, Respondent exchanged 
emails with Ms. Tricia Jacobs, a claimant’s repre­
sentative who was representing a claimant on a 
matter before Respondent, that contained PII, including 
a claimant’s full name and SSN. These emails were 
exchanged between Respondent’s work email account 
and a law firm’s email address. (PX 112).

194. On August 7, 2013, Respondent exchanged 
emails with Mr. Durkee, a claimant’s representative 
who was representing a claimant on a matter before 
Respondent, that contained PII, including a claimant’s 
full name and medical history. These emails were 
exchanged between Respondent’s work email account 
and a verizon.net email address. (PX 131).

b. Specification 6
195. Respondent did not encrypt emails he sent 

to claimants’ representatives in fiscal year 2014. 
(Cooperman, Tr. 7:105).

196. Respondent did not know and did not ask 
if claimants’ representatives with whom he 
communicated via email in fiscal year 2014 were 
considered SSA secure email partners. (Cooperman, 
Tr. 7:104-105).

197. On November 18, 2013, Respondent sent 
an email to Mr. Testa, who was representing a claim-



App.l09a

ant on a matter before Respondent, that contained PII, 
including a claimant’s full name and full SSN. These 
emails were exchanged between Respondent’s work 
email account and a law firm’s email address. (PX116).

198. On November 22, 2013, Respondent 
exchanged emails with Ms. Porter, who was repre­
senting a claimant on a matter before Respondent, 
that contained PII, including a claimant’s full name, 
SSN, and medical history. These emails were 
exchanged between Respondent’s work email account 
and a law firm’s email address. (PX 117).

199. On December 18, 2013, Respondent 
exchanged emails with Ms. Porter, who was repre­
senting a claimant on a matter before Respondent, that 
contained PII, including a claimant’s full name, last 
four digits of the SSN, and medical history. These 
emails were exchanged between Respondent’s work 
email account and a law firm’s email address. (JX 34; 
Bice, Tr. 5:261-262; PX 130).

200. On February 25, 2014, Respondent ex­
changed emails with Ms. Porter, who was representing 
a claimant on a matter before Respondent, that 
contained PII, including a claimant’s last name and 
full SSN. These emails were exchanged between Res­
pondent’s work email account and a law firm’s email 
address. (PX 119).

201. On March 6, 2014, Respondent exchanged 
emails with Ms. McGrail, who was representing a 
claimant on a matter before Respondent, that contained 
PII, including a claimant’s last name and full SSN. 
These emails were exchanged between Respondent’s 
work email account and a hotmail.com email address. 
(PX 120).



App.llOa

202. On April 4 and 7, 2014, Respondent ex­
changed emails with Ms. Porter, who was representing 
a claimant on a matter before Respondent, that 
contained PII, including a claimant’s full name, SSN, 
date of birth, and medical history. These emails were 
exchanged between Respondent’s work email account 
and a law firm’s email address. (PX 122).

203. On May 29, 2014, Respondent exchanged 
emails with Ms. McGrail, who was representing a 
claimant on a matter before Respondent, that contained 
PII, including a claimant’s last name and SSN. 
These emails were exchanged between Respondent’s 
work email account and a hotmail.com email address. 
(PX 123).

4. Specifications 7 and 8
204. CALJ Bice acknowledged that the Appeals 

Council did not find that Respondent’s decisions had 
been influenced by the identity of any particular 
claimants’ representative. (Bice, Tr. 6:64-65).

205. CALJ Bice acknowledged that she was not 
aware of any cases where Respondent’s decisions had 
been influenced by the identity of any particular 
claimants’ representative. (Bice, Tr. 6:65, 69).

206. CAU Bice acknowledged that the emails 
used to support the Complaint (including JX 26, JX 
27, JX 31, and JX 35) show only the possibility of 
partiality or an appearance of a loss of impartiality, 
but do not show that Respondent acted impartially. 
(Bice, Tr. 6:65, 69).
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a. Specification 7
207. On January 15, 2013, Respondent wrote 

an email to Ms. McGrail, a claimant’s representative, 
in which he stated: “I just wanted to make sure your
__  was covered[.] I protect my lawyers (at least
those, like you, whom I like)[.]” (JX 26).

208. On May 30 and 31, 2013, Respondent wrote 
an email to Ms. McGrail, in which he stated: “You 
know, Linda, that my discretion has a floor and a 
ceiling, and you always get the ceiling, but to resolve 
this case without a hearing would require me to 
ascend to the stratosphere!” (JX 27).

209. On September 26, 2013, Respondent wrote 
an email to Mr. Testa, a claimant’s representative, in 
which Respondent stated: “When I have attorneys 
like you to deal with, I will be the same open, 
inquiring person I have always been, and encourage 
free-wheeling debate and discussion like we’ve always 
had. Where I have attorneys I don’t know before me, 
I’ll ask no questions other than of the VE, and that 
will be that.” (JX 31).

b. Specification 8
210. On April 16, 2014, Respondent wrote an 

email to Ms. Silva, a claimant’s representative, in which 
he stated: “Kelli, you are one of a group (fairly small 
group) of attorneys who may always contact me, bidden 
or unbidden. I respect you immensely, and value 
your input consistently. Please remember this, and 
govern yourself accordingly.” (JX 35).
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E. Charge Two: Conduct Unbecoming an 
SSAALJ

1. Specification 1
211. Ms. Linda McGrail is a claimants’ repre­

sentative who has appeared before Respondent on 
numerous occasions. (PX 84; Cooperman, Tr. 6:264).

212. On August 21, 2012, Ms. McGrail and Res­
pondent had an email exchange between Ms. 
McGrail’s hotmail.com account and Respondent’s 
work email address. (JX 24).

213. On August 21, 2012, Ms. McGrail sent an 
email to Respondent summarizing her meeting with 
her client concerning the possibility of a closed period 
of Social Security benefits and asked Respondent if 
he would consider a closed period of benefits from 
February 17, 2011 until August 15, 2012. (JX 24).

214. Respondent replied to Ms. McGrail’s email 
(F. 213) by email dated August 21, 2012: “Yes, given 
the liberal and inclusive way I am instructed to 
interpret the law (DOW v. ASTRUE, 2011 U.S. Dist 
LEXIS 94974, D Vt 2011)[.] Plus, the fact that it’s 
you as his attorney doesn’t hurt matters[.]” (JX 24; 
Cooperman, Tr. 6:264-265).

215. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
August 21, 2012 email to Ms. McGrail (F. 214) is an 
improper communication because district court deci­
sions are not precedential, the Agency does not apply 
district court law, and no one in the Agency has 
instructed ALJs to interpret the law in a liberal and 
inclusive way. (Bice, Tr. 4:346-347).
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216. In an August 21, 2012 email subsequent to 
the email referred to in F. 214, Respondent wrote to 
Ms. McGrail: “You are one of the best attorneys it 
has been my privilege to know up here and I say that 
not because I always think your cases are meritorious 
(I don’t) and not because you always agree to closed 
periods (you don’t) and not because you always do 
what I want you to (you don’t, you shouldn’t, and it 
would bore us both if you did) but because you 
practice law the way I used to, realistically, ener­
getically, and efficiently. What’s not to like about 
you?” (JX 24).

217. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
August 21, 2012 emails to Ms. McGrail (F. 214, 216) are 
improper communications because the statements— 
“[p]lus, the fact that it’s you as his attorney, doesn’t 
hurt matters”; and “what’s not to like about you?”— 
reflect an appearance of lack of impartiality. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:345-346).

218. Respondent acknowledged that his emails 
show a degree of familiarity that would have been 
inappropriate in a courtroom setting. (Cooperman, 
Tr. 6:270-271).

2. Specification 2
219. On August 31, 2012, Ms. McGrail and Res­

pondent had an email exchange between Ms. 
McGrail’s hotmail.com account and Respondent’s work 
email address. (JX 25).

220. On August 31, 2012, Ms. McGrail sent an 
email to Respondent summarizing her discussion 
with her client concerning the possibility of a closed 
period of Social Security benefits. (JX 25).
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221. By email dated August 31, 2012, Respondent 
replied to Ms. McGrail’s email (F. 220) that the 
claimant “could very well prevail [.] Or he may not, 
who knows?” Respondent also discussed with Ms. 
McGrail Respondent’s personal recreation plans and 
the personal information of another SSA AU. (JX 25).

3. Specification 3
222. On January 15, 2013, Ms. McGrail and 

Respondent had an email exchange between Ms. 
McGrail’s hotmail.com account and Respondent’s work 
email address. (JX 26).

223. In his January 15, 2013, reply email to Ms. 
McGrail, Respondent wrote: “I just wanted to make 

was covered[.] I protect my lawyers (atsure your
least those, like you, whom I like) [.]” (JX 26).

224. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
January 15, 2013 email to Ms. McGrail (F. 223) is an 
improper communication because it gives the 
appearance of a being partial to attorneys that he 
likes. (Bice, Tr. 5:225-226).

225. Respondent acknowledged that his state­
ments in the January 15, 2013 email (F. 223) could 
“raise some eyebrows” and that he could “see where 
Judge Bice would have concern[s] about that.... ” 
(Cooperman, Tr. 6:273-274).

4. Specification 4
226. On May 30 and 31, 2013, Ms. McGrail and 

Respondent had an email exchange between Ms. 
McGrail’s hotmail.com account and Respondent’s work 
email address. (JX 27).
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227. In his May 30, 2013 email to Ms. McGrail, 
Respondent identified a claimant by last name and 
discussed the claimant’s medical conditions, including 
the claimant’s physician’s name. Respondent asked 
Ms. McGrail: “How can I find someone disabled who 
is doing desk work? Indeed, why should I not regard 
such a claimant as a fraudster and refer her for 
possible prosecution.” (JX 27; Bice, Tr. 5:227-228).

228. In her May 30, 2013 email to Respondent, 
Ms. McGrail asked Respondent if he would consider 
a closed period of disability in the case referenced in 
F. 227, to which Respondent replied: “Probably need 
to have a hearing on this one[.] You know, Linda, 
that my discretion has a floor and a ceiling, and you 
always get the ceiling, but to resolve this case without 
a hearing would require me to ascend to the strato­
sphere!” (JX 27; Bice, Tr. 5:229-230).

229. In an email subsequent to the emails 
referred to in F. 227 and F. 228, on May 31, 2013 
Respondent wrote to Ms. McGrail: “[Y]our friends (of 
which [I] am flattered to consider myself one) care a 
lot about you.” (JX 27).

230. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
May 30 and 31, 2013 emails to Ms. McGrail (F. 227- 
229) are improper communications because he made 
a personal statement about how he feels about Ms. 
McGrail as a person and, by telling her, “you always 
get the ceiling,” he showed a lack of impartiality. 
(Bice, Tr. 5:228-231).



App.ll6a

5. Specification 5
231. Mr. Bainbridge Testa is a claimants’ repre­

sentative who has appeared before Respondent on 
numerous occasions. (Testa, Tr. 3:208).

232. On July 30, 2013, Mr. Testa and Respondent 
had an email exchange between Mr. Testa’s law firm 
email account and Respondent’s work email address. 
(JX 28).

233. On July 30, 2013, Respondent sent an email 
to Mr. Testa in which he began by stating, “[e]njoyed 
seeing you ... at the party last Saturday.” Respondent 
then advised Mr. Testa that Mr. Testa’s name was 
not included on a list of law firms provided by SSA to 
claimants who ask for delays in hearings in order to 
obtain representation. (JX 28).

234. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
July 30, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 233) is an improper 
communication because it intermixed personal rela­
tions with a business discussion and, by telling Mr. 
Testa that his name was not on a list given to claim­
ants seeking representation, it could create the impres­
sion of favoritism towards Mr. Testa. (Bice, Tr. 5:234- 
235, 237).

235. In Respondent’s July 30, 2013 email to Mr. 
Testa, Respondent summarized his impressions of 
four pending cases. In discussing one claimant, Res­
pondent detailed the claimant’s drug use and com­
mented, “I’ve gotta meet this guy.” In discussing 
another claimant, Respondent asked Mr. Testa, “Why 
[did] you take this case?” (JX 28).

236. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
July 30, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 235) is an
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improper communication because Respondent’s 
comments about a claimant’s drug use were inappro­
priate and failed to show respect for the Agency’s 
claimants. (Bice, Tr. 5:236).

6. Specification 6
237. On August 20, 2013, Mr. Testa and Res­

pondent had an email exchange between Mr. Testa’s 
law firm email account and Respondent’s work email 
address. (JX 29).

238. On August 20, 2013, Mr. Testa sent an email 
to Respondent in which he summarized the medical 
conditions of one of his clients and wrote: “Bottom 
line: A closed period of 18 months would be a gift, 
and gladly accepted if you see fit to resolve the case 
in this manner. Client is already on board.” (JX 29).

239. Respondent replied to Mr. Testa’s email (F. 
238) by email dated August 20, 2013 in which Res­
pondent wrote: “Just to show you the amount of good 
will you’ve banked, I set aside a decision I was 
writing to attend to your email[.]” He then wrote: 
“Having reviewed your submission and the record, I 
think your suggestion has merit, and I will grant it 
upon receiving the standard letter[.]” (JX 29).

240. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
August 20, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 239) is an 
improper communication because by stating he will 
grant Mr. Testa’s request in response to Mr. Testa’s 
suggestion that a closed period of 18 months would 
be a gift, and by referencing the “goodwill” that Mr. 
Testa has “banked,” Respondent indicates a special 
relationship with Mr. Testa and lack of impartiality. 
(Bice, Tr. 5:240).
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7. Specification 7
241. On September 17, 2013, Mr. Testa and 

Respondent had an email exchange between Mr. 
Testa’s law firm email account and Respondent’s work 
email address. (JX 30).

242. On September 17, 2013, Respondent sent 
an email to Mr. Testa in which he wrote: “I will take 
no action on [one of Mr. Testa’s client’s cases] [un]til 
Friday to give you a chance to propose suggestions if 
you have any. You may present one, or more than 
one, option for resolving this case that would be 
acceptable to your client.” (JX 30).

243. In his September 17, 2013 email to Mr. 
Testa (F. 242), Respondent also wrote: “It’s always a 
treat to have a lawyer of your ability and dedication 
to work with.” (JX 30).

244. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
September 17, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 242-243) 
is an improper communication because it creates an 
appearance of a lack of impartiality. (Bice, Tr. 5:241- 
242).

8. Specification 8
245. On September 26, 2013, Mr. Testa and 

Respondent had an email exchange between Mr. 
Testa’s law firm email account and Respondent’s work 
email address. (JX 31).

246. On September 26, 2013, Respondent sent 
an email to Mr. Testa in which Respondent described 
an arbitration involving Respondent. Respondent 
named Paul Lillios, an Associate Chief AU and 
“refer[ed] to him as the ‘Chicago hit man’ because (a)
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he comes from Chicago and (b) never-with the possible 
exception of the former [SSA] [C]ommissioner-have I 
seen a more anti-judge bureaucrat in my life.” Res­
pondent further wrote: “Lillios is an ex-AUSA, has a 
sterling CV, and is an intelligent and highly animated 
person. He is also, as noted earlier, the most anti- 
ALJ bureaucrat, save for [the former SSA Commis­
sioner] Astrue, I’ve ever seen.” (JX 31; Bice, Tr. 5:242).

247. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
September 26, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 246) is an 
improper communication because sharing personal 
information about other Agency officials and providing 
details about an arbitration involving Respondent 
personally to one of the representatives who appears 
before Respondent shows a lack of impartiality. (Bice, 
Tr. 5:244).

248. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
September 26, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 246) is an 
improper communication because expressing his 
negative opinions about an Associate Chief ALJ and 
the former Commissioner of SSA to a claimant’s rep­
resentative who does business with the Agency 
undermines public confidence in the Agency. (Bice, 
Tr. 5:243-244).

249. In his September 26, 2013 email (F. 246), 
Respondent, describing his own lawyer in the arbi­
tration, told Mr. Testa that the lawyer is, “except for 
you, the best lawyer I’ve seen in action.” Respondent 
further wrote: “No matter how this [arbitration] 
comes out, I will definitely be much less pro-active 
than I have been in handling cases. When I have 
attorneys like you to deal with, I will be the same 
open, inquiring person I have always been, and 
encourage free-wheeling debate and discussion like
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we’ve always had. Where I have attorneys I don’t 
know before me, I’ll ask no questions other than of 
the VE, and that will be that. I want to hang onto 
this job for 5 more years, and this seems like the best 
way to do it.” Respondent concluded: “Thanks for 
your concern, Bain.” (JX 31).

250. In an email subsequent to the email referred 
to in F. 246, on September 26, 2013 Respondent 
wrote to Mr. Testa: “Well, maybe you’re not the best 
lawyer I’ve ever seen, but you certainly are one of the 
best. And I have no reason to say that other than 
that it is true.” (JX 31).

251. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
September 26, 2013 emails to Mr. Testa (F. 249-250) 
are improper communications because the compliments 
of Mr. Testa and the statements that Respondent will 
treat Mr. Testa and some other attorneys differently by 
encouraging more free-wheeling debate with them 
than with other attorneys reflect an appearance of a 
lack of impartiality. (Bice, Tr. 5:245-246).

9. Specification 9
252. On December 2, 2013 and December 6, 

2013, Mr. Testa and Respondent had an email exchange 
between Mr. Testa’s law firm email account and Res­
pondent’s work email address. (JX 32).

253. On December 2, 2013, Respondent sent an 
email to Mr. Testa in which Respondent summarized 
the merits of five cases that Mr. Testa had coming 
up, including by discussing the medical evidence, 
details of ailments, and Respondent’s initial assess­
ments of the cases. (JX 32).
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254. In his December 2, 2013 email to Mr. Testa, 
Respondent began by writing: “First off, I hope you had 
a happy Thanksgiving. I had a couple of adventures 
during mine, about which I will tell you when we get 
a chance to get together.” (JX 32).

255. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
December 2, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 254) is an 
improper communication because it gives the appear­
ance of a lack of impartiality as it indicates a personal 
relationship with Mr. Testa. (Bice, Tr. 5:247).

256. In his December 2, 2013 email to Mr. Testa, 
in discussing the pending claim of a juvenile, Res­
pondent wrote: “[M]om says the kid says God talks to 
him-don’t you wish God would talk to you 
occasionally?” (JX 32).

257. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
December 2, 2013 email to Mr. Testa (F. 256) is an 
improper communication because it demonstrates a 
lack of courtesy and respect. (Bice, Tr. 5:248).

258. Following up on his December 2, 2013 email 
(F. 253-254, 256), Respondent sent emails to Mr. 
Testa on Friday, December 6, 2013 stating: “I’ll hang 
around until 2:30 for any communication you have” 
and tells Mr. Testa, “If you wish, you may always 
email me over the weekend at [,
(JX 32).

J@yahoo.com.”

259. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
email exchange with Mr. Testa and invitation to 
contact him at home over the weekend through his 
personal email address (F. 258) are improper 
communications because Respondent conveys an 
appearance of loss of impartiality due to his personal 
relationship with Mr. Testa. (Bice, Tr. 5:249-250).
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10. Specification 10
260. On February 10, 2014, Mr. Testa and Res­

pondent had an email exchange between Mr. Testa’s 
law firm email account and Respondent’s work email 
address. (JX 28).

261. On February 10, 2014, Respondent sent an 
email to Mr. Testa in which Respondent summarized 
the claimant’s injuries and provided his impressions 
of the evidence. Respondent wrote: “I think one- 
though not the only-appropriate resolution would be 
a fully favorable with an onset date of July 1, 2013. 
This accounts for his physical activity over the summer 
of 2013, discussed above, and takes into account the 
views of [two doctors]. It also provides you with a fee, 
which although cannot be my primary concern is 
nevertheless, given the effort you put forth in this 
case, a factor I must consider.” (JX 33; Bice, Tr. 5:253).

262. The fee of the representative is never a 
consideration in making a decision as to whether or 
not a claimant is entitled to disability benefits or 
eligible for supplemental security income disability 
and should not enter into an ALJ’s decision. (Bice, 
Tr. 5:253-254).

263. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
February 10, 2014 email to Mr. Testa (F. 261) is an 
improper communication because, by considering 
whether Mr. Testa receives a fee, Respondent is 
showing partiality to Mr. Testa. (Bice, Tr. 5:254).

264. In a February 12, 2014 reply email from 
Mr. Testa to Respondent, Mr. Testa wrote: “I shared 
with my wife the information I wrote down during 
our post-hearing discussion yesterday. She was pleased 
to have it,” to which Respondent replied by February
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12, 2014 email: “Hope your wife takes action on that 
information.” (JX 33).

265. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
February 12, 2014 email to Mr. Testa (F. 264) is an 
improper communication because it intermixed 
personal relations with a business discussion, which 
gives the appearance of a lack of impartiality. (Bice, 
Tr. 5:255).

11. Specification 11
266. Ms. Bonita Porter is a claimants’ repre­

sentative who appears before Respondent. (PX 84; 
Cooperman, Tr. 6:277).

267. On December 18, 2013, Ms. Porter and 
Respondent had an email exchange between Ms. 
Porter’s law firm email account and Respondent’s 
work email address. (JX 34).

268. On December 18, 2013, Ms. Porter sent an 
email to Respondent in which she summarized medical 
evidence relating to one of her clients and stated that 
“these records are being submitted via ERE and you 
should have them momentarily.” Ms. Porter concluded 
her email by writing: “It is my hope that once you 
review this, you may decide that an on the record 
fully favorable decision is appropriate.” (JX 34).

269. Respondent replied to Ms. Porter’s email 
(F. 268) by stating: “Bonnie, I don’t have the latest 
stuff you sent me yet, but if you are telling me as an 
officer of the court and my friend that the claimant 
did indeed undergo a fusion in October 2013 then, as 
you have requested, I would give you an FF OTR 
effective 9/1/12, which is more favorable than what



App.l24a

you presently seek but, in my view, more in accordance 
with the evidence.” (JX 34).

270. In an email subsequent to the email referred 
to in F. 269, Respondent wrote: “Will be done today, 
Bon. Do me a favor and send me an email indicating 
that this is acceptable to you, you’ve talked with the 
claimant and it is acceptable to him, and that he 
makes the decision to change his AOD knowingly 
and voluntarily.” (JX 34).

271. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
December 18, 2013 emails to Ms. Porter (F. 269-270) 
are improper communications because by stating, “I 
don’t have the latest stuff you sent me,” which refers 
to the medical records, and stating that he will decide 
the case without reviewing the medical evidence, but 
based instead on the assertions of an officer of the 
court and his friend, Respondent was appearing to 
provide a special favor to Ms. Porter and a lack of 
impartiality. (Bice, Tr. 5:262-263).

12. Specification 12
272. Ms. Kelli Silva is a claimants’ representa­

tive who appears before Respondent. (PX 84; Bice, 
Tr. 5:264).

273. On April 16, 2014, Ms. Silva and Respondent 
had an email exchange between Ms. Silva’s gmail.com 
account and Respondent’s work email address. (JX 
35).

274. On April 16, 2014, Respondent wrote an 
email to Ms. Silva, with regard to her claimant’s case 
the day before, in which he stated he was “prepared 
to decide it but, before I do, I want your input on
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what the possible options are for me to choose from.” 
(JX 35).

275. Ms. Silva responded to Respondent’s email 
(F. 274): “Thank you for allowing me this opportunity. 
I was going to email yesterday, but wasn’t sure if it 
was appropriate.” (JX 35).

276. Respondent replied to Ms. Silva’s email (F. 
275): “Kelli, you are one of a group (fairly small 
group) of attorneys who may always contact me, bidden 
or unbidden. I respect you immensely, and value 
your input consistently. Please remember this, and 
govern yourself accordingly.” (JX 35).

277. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
April 16, 2014 emails (F. 274, 276) to Ms. Silva are 
improper communications because stating that he 
has a fairly small group of attorneys who he allows to 
contact him, bidden or unbidden creates an appearance 
of a loss of impartiality. (Bice, Tr. 5:265). .

13. Specification 13
278. On September 5, 2014, Ms. Silva and Res­

pondent had an email exchange between Ms. Silva’s 
law firm email address and Respondent’s work email 
address. (JX 36).

279. By email dated September 5, 2014, Ms. 
Silva stated, with respect to a claimant, that she has 
just submitted an OTR (on-the-record) via electronic 
records express and fax and asked Respondent if he 
would like her to email the OTR to him as well. (JX 
36).

280. By email dated September 5, 2014, Res­
pondent asked Ms. Silva to send him the OTR refer-
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enced in F. 279 via email and Ms. Silva did so. (JX 
36).

281. By email dated September 5, 2014, Res­
pondent informed Ms. Silva that she “may have an 
issue with fees” because another attorney had filed a 
Form 1696 as the claimant’s representative and had 
not withdrawn as representative. He further wrote: 
“I suggest you either contact him and square this 
away, or prepare and file a fee petition.” (JX 36; Bice, 
Tr. 5:267-268).

14. Specification 14
282. Mr. Paul Durkee is a claimants’ represent­

ative who appears before Respondent. (Durkee, Tr. 
3:159-161).

283. On September 27, 2013, October 1, 2013, 
and October 2, 2013, Mr. Durkee and Respondent had 
an email exchange between Mr. Durkee’s verizon.net 
account and Respondent’s personal yahoo.com email 
address and his work email address. (JX 37).

284. Respondent replied to Mr. Durkee’s Sep­
tember 27, 2013 by email sent from his work email 
address in which Respondent commented on the 
medical opinion of one of the doctors and stated the 
doctor’s “letter helps you, of course. But his 
longitudinal history with the claimant is minimal, 
and his report appears primarily a recitation of what 
the claimant told him.” Respondent also wrote: “[ 
letter and notes also help you, but still leave to me 
the question of how credible, or incredible this woman 
is.” (JX 37).

285. In his September 27, 2013 email to Mr. 
Durkee, Respondent wrote: “Let’s have a hearing
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with her, and after taking testimony well figure out 
jointly what the best result is.... Plus, having a 
hearing with her will give me the pleasure of having 
a superlative lawyer before me, something I always 
relish.” (JX 37).

286. In an email sent after the hearing, Res­
pondent sent an email on October 1, 2013 from his 
personal yahoo.com account to Mr. Durkee in which 
Respondent wrote: “You are a dedicated advocate, 
Paul and, quite frankly, your passion for these cases 
reminds me of, well, me at a younger age. Except, 
unlike you, I was never fortunate enough to have the 
opportunity to appear before a Judge with whom I 
could have these types of ‘out of court’ dialogues.” (JX 
37; Bice, Tr. 5:273-274).

287. In his October 1, 2013 email from his per­
sonal yahoo.com account to Mr. Durkee, Respondent 
also wrote: “[T]he proper question is ‘What is [the 
claimant] going to do to help herself, and when is she 
going to do it? And when is she going to stop taking 
advantage of people like her aunt and grandparents 
(and maybe you?) who are trying to help her?’ That, 
my good friend, is the question that needs to be 
answered. Whether it involves getting several alarm 
clocks, or getting a grip on her temper vis-a-vis her 
relatives, she needs to take responsibility and 
accountability for her actions.” (JX 37).

288. In response to Respondent’s October 1, 2013 
email (F. 287), Mr. Durkee wrote: ‘Would you at 
least consider a closed period in this case where you 
have done so in so many cases before with much less 
evidence. Surely she should not be left with nothing. 
I thought your email prior to hearing suggested that 
we would jointly work something out post hearing. A
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closed period would obviously motivate her to get 
moving. I will encourage her. Won’t you please soften 
your position a little and consider a closed period.” 
(JX 37).

289. From the Agency’s perspective, Respondent’s 
September 27, 2013 and October 1, 2013 emails to 
Mr. Durkee (F. 284-287) are improper communications 
because the comments about having the pleasure of a 
superlative lawyer before him and about Mr. Durkee 
reminding Respondent of himself gives the appearance 
that Respondent may have granted a closed period 
determination based on his good relationship with 
the lawyer. (Bice, Tr. 5:275-276).

15. Specification 15
290. On July 8, 2013, Respondent sent an email 

to Ms. Porter. The subject line of the email states: 
“FW: Bice just violated federal law and thumbed 
nose at US Supreme Court.” In his email to Ms. 
Porter, Respondent forwarded an email Respondent 
had received and wrote: “Thought you would enjoy 
seeing this email, received from one of my colleagues 
in another state. The names of most people have 
been removed to protect the innocent. ‘Bice’ is Debra 
Bice, the national chief judge of the ALJ’s in this 
agency. I particularly enjoyed how the memo itself 
indicates that the Office of General Counsel (the law­
yers within SSA whose job it is to give advice to the 
commissioner, which usually includes ways to take 
unfair advantage of the Judges) and the Justice 
Department are ‘interpreting’ the WINDSOR decision 
(the one in which the Defense of Marriage Act, or 
DOMA, was declared unconstitutional). . .. Anyway,
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thought you’d enjoy a little ‘inside baseball’ stuff.” 
(JX 38).

291. In the email that Respondent forwarded to 
Ms. Porter (F. 290), the author wrote: “Bice is just a 
complete idiot. She sent out a memo which orders 
USA ALJS to violate federal law.” (JX 38).

16. Specification 16
292. On April 25, 2012, Don Austin, of DA’s 

Auto Rental, wrote to Respondent: “In regards to our 
discussion, here is the information,” and provided a 
name, a date of birth, a Social Security number, and 
a phone number. Mr. Austin further wrote: “Any help 
will be appreciated.” (JX 39; Bice, Tr. 5:280-282).

293. On July 8, 2013, Respondent wrote an email 
to Don Austin, of DA’s Auto Rental, stating: “Hope 
all is well with you and the family. I regret not 
having rented any cars lately, but the social security 
administration is being tight with a buck (actually, 
they spend money where they shouldn’t and fail to 
spend where they should) so, for the moment, that’s 
that.” He then wrote that he has a road trip planned 
and is considering renting a car to make the trip and 
asked: “Got a good rate for me that would justify me 
in leaving my car at home?” (JX 39; Bice, Tr. 5:280- 
282).

F. Whistleblower Defense

1. Grievances filed by Respondent
294. In 2010, Respondent filed a grievance regard­

ing a counseling memorandum he received. The 
grievance went to arbitration and the arbitrator 
upheld Respondent’s position that the counseling
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memorandum was not proper. (Masengill, Tr. 1:282- 
283).

295. After the 2010 grievance (F. 294), Res­
pondent filed a second grievance regarding a letter of 
reprimand on four specific specifications. The grievance 
went to arbitration and the arbitrator upheld the 
Agency’s position. (Masengill, Tr. 1:283).

296. HOCAU Masengill was aware of both of 
Respondent’s grievances (F. 294-295). (Masengill, 
Tr. 1:282-283).

297. CALJ Bice was aware that Respondent had 
filed at least one grievance at the time that she auth­
orized the filing of the Complaint in this matter. 
(Bice, Tr. 6:198).

2. Statements regarding health and 
safety

298. In 2011 or 2012, Respondent stated to 
HOCALJ Masengill that there had been instances 
around the country in which ALJs had been physically 
attacked as they were leaving the office, that many 
claimants appearing before Respondent have severe 
mental problems, that the only barrier to entry to the 
ODAR offices in the Springfield building was a single 
armed guard, and that Respondent felt that the Agency 
was not adequately securing the office. (Cooperman, 
Tr. 7:72-74).

299. Respondent took a firearms course, received 
a certificate of competence from Smith & Wesson, 
and asked HOCALJ Masengill if he could carry a 
firearm on his person during business hours. HOCALJ 
Masengill declined to allow Respondent to bring his 
personal firearm to work. (Cooperman, Tr. 7:76).
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300. RCALJ Sax and CALJ Bice were aware of 
Respondent’s statements regarding security at the 
Springfield ODAR building and of Respondent’s request 
to bring a personal firearm to work. In response to an 
email forwarded by RCALJ Sax, CALJ Bice requested 
that HOCALJ Masengill remind Respondent that he 
is not allowed to bring a firearm or weapon into the 
office. (Bice, Tr. 6:184-186).

301. On July 15, 2015, HOCALJ Masengill in­
formed Nicholas LoBurgio, the Acting RCALJ for 
Region 1, that Respondent had been given a written 
directive not to bring a weapon to work. (RX 58).

3. Letter to the Office of Inspector 
General

302. Respondent wrote a letter, dated November 
15, 2012, to Patrick O’Carroll, Jr., the Inspector Gen­
eral of SSA (“November 15, 2012 letter to OIG”). In 
this letter, Respondent described two cases that he 
had recently decided. In one of these cases, the claim­
ant’s counsel filed a motion to recuse Respondent, 
accusing Respondent of inappropriate conduct. In the 
other case, the claimant’s counsel filed a complaint 
with ODAR management, seeking a reversal of Res­
pondent’s decision based in part on Respondent’s 
alleged misconduct in the case. (Cooperman, Tr. 7:62- 
63; JX 53).

303. Respondent’s November 15, 2012 letter to 
OIG stated that after receiving the motion to recuse 
Respondent and the complaint filed against Respondent 
described in F. 302, management of ODAR Region 1 
decided to hold a Weingarten meeting with Respondent, 
which occurred on October 25, 2012 (F. 101). Respond­
ent’s letter further stated that Respondent believed
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that management’s decision to hold a Weingarten 
meeting in connection with these two instances was 
“serious mismanagement.” (JX 53).

304. Respondent does not know whether or not 
his chain of command knew about his November 15, 
2012 letter to OIG. (Cooperman, Tr. 7:63-64).

305. CALJ Bice was not aware of the November 
15, 2012 letter to OIG at the time that she authorized 
the filing of the Complaint in this matter. (Bice, 
Tr. 6:197).

4. Complaint to the Office of Special 
Counsel

306. In 2013, Respondent filed a complaint with 
the Office of Special Counsel (“OSC”) in which he 
complained that the Agency was engaging in 
mismanagement and interference with Respondent’s 
qualified decisional independence. (Cooperman, 
Tr. 7:65-66; see RX 23 (September 11, 2013 letter from 
OSC summarizing Respondent’s complaint to OSC)).H

307. In a September 11, 2013 letter from OSC 
to Respondent, OSC summarized Respondent’s com­
plaint to OSC as follows: “[Y]ou alleged that officials 
with the Social Security Administration Office of 
Disability Adjudication and Review (ODAR) have 
threatened to take disciplinary action against you in 
reprisal for disclosing ODAR management’s misuse 
of disciplinary proceedings in order to coerce you into 
1) deciding cases differently and 2) not speaking with

11 Neither party has cited to the complaint filed by Respondent 
to OSC and a review of the exhibits indicates that Respondent’s 
complaint to OSC is not in evidence in this case.
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counsel about a case prior to the commencement of a 
hearing.” (RX 23).

308. OSC’s September 11, 2013 letter accurately 
summarized Respondent’s complaint to OSC. 
(Cooperman, Tr. 7:66).

309. HOCALJ Masengill was not personally or 
directly aware that Respondent had filed a complaint 
with OSC, but learned of it through “rumor passed 
on to [him] by one of the judges in the office.” 
(Masengill, Tr. 1:282).

310. On July 15, 2015, HOCALJ Masengill 
informed Acting RCALJ LoBurgio that Respondent 
had filed a complaint with OSC. (RX 58).

311. CALJ Bice was not aware that Respondent 
had filed a complaint with the OSC at the time that 
she authorized the filing of the Complaint in this 
matter. (Bice, Tr. 6:197).

5. Complaint to the MSPB
312. On or about April 4, 2013, Respondent 

filed a complaint with MSPB, Leonard Cooperman v. 
SSA, PH 1221-13-0298-W-l, alleging that the Agency 
had retaliated against him for engaging in protected 
whistleblower activity when it scheduled and conducted 
a Weingarten meeting with Respondent (“Respondent’s 
MSPB complaint”). The case was dismissed on juris­
dictional grounds. (PX 17 (Answer to Interrogatory No. 
8); Cooperman, Tr. 7:69-70).

313. Respondent’s MSPB complaint (F. 312) 
involved substantially similar allegations as those he 
raised with the OSC in 2013 (F. 306-307). (Cooperman, 
Tr. 7:69-70).
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314. CALJ Bice was not aware that Respondent 
had filed a complaint with MSPB at the time that 
she authorized the filing of the Complaint in this 
matter. (Bice, Tr. 6:197-198).

6. Letter to members of Congress
315. Respondent wrote a letter, dated November 

4, 2014, addressed to United States Senators Sherrod 
Brown and Pat Toomey, stating that he wished to 
call to their attention what Respondent called “serious 
misconduct by the senior management of the SSA 
(including the inspector general’s office).” (RX 54 
(“November 4, 2014 letter to members of Congress”)).

316. In the November 4, 2014 letter to members 
of Congress, Respondent stated that he was contacted 
by the management of the Agency because, according 
to Respondent, someone within the Agency was con­
cerned that (i) Respondent was awarding closed 
period of benefits in more cases than the Agency 
thought appropriate, and (ii) Respondent was nego­
tiating with counsel about whether closed periods 
were appropriate. (RX 54).

317. In the November 4, 2014 letter to members 
of Congress, Respondent stated that he had complained 
to Patrick O’Carroll, the head of the SSA Office of 
Inspector General, but that other than interviewing 
Respondent in late 2012, OIG did nothing to investigate 
Respondent’s concerns. (RX 54).

318. In the November 4, 2014 letter to members 
of Congress, Respondent stated that in October 2014, 
investigators from OIG appeared in Respondent’s 
office to interview Respondent, but that because he
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had not had advance notice, Respondent declined to 
speak with the OIG investigators. (RX 54).

319. In the November 4, 2014 letter to members 
of Congress, Respondent stated his belief that he had 
been targeted by the management of the Agency and 
by OIG “for retaliatory action simply for attempting 
to have management misconduct addressed.” (RX 54).

320. In the November 4, 2014 letter to members 
of Congress, Respondent noted what he referred to as 
the “rot which appears pervasive at the top levels of 
SSA management has spread to the inspector general’s 
office. If Inspector General O’Carroll was not aware 
of what his employees were doing in this regard, he 
should have been. If he was aware of what they were 
doing, then a different situation presents itself.” (RX 
54).

321. CALJ Bice was not aware that Respondent 
had written the November 4, 2014 letter to members 
of Congress at the time that she authorized the filing 
of the Complaint in this matter. (Bice, Tr. 6:198).

G. Penalty
322. Because SSA administers a national pro­

gram, SSA ALJs must follow the Social Security Act, 
regulations, rulings, and policies of the Agency to 
ensure consistent application of that program. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:333-334; Cooperman, Tr. 7:79-80).

323. It is important to the Agency for every ALJ 
to follow the regulations, rules, and policies of the 
Agency. (Bice, Tr. 4:333-334).
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324. As an ALJ, Respondent holds a visible and 
public position that is subject to scrutiny. (Bice, 
Tr. 5:295).

325. An ALJ holds the highest-paid position in 
a hearing office. (Bice, Tr. 5:296).

326. CAU Bice is not confident that Respondent 
will change his conduct to comply with Agency policies 
and adjudicate cases in accordance with the Social 
Security Act, regulations and policies, including the 
medical improvement standard contained in the 
Agency’s regulations. (Bice, Tr. 4:333-334; 5:286, 288- 
289).

327. Respondent’s repeated disclosures of PII 
and email communications conveying the appearance 
of a loss of impartiality has undermined CALJ Bice’s 
confidence in Respondent. (Bice, Tr. 5:286, 290-291).

328. CALJ Bice has sought the removal of another 
ALJ for neglect of duty in failing to follow the 
sequential evaluation process required by Agency 
regulations. That case is pending. (Bice, Tr. 5:291-292).

329. CALJ Bice was unaware of any ALJs 
removed due to failure to safeguard PII, and acknow­
ledged that no MSPB case has authorized removal of 
an ALJ for issuing decisions that were not policy 
compliant. (Bice, Tr. 6:145-147).

330. Respondent has been on administrative 
leave with pay since October 1, 2015. (Bice, 
Tr. 4:288; Cooperman, Tr. 6:211).

331. A district court magistrate was aware that 
Respondent violated Agency regulations and HALLEX 
by failing to summarize on the record at a hearing 
the content of an off-the-record conversation. That
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court held in a published decision that the hearing 
conducted by Respondent violated the claimant’s due 
process rights. The court’s order required the Agency 
to provide a copy of the opinion to Respondent, and, 
when HOCALJ Masengill did so, Respondent indicated 
that he thought the opinion was incorrect. (PX 64 
(.Betancourt v. Astrue, 824 F. Supp. 2d 211, 215-17 
(2011)); Masengill, Tr. 1:232-233).

332. Since late 2014 or early 2015, Respondent 
changed his email practices regarding PII to refer to 
claimants by their first name and last initial, and to 
use only the last four digits of claimants’ Social 
Security numbers. (Cooperman, Tr. 6:261-262).

333. Over time, Respondent began to memorialize 
on the record more of the content of his off-the-record 
conversations than he had in the past. (Masengill, 
Tr. 2:65-66).

334. In the opinion of three claimants’ repre­
sentatives who have appeared before Respondent, 
Respondent is very intelligent and fair as a judge. 
(Durkee, Tr. 3:181; Testa, Tr. 3:210; see also DiScipio, 
Tr. 2:13-14 (opining that Respondent is a capable 
Judge)).

335. HOCALJ Masengill characterized Respond­
ent as having a positive, good work ethic. (Masengill, 
Tr. 1:208).

336. Respondent has previously received a 
reprimand from the Agency for criticizing the Appeals 
Council. (Bice, Tr. 5:249).

337. One of HOCALJ Masengill’s responsibilities 
is to deal with complaints made by individuals or 
claimant’s representatives. HOCALJ Masengill esti-
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mated that 80 percent of his workload in this area of 
his duties involved complaints regarding Respond­
ent’s conduct of hearings or treatment of claimants. 
(Massengill, Tr. 1:209, 2:122).

338. Respondent has been an AU since 2005 
and has been a productive ALJ. (Bice, Tr. 5:301).

III. Analysis

A. Introduction
Petitioner Social Security Administration (“SSA” 

or the “Agency”), pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 7521, requests 
that the Merit Systems Protection Board (“MSPB” or 
“Board”) find good cause to remove Leonard Cooperman 
(“Respondent”) from the position of Administrative 
Law Judge (“AU”), and to suspend him from pay 
status from the date of the Complaint through the 
date of a final decision by the Board. Respondent has 
been an ALJ with the SSA Office of Disability Adju­
dication and Review (“ODAR”)12 since 2005. F. 1. As 
an SSA ALJ, as discussed in further detail below, 
Respondent’s primary duties are to hold hearings and 
to decide cases under the programs administered by 
SSA. F. 26.

An agency may impose disciplinary action on an 
Administrative Law Judge “only for good cause 
established and determined by the Merit Systems 
Protection Board on the record after opportunity for 
hearing before the Board.” 5 U.S.C. § 7521(a). There 
is no statutory definition of the “good cause” standard

12 ODAR is the component of SSA that manages hearing opera­
tions and appeals for claims under Titles II and XVI of the 
Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. chapter 7. F. 4.
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in 5 U.S.C. § 7521, “leaving the interpretation of the 
term to the adjudicatory process and the facts of each 
case.” SSA v. Long, 113 M.S.P.R. 190, 196-97 (2010) 
(citing Brennan v. Dep’t of Health & Human Services, 
787 F.2d 1559, 1561-62 (Fed. Cir. 1986); SSA v. 
Mills, 73 M.S.P.R. 463, 467-68 (1996)). “The Board 
determined that the good cause standard must be 
construed as including all matters which affect the 
ability and fitness of the AU to perform the duties of 
office.” Abrams v. SSA, 703 F.3d 538, 543 (Fed. Cir. 
2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). Good cause 
must be proven by a preponderance of the evidence. 
Brennan, 787 F.2d at 1561; Long, 113 M.S.P.R. at 
196-97.

In the instant case, the Agency contends that 
there is good cause to suspend and remove Respondent 
due to Respondent’s alleged neglect of duties (“Charge 
1”) and conduct unbecoming an Administrative Law 
Judge (“Charge 2”). Respondent denies both Charges. 
If it is determined that the Charges are supported by 
preponderant evidence, it must be determined whether 
such conduct constitutes good cause to impose the 
discipline proposed by the employing agency. Brennan, 
787 F.2d at 1561-62.

The Analysis first addresses the proof of the 
Charges against Respondent (sections B and C). The 
Analysis next addresses Respondent’s affirmative 
defense of whistleblower retaliation (section D). Finally, 
the Analysis addresses penalty (section E).

As explained below, the Agency has proven that 
Respondent neglected his duties (Charge 1) and that 
Respondent engaged in conduct unbecoming an ALJ 
(Charge 2). Respondent’s whistleblower defense is 
without merit. Based on the factors set forth in Douglas
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v. Veterans Admin., 5 M.S.P.R. 280 (1981), the appro­
priate penalty for Respondent’s misconduct is sus­
pension without pay for a period of 180 calendar 
days. The Agency has failed to demonstrate that 5 
U.S.C. § 7521 allows a retroactive application of a 
penalty.

B. Charge 1-Neglect of Duties
Charge 1 alleges that Respondent neglected his 

duties as an SSA ALJ, based upon eight specifications 
that can be categorized as follows: failure to comply 
with Agency regulations and policy governing closed 
period of disability decisions (Specifications 1 and 2); 
failure to make a complete record of hearing proceed­
ings (Specifications 3 and 4); failure to safeguard 
personal identifiable information (“PIF’) (Specifications 
5 and 6); and failure to act in a fair and impartial 
manner (Specifications 7 and 8). A charge of neglect 
of duty requires that the Agency prove: (1) a duty; (2) 
the respondent’s awareness of the duty; and (3) the 
respondent’s breach of that duty. Williams v. Dep’t of 
Veterans Affairs, 65 M.S.P.R. 612, 614-16 (1994).

As further explained in detail herein, the 
preponderance of the evidence supports Specifications 
1 through 6, and accordingly, those Specifications are 
sustained. The Agency has failed to meet its burden 
of proof as to Specifications 7 and 8 and, therefore, 
those Specifications are not sustained. However, Spe­
cifications 1 through 6 are more than sufficient to 
sustain the charge of neglect of duty by Respondent. 
It is well-established that “where more than one 
event or factual specification is set out to support a 
single charge, . . . proof of one or more, but not all, of 
the supporting specifications is sufficient to sustain



App.l41a

the charge.” Burroughs v. Dep’t of the Army, 918 F.2d 
170, 172 (Fed. Cir. 1990); see Greenough v. Dep’t of 
the Army, 73 M.S.P.R. 648, 656-57 (1997) (sustaining 
charge despite finding failure to prove one of three 
specifications, and stating: “An agency is required to 
prove only the essence of its charge. It need not prove 
each factual specification supporting its charge. . . . ”) 
(citations omitted). Accord Diaz v. Dep’t of the Army, 
56 M.S.P.R. 415, 418-20 (1993) (finding a charge 
proven based on eight specifications, four of which 
were sustained in part); Crawford v. Dep’t of the 
Treasury, 56 M.S.P.R. 224, 232 (1993) (holding that 
partly sustained specification is sufficient to sustain 
a charge). Based on the proven specifications, the 
Agency has met its burden of proving Charge 1.

1. Specifications 1 and 2
The Agency alleges that Respondent breached 

his duty to comply with Agency regulations and 
policy in fiscal years 2013 and 2014 with regard to 
closed period of disability decisions (Specifications 1 
and 2). A closed period of disability decision (at times 
referred to by the Parties, the witnesses, and SSA 
documents as a “CPOD”) finds that a claimant became 
disabled at a point in time and is entitled to disability 
benefits, but further finds that the claimant, as of a 
subsequent date, experienced medical improvement 
in his or her medical condition related to the ability 
to work, such that the claimant can engage in sub­
stantial gainful activity (“SGA”). F. 37. That claimant 
is therefore deemed to be no longer disabled, and 
disability benefits cease. F. 37.

The Agency argues that Respondent breached 
his duty to issue policy compliant closed period of
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disability decisions by failing to provide the analysis 
required by Agency regulations and policy to support 
a finding of medical improvement related to the 
ability to do work, including by relying solely on the 
claimant’s acknowledgement of medical improvement 
and/or failing to support the determination with 
objective medical evidence. Respondent argues that 
the Agency has failed to prove the applicable standard 
of care by which to evaluate Respondent’s closed 
period of disability decisions, or identify the specific 
regulations or policies with which he allegedly failed 
to comply. Respondent further argues that the Agency 
has failed to prove that Respondent was aware of the 
Agency’s expectations regarding closed period of 
disability decisions, or that Respondent breached his 
duty to comply with Agency statutes, regulations, or 
rules with regard to his closed period of disability 
decisions. I3

a. Duties applicable to the issuance 
of closed period of disability 
decisions

As an ALJ, Respondent’s principal responsibilities 
are to hold a full and fair hearing and issue a legally 
sufficient and defensible decision. F. 27. A legally 
sufficient decision is one that provides findings, a

13 jn addition, Respondent argues that the Agency failed to 
prove that Respondent had sufficient notice of his alleged fail­
ures to comply with Agency regulations and policy and that the 
Agency is attempting to discipline him for the content of his 
decisions, thereby impermissibly interfering with Respondent’s 
qualified decisional independence. Because Respondent makes 
these arguments in defense to Specifications 1, 2, 3, and 4, they 
are addressed at the conclusion of the analysis of those Specif­
ications at section 3 below.
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rationale that complies with the Social Security Act, 
Agency regulations, rulings, and policies, and an 
explanation of why a preponderance of the evidence 
supports the decision. F. 28. Respondent, as an ALJ, 
has a duty to issue decisions that are “legally sufficient” 
and “policy compliant,” meaning in compliance with 
the Social Security Act, regulations, rulings and 
Agency policies. F. 29. For shorthand purposes in 
this Initial Decision, and consistent with the usage 
in the record, the term “policy compliant” refers to 
Respondent’s duty to issue decisions that comply 
with the Social Security Act, and Agency regulations, 
rulings, and policies.

With respect to closed periods of disability, 
Section 223(f) of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 423(f), requires that a cessation of disability benefits 
be supported by substantial evidence of medical 
improvement and the ability to work in a substantially 
gainful activity.14 SSA’s implementing regulations, 
specifically 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1594 and 416.994, set 
out in detail how SSA determines whether a disability 
has ceased.15 In general, this requires a determination

14 Section 223(f) provides, in pertinent part, that an individual 
who is determined to be disabled “may be determined not to be 
entitled to such benefits on the basis of a finding that the physical 
or mental impairment on the basis of which such benefits are 
provided has ceased, does not exist, or is not disabling only if such 
finding is supported by... (1) substantial evidence [demon­
strating] there has been any medical improvement in the indi­
vidual’s impairment or combination of impairments. . . and (2) 
the individual is now able to engage in substantial gainful 
activity.” 42 U.S.C. § 423(f).

The material provisions of 20 C.F.R. § 416.994 are substan­
tially identical to 20 C.F.R. §404.1594. 20 C.F.R. §416.994 
governs “How we will determine whether your disability continues
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of whether “there has been any medical improvement 
in [the claimant’s] impairment(s) and, if so, whether 
this medical improvement is related to [the claimant’s] 
ability to work.” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(a).

Medical improvement is defined in the regulations 
as “any decrease in the medical severity of [the claim­
ant’s] impairment(s). ...” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(1). 
“A determination that there has been a decrease in 
medical severity must be based on changes (improve­
ment) in the symptoms, signs and/or laboratory 
findings associated with [the] impairment(s) (see 
§ 404.1528).” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(1). See also 20 
C.F.R. § 404.1594(c)(1) (providing that medical 
improvement is “determined by a comparison of prior 
and current medical evidence which must show that 
there have been changes (improvement) in the 
symptoms, signs or laboratory findings associated 
with that impairment(s)”).

Medical improvement is related to the ability to 
work “if there here has been a decrease in the 
severity” of the impairment(s) and “an increase in 
[the claimant’s] functional capacity to do basic work 
activities.” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(3). This requires 
a comparison of the claimant’s “current functional 
capacity to do basic work activities (i.e.f [the] residual 
function capacity)” with the “prior residual functional 
capacity.” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(7). See also 20 
C.F.R. § 404.1594(c)(2) (“In determining whether 
medical improvement that has occurred is related to

or ends, disabled adults.” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594 governs “How 
we will determine whether your disability continues or ends.” 
Respondent’s assertion that 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594 is a mere 
notice provision is rejected.
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your ability to do work, we will assess your residual 
functional capacity. . . based on the current severity 
of the impairment(s) . . . ”). However, even if there 
has been medical improvement related to the ability 
to do work, disability will not be found to have ended 
unless it is also shown that [the claimant is] currently 
“able to engage in substantial gainful activity.” 20 
C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(5).

In addition, the above-referenced regulations 
governing whether a disability has ended due to 
medical improvement related to the ability to work 
further require consideration of “all evidence” 
submitted, including evidence from “treating 
physician(s) and other medical or nonmedical sources” 
and a determination “made on the basis of the 
weight of the evidence.” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(6). 
Similarly, the Agency’s Hearing Appeals and Litigation 
Law Manual (“HALLEX”), see F. 33, requires that all 
ALJ decisions must “provide the rationale for the 
ALJ’s findings of fact and conclusions of law, by 
including” as applicable, “[a]n explanation of the 
finding(s) on each issue that leads to the ultimate 
conclusion, including citing and discussing supporting 
evidence” and “[a] discussion of the weight assigned 
to various pieces of evidence. . . . ” F. 48. HALLEX, 
which is designed to amplify and provide more specif­
icity regarding regulations and rulings, constitutes 
written Agency policy that is binding on Administrative 
Law Judges. F. 33.

Moreover, as set forth below, Agency witnesses 
testified, consistently with the regulations summarized 
above, that the medical improvement standards in 
the regulations apply to the cessation of benefits pur­
suant to a closed period of disability decision. F. 44.
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Agency witnesses also explained what the Agency 
requires for an ALJ decision to meet the regulatory 
standards, including that the ALJ’s decision awarding 
a closed period of disability benefits describe, explain, 
and support a finding of medical improvement with 
medical evidence, and that a claimant’s acknowledge­
ment of improvement alone is not sufficient. F. 46-47, 
49-51. To the extent that the Agency’s requirements 
for closed period of disability decisions reflect the 
Agency’s interpretation of regulatory standards or 
HALLEX, “[p]olicies designed to insure a reasonable 
degree of uniformity among ALJ decisions are not 
only within the bounds of legitimate agency supervision 
but are to be encouraged.” Nash v. Bowen, 869 F.2d 
675, 680 (2nd Cir. 1989). “It is, after all, the Secretary 
who ultimately is authorized to make final decisions 
in benefit cases.” Id. (citing Baker v. Heckler, 730 
F.2d 1147, 1150 (8th Cir. 1984)). “An ALJ is a 
creature of statute and, as such, is subordinate to the 
Secretary in matters of policy and interpretation of 
law.” Id.

Associate Chief Administrative Law Judge 
(“ACALJ”) Mark Sochaczewsky1^ explained that in 
order to find that a demonstrated disability ended on 
a certain date due to medical improvement, as is 
required to award a closed period of disability benefits, 
the decision that is issued must describe the medical 
improvement that occurred. F. 49. ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky further explained that where medical 
improvement occurs, the ALJ must further determine 
the claimant’s new residual function capacity (“RFC”)

16 ACALJ Sochaczewsky has served as an ACALJ since November/ 
December 2014. F. 12.
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in the medically improved state, which is a key de­
termination in a claimant’s ability to work and a 
“core, critical responsibility” of Agency policy and of 
adjudication. F. 49. ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s explanation 
of the requirements for closed period of disability 
decisions is consistent with that of the ODAR Division 
of Quality Services (“DQS”), which is charged with 
ensuring that ALJ decisions are legally sufficient 
and policy compliant. F. 42 DQS memorandum to the 
ODAR Executive Staff regarding its September 26, 
2013 Focused Review of Respondent’s decisions (see 
F. 107) (discussed in detail below) expressly referred 
to 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1594 and 404.994 as requiring 
that an ALJ determining a closed period of disability 
engage in “a two-part evaluation of evidence of medi­
cal improvement, as it relates to the ability to work,” 
which is shown by “a decrease in severity (changes in 
symptoms, signs, or laboratory findings)” and “a 
comparison of the claimant’s RFC prior to and 
following the date” the disability purportedly ended. 
F. 43.

ACALJ Sochaczewsky further testified that a 
finding of medical improvement related to the ability 
to do work that relies only on the claimant’s acknowl­
edgement of medical improvement fails to describe 
the medical improvement or explain what has occurred. 
F. 50. Moreover, ACALJ Sochaczewsky explained, the 
regulations contemplate a description and explanation 
of medical improvement, supported by the record 
evidence, and a function-by-function analysis. F. 51. 
A claimant’s acknowledgement that his or her condition 
has medically improved, on its own, without further 
support from record evidence, is not sufficient for
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purposes of the medical improvement regulations in 
20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1594 and 416.994. F. 46-47, 49-51.

Former Regional Chief Administrative Law Judge 
(“RCALJ”) Carol Sax17 also testified that SSA regu­
lations in 20 C.F.R. chapters 404 and 416 require that 
support for a closed period of disability decision 
include objective medical evidence of medical 
improvement, including evidence that the claimant’s 
residual functional capacity has improved to the 
point where the claimant can return to work. F. 47.

Hearing Office Chief Administrative Law Judge 
(“HOCALJ”) Addison MasengilUS further explained 
that 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1594 and 416.994 require that 
a finding of medical improvement be based upon 
signs, symptoms, laboratory findings, and similar 
medical evidence, and that medical evidence is required 
to back up a claimant’s assertion that his or her med­
ical condition has improved. F. 46. The Chief Admin­
istrative Law Judge (“CALJ”) Debra Bice also 
confirmed that the regulations set the standards for 
finding medical improvement in a closed period of 
disability case and that a finding of medical 
improvement must be explained based on the record 
evidence, in addition to the claimant’s statements. F.
46.

The Agency’s position—that a claimant’s acknow­
ledgement of medical improvement, on its own, without 
further support from record evidence, is not sufficient

17 RCALJ Sax served as the RCALJ for Region 1 from February 
2008 through July 2015. F. 15.

18 HOCALJ Masengill has served as the HOCALJ of the 
Springfield, Massachusetts Hearing Office since March 2005. F. 17.
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for purposes of the medical improvement regulations 
in 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.1594 and 416.994—is consistent 
with 20 C.F.R. § 404.1528, which states in pertinent 
part: “(a) Symptoms are your own description of your 
physical or mental impairment. Your statements alone 
are not enough to establish that there is a physical or 
mental impairment.” Although the language of 20 
C.F.R. § 404.1528 refers to the establishment of an 
impairment, rather than medical improvement, section 
1528 is directly referenced in 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594 
with regard to the “symptoms, signs and/or laboratory 
findings” used to determine medical improvement. 
See 20 C.F.R. § 404.1594(b)(1). Finally, HALLEX, cited 
above, further supports the position that the Agency’s 
requirement that medical improvement be supported 
by more than the claimant’s agreement to a closed 
period of disability decision, by requiring that an 
ALJ decision clearly explain the rationale for all 
findings of fact, including by citing and discussing 
the supporting evidence. F. 48 (HALLEX 1-2-8-25).

Respondent asserts that Agency policy contained 
in the Program Operations Manual System (“POMS”) 
“specifically recognizes that a finding of medical 
improvement may be based on a claimant’s statement 
alone.” Respondent’s Reply Brief at 15, citing POMS 
DI-20810.015(A)(2). The cited document was not offered 
into evidence. In addition, Respondent’s citation failed 
to lead to the asserted provision. According to testimony 
that Respondent elicited at trial, the POMS provision 
states: “Improvement in symptoms alone, without 
associated changes in signs or laboratory findings, 
may support a medical improvement determination.” 
Sochaczewsky, Tr. 5:146-147. However, POMS sets 
forth internal policies for proceedings at the district
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office level, not for hearing operations. F. 34. While 
POMS can be utilized for guidance in the absence of 
other regulatory or sub-regulatory guidance such as 
HALLEX, POMS is not a prime source of ODAR 
policy and its provisions are not binding at the 
hearing office level. F. 34. In any event, as interpreted 
by Respondent, the POMS provision would arguably 
conflict with the requirement in HALLEX that the 
adjudicator cite and discuss the evidence supporting 
a finding, including “the weight assigned to various 
pieces of evidence. ...” F. 48 (emphasis added).

Based on the foregoing, the Agency has established 
that Respondent had a duty to comply with appli­
cable law, regulations, and policy regarding closed 
period of disability decisions, and that such law, 
regulations, and policy required compliance with the 
medical improvement standards outlined in 20 C.F.R. 
chapters 404 and 416. In addition, the evidence demon­
strates that the medical improvement regulations 
and HALLEX require a description and explanation 
of medical improvement, rationalized and supported 
by the record evidence, and a function-by-function 
analysis. Furthermore, the weight of the evidence 
supports the Agency’s interpretation of the medical 
improvement regulations and HALLEX that a claim­
ant’s agreement to a closed period of disability deci­
sion, by itself, is not sufficient to explain, support, or 
rationalize the determination of medical improvement 
required for a closed period of .disability decision. 
Accordingly, Respondent’s arguments that the Agency 
failed to meet its burden of proving the applicable 
standards are belied by the evidence and are rejected. 
The analysis now turns to whether Respondent was
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aware of his duties regarding closed period of disability 
decisions.

b. Respondent’s awareness of duties 
as to closed period of disability 
decisions

The evidence demonstrates that Respondent was 
aware of his duty to comply with Agency regulations 
and policies applicable to the issuance of closed 
period of disability decisions. F. 41. Moreover, Res­
pondent was specifically aware of the requirements for 
supporting a determination of medical improvement, for 
purposes of a closed period of disability decision, as 
further explained below.

Medical improvement is something that every 
ALJ has to consider in any case involving a closed 
period. F. 45. There is initial training, annual OCEP 
(ODAR Continuing Education Program) training, and 
quarterly training on this issue, and the Agency has 
provided more than one training session specifically 
focused on how to evaluate medical improvement. F. 
45. Indeed, Respondent’s awareness of the standards 
outlined in the regulations is demonstrated by Res­
pondent’s closed period of disability decisions them­
selves. Each of Respondent’s closed period of 
disability decisions at issue in this case followed a 
template of applicable law, which included the 
following:

If the claimant is found disabled at any point in 
the process, the undersigned must also determine 
if his disability continues through the date of the 
decision. The undersigned must show that medical 
improvement has occurred which is related to 
the claimant’s ability to work, or that an exception



App.l52a

applies (20 CFR 404.1594(a) and 416.994(a)). In 
most cases, the undersigned must also show that 
the claimant is able to engage in substantial 
gainful activity (20 CFR 404.1594(a) and 
416.994(a)). In making this determination, the 
undersigned must follow an additional eight 
step evaluation process for the Title II claim and 
a seven-step process for the Title XVI claim (20 
CFR-404.1594 and 416.994). ... Medical improve­
ment is any decrease in medical severity of the 
impairment(s) as established by improvement in 
symptoms, signs or laboratory findings (20 CFR 
404.1594(b)(1) and 416.994(b)(l)(i)).

F. 127.
Moreover, the Agency provided Respondent ample 

notice of its requirements for closed period of disability 
decisions. In addition to Respondent’s training on 
closed period of disability decisions referenced above, 
Respondent received further training on the Agency’s 
requirements for closed period of disability decisions 
in 2011, at the direction of CAU Bice. F. 80. CALJ 
Bice ordered the retraining in late 2010, after reviewing 
11 complaints about Respondent’s allegedly pressuring 
claimants into accepting closed periods of disability, 
and examining another 35 cases decided by Respondent. 
F. 78-80. Accordingly, in June 2011, ALJ Edward 
Brady, who at the time was the judge in charge of 
national mentoring, conducted a two hour training 
session via video conference, in which he advised 
Respondent that where a closed period of disability is 
granted, even by consent, SSA regulations dictate 
that the decision “include a discussion of medical 
improvement showing how the signs, symptoms, and 
objective testing show improvement under the medical
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improvement standard at the time the period 
closes. . . . [A]ny RFC, regardless of the agreement as 
to medical improvement must be married to 
corresponding medical evidence.” F. 86-87. In addition, 
on August 3, 2011, at a meeting during the Agency’s 
annual ALJ training, then-ACALJ Frank Cristaudo 
and Region 1 HOCALJ Barry Best (who was also 
attending the annual training meeting) further advised 
Respondent that awarding a closed period of disability 
requires a second RFC determination, and that the 
claimant’s concession that he or she can work is not 
enough. F. 88-89.

Notwithstanding the retraining sessions referenced 
above, in or around September 2011, the Agency 
received additional complaints regarding Respondent’s 
closed period of disability decisions. F. 90. Therefore, 
RCALJ Sax, in consultation with the Office of the 
Chief Judge (“OCALJ”), decided to issue a policy 
directive to Respondent. F. 92. A directive advises 
the ALJ of a problem with compliance, directs the 
ALJ to comply, and advises the ALJ that failure to 
follow the directive may lead to discipline. F. 93. 
Respondent received the policy directive, dated 
December 5, 2011 and signed by HOCALJ Masengill 
(the “December 5, 2011 Directive”) (F. 95), which 
stated in pertinent part:

As a Social Security Administration (SSA or 
agency) Administrative Law Judge (ALJ), you are 
responsible for conducting hearings and issuing 
timely and legally sufficient decisions. See HAL- 
LEX I-2-0-5-B. A legally sufficient decision 
requires that you comply with SSA’s laws, 
regulations, rulings, and policies.... In your deci­
sions, you are required to analyze medical evi-
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dence that supports a finding of the claimant’s 
medical improvement or to explain why the 
claimant’s case falls within an exception to med­
ical improvement. The decision also requires you 
to analyze the claimant’s residual functional 
capacity (RFC) assessment and to explain how 
the RFC relates to a claimant’s current work 
capacity and results in the claimant’s ability to 
engage in substantial gainful activity (SGA). . . . 
Your decisions in these cases [involving claim­
ant’s amending their claims to a closed period] 
contain analytical deficiencies including a lack 
of analysis to support a non-disability RFC and 
a lack of analysis to support a finding of medical 
improvement beyond the claimant’s agreement 
to a closed period....

F. 96.
The December 5, 2011 Directive clearly and spe­

cifically addressed the level of analysis required to 
support medical improvement and increased RFC, 
stating in pertinent part:

Pursuant to 20 CFR § 404.1594 and § 416.994:
4. I direct you to determine whether there has 

been medical improvement. You must analyze 
any improvement by comparing the prior 
and current medical evidence and by illus­
trating any improvement in the signs, 
symptoms, or laboratory findings.
Your analysis should discuss evidence that 
centers on the factors set forth at 20 CFR 
§ 404.1528 and §416.928 and that align 
with the guidance for evidence set forth at 
20 CFR § 404.1512-1518 and § 416.912-918.
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5. I direct you to determine if any medical 
improvement relates to the ability of the 
claimant to perform work.

Compare the prior RFC with the increase 
in the current RFC, based on changes 
in signs, symptoms, or lab findings.

ii. Analyze how the increased RFC reflects 
the improvement in the exertional and 
nonexertional basic work activities, as 
applicable, and in accordance with the 
requirements set forth at 20 CFR 
§ 404.1545 and § 416.945.

]•

6. I direct you to explain how the medical 
improvement analyzed in number 2, above, 
now results in the claimant being able to 
engage in work at the SGA level.

F. 96; see also F. 83-84 (HOCALJ Masengill advising 
Respondent on September 7, 2010, in response to 
Respondent’s request for guidance on the level of 
detail required to support an agreed-to closed period 
of disability decision, to “fully rationalize the cessation 
of any benefits ...” because without an adequate 
rationale in the decision, the Appeals Council!9 “has 
no ammunition/basis to deny appeal” and the U.S. 
Attorney cannot or will not “defend [a] case in 
[federal [c]ourt that is not adequately rationalized”).

Based on the foregoing, the Agency has proven 
that Respondent was aware of his duties with respect

19 The Appeals Council is a component of ODAR which reviews 
appeals of AU decisions. F. 22.
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to the issuance of closed period of disability deci­
sions, including the requirements of the medical 
improvement standards and HALLEX. The Analysis 
next addresses whether the Agency has demonstrated 
that Respondent failed to meet those standards.

c. Respondent’s failure to comply 
with Agency policy applicable to 
closed period of disability deci­
sions

As analyzed above in section l.a, in imple­
menting the medical improvement regulations and 
HALLEX, the Agency requires a closed period of 
disability decision to describe and explain the 
medical improvement that occurred, and to support 
the finding of medical improvement with medical evi­
dence, beyond the claimant’s agreement or acknow­
ledgement. The Agency contends that 11 of Respond­
ent’s closed period of disability decisions, consisting ' 
of 5 issued in fiscal year 2013 (Hatcher, Amaro, 
Young, Rivera, and Parslow) and 6 issued in fiscal year 
2014 (Petracone, Fernandez, Daddario, Broussard, 
Lowe, and Simmons), lacked a policy compliant discus­
sion regarding medical improvement. See Agency’s 
Proposed Findings of Fact 42-48, 50-52.

Each of the decisions challenged herein by the 
Agency was reviewed for policy compliance by one or 
more ODAR employees. F. 128-150, 156-167. Specif­
ically, DQS conducted a “focused review” of Respond­
ent’s disability decisions issued from the date of the 
December 5, 2011 Directive, through June 30, 2013 
(“Focused Review”). F. 107. In addition, in or around 
December 2014, at the request of CAU Bice and the 
Office of General Counsel (“OGC”), ODAR attorney
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advisor Ms. Arlene Brens reviewed selected decisions 
issued by Respondent for policy compliance (“Ms. 
Brens’ Review”). F. 117. Furthermore, after the Com­
plaint was issued, at the request of CALJ Bice, 
ACALJ Sochaczewsky also reviewed a selection of 
Respondent’s cases for policy compliance (“ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s Review”). F. 122. DQS, Ms. Brens, 
and ACALJ Sochaczewsky each memoralized their 
findings in writing. F. 107 (JX 19), 117 (JX 20), 124 
(PX 19). ACALJ Sochaczewsky and Ms. Brens also 
testified at the hearing regarding some of their findings.

DQS, Ms. Brens, and ACALJ Sochaczewsky are 
each qualified to provide opinions as to the policy 
compliance of Respondent’s closed period of disability 
decisions. DQS is the entity within ODAR that is res­
ponsible for performing analyses of ALJ decisions to 
determine whether they are legally sufficient and 
policy compliant. F. 42. Ms. Brens has been trained 
in all the regulations and policies applicable to disability 
adjudications, and has personally written over 1,000 
decisions, including many closed period of disability 
decisions. F. 118. ACALJ Sochaczewsky has served 
as an ALJ and a HOCALJ. F. 13. His duties as an 
ACALJ within the OCALJ include reviewing Agency 
policies and periodically reviewing rulings made by 
the Appeals Council. F. 14. ACALJ Sochaczewsky is 
also the OCALJ liason to each Region’s inline quality 
review process, which consists of attorneys within 
each region reviewing ALJ decisions for policy com­
pliance prior to issuance. F. 14.20

20 Respondent’s challenges to the Agency’s evidence based on 
an alleged lack of qualifications of those reviewing his decisions, 
including Ms. Brens, lack evidentiary support and are rejected.



App.l58a

The Agency’s reviews and findings prove that 
Respondent issued decisions in fiscal year 2013 and 
fiscal year 2014 that did not comply with Agency 
requirements for supporting a closed period of 
disability; specifically, by failing to explain his findings 
of medical improvement, or to support these findings 
with medical evidence. F. 128-150.

For example, the Daddario decision, issued August 
27, 2014 (F. 139), was reviewed by both ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky and Ms. Brens. ACALJ Sochaczewsky 
concluded that the Daddario decision was not policy 
compliant because, among other reasons, the decision 
did not sufficiently discuss or establish medical im­
provement. F. 140. ACALJ Sochaczewsky explained 
that Respondent’s findings of medical improvement 
failed to “explain what got better and why it got 
better and why the evidence supports the finding. 
The judge does say there’s no longer severe impairment, 
but the why is missing. And it appears to accept the 
claimant’s saying I want a closed period to substitute 
for the medical improvement part.” F. 141. The regu­
lations in 20 CFR part 400, and HALLEX 1-28-25 
require an explanation of medical improvement. 
Establishing medical improvement requires more than 
saying the “magic words . . . there’s medical improve­
ment.” F. 141. Ms. Brens’ Review also found a number 
of deficiencies in the Daddario decision, including a 
“conclusory” finding of medical improvement that 
lacked any explanation with supporting medical evi­
dence. F. 141. In addition, Ms. Brens found there 
was no support in the record for the end date of the 
closed period in the Daddario decision and that Res­
pondent admitted at the disability hearing that the 
end date was an arbitrary date. F. 143. Indeed, the
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Appeals Council vacated and remanded the Daddario 
decision for failure to support the closed period, 
stating that it was an error of law to provide no evi­
dentiary support from the record for the finding of 
medical improvement. F. 144.

In addition, the Rivera decision, issued January 
4, 2013 (F. 131), was reviewed by both DQS, as part 
of the Focused Review, and by ACALJ Sochaczewsky. 
The Focused Review found that Rivera was an agreed- 
upon closed period of disability that was not supported 
by the evidence of record, noting that the rationale 
for the finding of medical improvement was limited 
to a statement that “[a]t the hearing, the claimant 
acknowledged this is so .” F. 132. ACAU Sochaczewsky’s 
Review also determined that the discussion of medical 
improvement in the Rivera decision was insufficient. 
F. 132.

Ms. Brens reached a similar determination 
regarding the Fernandez decision, issued on April 25, 
2014, finding that the decision was deficient because 
there was no explanation, with supporting medical 
evidence, as to why the claimant had medically 
improved. F. 135-137. Instead, the decision appeared 
to rely on the fact that the “the claimant believe [d] 
her overall condition ha[d] improved enough to warrant 
a request for a closed period. . . . ” F. 136. Ms. Brens’ 
Review further noted that the record showed that 
“the claimant continued to have treatment and surgery 
after the closed period ended.” F. 137. See also F. 138 
(ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review concluding as to 
Fernandez that there was “no explanation of basis for 
new RFC after closed period”).

Furthermore, Respondent issued a closed period 
of disability decision in the Simmons case on August
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28, 2014, after a remand from the Appeals Council 
which specifically advised that “[t]he claimant’s ack­
nowledgment of medical improvement is not a 
determination made in accordance with the require­
ments of 20 C.F.R. 404.1594.” F. 148-149. ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky reviewed Respondent’s Simmons deci­
sion after remand and concluded that, notwithstanding 
the admonition from the Appeals Council, Respond­
ent’s decision still failed to include an explanation or 
analysis of medical improvement, and therefore failed 
to comply with Agency policy. F. 150.

Regarding the Amaro decision, issued on December 
19, 2012, ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review determined 
that the decision contained an insufficient discussion 
of medical improvement. F. 129. The Focused Review 
further found the Amaro decision was not supported 
by evidence in the record. F. 129.

The deficiencies identified by the DQS Focused 
Review, Ms. Brens’ Review and/or ACALJ 
Sochacewsky’s Review regarding lack of explanation 
of medical improvement or medical support therefor 
are also reflected in the decisions in Hatcher, F. 128 
(ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review finding there was 
“no discussion of the claimant’s medical improvement”); 
Parslow, F. 133 (ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review finding 
there was an “insufficient discussion of medical im­
provement?’); Petracone, F. 134 (ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s 
Review concluding there was “no true discussion/ 
explanation of medical improvement, other than 
claimant admitted he improved”); Young, F. 130 
(ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review finding insufficient 
discussion of medical improvement); Broussard, F. 
145 (ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review finding there 
was “no true discussion/explanation” of the finding of
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medical improvement); and Lowe, F. 146 (ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s Review finding “no true discussion/ 
explanation of medical improvement, other than claim­
ant admitted she could perform sedentary work”).

Based on the foregoing, the Agency has met its 
burden of proving that Respondent issued closed period 
of disability decisions in fiscal year 2013 and fiscal 
year 2014 that failed to comply with Agency regula­
tions and policy regarding explanation and support 
for findings of medical improvement. The Analysis 
next turns to Respondent’s defenses to Specifications 
1 and 2.

d. Respondent’s challenges to suffi­
ciency of Agency’s evidence on 
Specifications 1 and 2

Respondent contends that the Agency’s evidence 
is insufficient to meet its burden of proof. Respondent 
argues that ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s opinions as to 
the sufficiency of the medical improvement discussions 
in Respondent’s closed period of disability decisions 
have only limited probative value because, according 
to Respondent: (1) ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review 
was biased by OGC to achieve a particular outcome, 
and (2) ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s opinions are conclusory 
and/or unsupported, including by lack of any reference 
to a standard of care. Respondent’s arguments fail 
for two reasons, as discussed below.

First, even if ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s opinions 
are given limited probative weight, the preponderance 
of the evidence still supports Specifications 1 and 2. 
Respondent does not point to any evidence contradicting 
ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s conclusions or otherwise 
demonstrating that the medical improvement dis-
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cussions in the closed period of disability decisions 
challenged herein were in fact policy compliant. As to 
the closed period of disability decisions in Daddario, 
Rivera, Fernandez, Amaro, and Simmons, ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s opinions were largely cumulative to 
similar opinions by DQS and/or Ms. Brens. Thus, 
even without ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s opinions, the 
totality of the proof as to these non-compliant closed 
period of disability decisions, two issued in fiscal 
year 2013 (Amaro and Rivera) and three issued in 
fiscal year 2014 (Fernandez, Simmons, and Daddario), 
is sufficient to prove the Specifications. In addition, 
regarding the closed period of disability decisions as 
to which ACALJ Sochaczewsky provides the only 
opinion, Respondent does not provide any evidenti­
ary counterweight to ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s opin­
ions, such that the preponderance of the evidence 
still weighs in favor of the Agency.21

Second, Respondent’s assertions of bias are not 
supported by the evidence. The evidence shows that 
CALJ Bice, through OGC, requested that ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky review a select group of cases, identified 
by OGC, for policy compliance. F. 122. This review 
was requested after issuance of the Complaint in this 
matter, and ACALJ Sochaczewsky received a copy of 
the Complaint in connection with this request. F. 
122. Respondent emphasizes that PX 19, which was 
prepared by OGC from ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s review

21 Respondent maintains that proposed findings of fact that 
rely solely on ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s notes reflected in PX 19 
should be rejected, arguing that testimony is required. Respond­
ent’s position that a document is insufficient to establish a fact 
unless bolstered by testimony is not supported by legal authority 
and is rejected.
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notes, F. 124, did not include some reviewed cases. 
However, the omission of some reviewed cases from 
PX 19 was due to doubt as to whether those cases 
violated any policy. F. 124. The reasonable inference 
from the foregoing facts is that OGC was assisting 
the Agency in proving its claims against Respondent, 
and that ACALJ Sochaczewsky contributed to that 
effort. Such a scenario is hardly nefarious, and such 
facts are not sufficient to conclude that ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s Review, or his opinions, should be 
rejected as biased.22

Respondent next argues that the Agency failed 
to meet its burden of proof because, according to Res­
pondent, the Agency failed to prove the standard of 
care that applies to supporting a finding of medical 
improvement in a closed period of disability decision. 
This argument is also without merit, as explained 
below.

Respondent relies on MSPB cases stating that a 
charge of culpable negligence in the performance of 
duties requires showing a failure to “exercise the 
degree of care required under the particular circum­
stances, which a person of ordinary prudence in the

22 Respondent similarly challenges Ms. Brens’ Review as 
biased, contending that OGC provided the cases for Ms. Brens 
to review and “vetted” her findings. The evidence shows that 
Ms. Brens conducted her review at the request of CAU Bice 
and OGC. F. 117. Ms. Brens identified which cases of Respond­
ent’s to review from a list provided to her by the Division of 
Workload Management, which was drawn from ODAR’s case 
management and processing system. She also identified cases 
from emails she had reviewed between Respondent and claim­
ants’ representatives while assisting in the Office of the Inspector 
General Investigation on behalf of OCALJ. F. 120.
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same situation and with equal experience would not 
omit.” Respondent’s Brief at 49 (citing Velez v. Dep’t 
of Homeland Sec., 101 M.S.P.R. 650, 656 (2006)); see 
also Mendez v. Dep’t of the Treasury, 88 M.S.P.R. 
596, 607 (2001). However, Respondent is not charged 
with negligent performance of duties, but with a fail­
ure to perform specified duties. The cited cases do not 
indicate that, in addition to showing a failure to per­
form a duty, the employing agency must also show 
that the failure was “negligent.”

In any event, the evidence supports a conclusion 
that Respondent was negligent in failing to issue 
policy compliant closed period of disability decisions. 
The evidence shows that Respondent had a duty to 
issue policy compliant decisions. The evidence further 
shows that Respondent was aware that a policy 
compliant discussion of medical improvement must 
describe and explain the medical improvement that 
occurred, and support the finding of medical 
improvement with medical evidence, beyond the 
claimant’s agreement or acknowledgement. Such evi­
dence amply supports the conclusion that an ALJ of 
ordinary prudence, with the same awareness as Res­
pondent of the applicable regulations and HALLEX, 
and with the same advice and training as to the 
Agency’s requirements, would not have failed to 
comply. Cf. Mendez, 88 M.S.P.R. at 606 (holding that 
a written policy can constitute the applicable standard 
of care, or the standard can be established by other 
factors, including training, knowledge, customary 
agency practice, and adequacy of agency procedures).

Respondent further argues that the Agency 
failed to show that Respondent violated the applicable 
standard of care because, according to Respondent,
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the evidence shows that Respondent’s closed period 
of disability decisions were “similar in content and 
evidence to the decisions issued by other SSA ALJs.” 
Respondent’s Brief at 42-43. Whether or not other 
ALJs wrote non-compliant closed period of disability 
decisions is not determinative of whether Respondent 
failed to issue policy compliant closed period of dis­
ability decisions. “The agency is not required to show, 
as part of its case in chief, that the respondent’s errors 
were more egregious than those of other administra­
tive law judges.” SSA v. Anyel, 58 M.S.P.R. 261, 266 
(1993).23

Based on the foregoing, Specifications 1 and 2 
are sustained.

2. Specifications 3 and 4
Specifications 3 and 4 charge that Respondent 

failed to make a “complete record of hearing proceed­
ings” in fiscal year 2013 and fiscal year 2014, 
respectively. The evidence shows that Respondent 
had a duty to make a complete record, which required 
him to summarize, on the record, the content and 
conclusion of any off-the-record discussions; that 
Respondent was aware of this duty; and that Respond­
ent failed to perform such duty, as explained below.

It is undisputed that SSA ALJs are required to 
make a complete record of the hearing proceedings.

23 Respondent’s contention that Respondent’s non-compliant 
closed period of disability decisions were not representative of 
Respondent’s closed period of disability decisions generally is 
addressed in the context of penalty, infra, section E.2.a. See 
Douglas, factor 1 (whether the offense was intentional or 
inadvertent or was frequently repeated).
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F. 54; see 20 C.F.R. §§ 404.951, 416.1451. See also 
Respondent’s Brief at 44. HALLEX 1-2-6-40 states: 
“The administrative law judge (ALJ) must make a 
complete record of the hearing proceedings. Therefore, 
the ALJ or designee will make a verbatim audio 
recording of the entire hearing.” F. 54. The ALJ 
“must obtain a clear and concise record, containing 
all relevant facts, while excluding all immaterial 
matters.” F. 53. In furtherance of making a complete 
record of hearing proceedings, SSA ALJs are required 
to summarize, on the record, the content and conclusion 
of any off-the-record discussions. F. 55; see HALLEX 
1-2-6-40 (requiring that the “content and conclusion” 
of any off-the-record discussion conducted with the 
claimant or representative be summarized on the 
record). Based on the foregoing, the evidence demon­
strates that Respondent had a duty to make a complete 
record of hearing proceedings, which required Res­
pondent to summarize, on the record, the content 
and conclusion of any off-the-record discussions.

The evidence further shows that Respondent 
was aware of his duty to make a complete record of 
hearing proceedings, and that this required him to 
summarize, on the record, the content and conclusion 
of any off-the-record discussions. The topics covered 
in the retraining of Respondent in June 2011 included 
the need for Respondent to memorialize off-the-record 
discussions with claimants’ representatives on the 
record. F. 86. ALJ Brady, who conducted the June 
2011 retraining, discouraged Respondent from using 
off-the-record conversations for substantive matters, 
but advised him that where there is any discussion 
off the record, it should be memorialized on the 
record and Respondent should then allow the claimant



App.l67a

or the claimant’s representative to supplement or 
dispute the on-the-record summary. F. 87. At the 
Agency’s annual AU training meeting on August 3, 
2011, then-ACALJ Cristaudo and Region 1 HOCAU 
Best also advised Respondent about memorializing 
on the record any off-the-record discussions. F. 88.

Furthermore, on September 1, 2011, CALJ Bice 
sent a memorandum to all Administrative Law Judges 
reminding the ALJs that they “must make a complete 
record of the hearing proceedings” pursuant to 20 
C.F.R. § 404.951 and § 416.1451 and HALLEX 1-2-6-40. 
F. 91. CALJ Bice further explained:

A complete record includes any conversation 
relevant to the case between the ALJ, parties to 
the hearing, and/or witnesses. If the conversation 
is not recorded, the ALJ must summarize on the 
record the content and conclusion of any off-the- 
record discussion. If an ALJ is going to go off the 
record, he or she should explain why he or she is 
going off the record.

F. 91.
Moreover, Respondent was notified in the 

December 5, 2011 Directive that “in many of [Res­
pondent’s closed period of disability] cases, you had 
‘off-the-record’ discussions with the claimants and/or 
their representatives regarding the claimant’s case 
and did not summarize the discussions on the record 
after the hearings resumed.” F. 96. Respondent was 
expressly directed to:

summarize on the record, all off-the-record 
discussions concerning amending claims involving 
closed periods of disability, as well as any other 
discussions relevant to the issues in a claimant’s
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case. HALLEX 1-2-6-40, 1-2-6-75, 20 CFR § 404 
.951, § 416.1451, § 404.961, and § 416.1461 man­
date that the ALJ make a complete record of the 
proceedings. This applies both to hearings and 
to pre-hearing conferences.

F. 96.
Finally, the evidence proves that Respondent 

failed to perform his duty to make a complete record 
by failing to summarize on the record the content 
and conclusion of off-the-record conversations, as 
required by Agency policy. The Agency relies on the 
hearing records in five of Respondent’s cases: four from 
fiscal year 2013 (.Amaro, Bond, Young, and Parslow) 
and one from fiscal year 2014 (Simmons). See Agency’s 
Proposed Findings of Fact 64-72. ACAU Sochac- 
zewsky, who listened to the hearing recordings of these 
cases and heard Respondent’s on-the-record summaries 
of off-the-record conversations, concluded that in each 
of the foregoing cases Respondent’s summary was 
insufficient. F. 156, 159, 162, 165, 167. In addition, 
DQS, as part of its Focused Review, also concluded 
that Respondent failed to summarize off-the-record 
conversations. F. 156-157, 161, 164.

For example, regarding the Parslow hearing 
record, the Focused Review states that “[t]he AU 
referenced, but did not summarize, an off-the-record 
discussion with the representative about the case.” F. 
164. ACAU Sochaczewsky’s Review also concluded 
that the summary on the record in Parslow was 
insufficient. F. 165. Similarly, regarding the Young 
hearing, the Focused Review noted that “[a]t the 
beginning of the hearing, the AU referenced, but did 
not summarize, an off-the-record discussion with the 
representative concerning ‘the pluses and minuses
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and different options we might have for resolving 
[the claim]’.... ‘The bottom line is ... we talked about 
the strengths and weaknesses of your case . . . [and] 
we discussed different ways of resolving the case.
F. 161. ACAU Sochaczewsky’s Review also concluded 
this summary was insufficient. F. 162. See also F. 
158 (Focused Review of Bond found that Respondent 
referenced off-the-record discussion with representative 
about claimant’s “situation,” but did not summarize 
that conversation on the record.); F. 156 (ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky’s Review of Amaro found insufficient 
summary of the off-the-record conversation). With 
regard to the Simmons case, ACALJ Sochaczewsky 
testified persuasively, based on listening to the hearing 
recording, that Respondent’s summary of an off-the- 
record conversation was incomplete. F. 167. Based on 
the foregoing, the Agency has met its burden of 
proving that Respondent failed to summarize on the 
record the content and conclusion of off-the-record 
conversations, as is required by Agency policy.24

Respondent argues that the Agency failed to prove 
the applicable standard for on-the-record summaries 
of off-the-record conversations, or that Respondent’s

24 Respondent contends that the email discussion referenced on 
the record at the Bond hearing cannot be relied on to support 
Specification 3 because Specification 3 alleges a failure to make 
a complete record of hearing proceedings, while the off-the- 
record email discussion in Bond did not take place at the hearing. 
This distinction does not require rejecting the evidence. “[T]he 
purpose of an agency’s notice of charges is to put an employee 
on notice of the allegations against him in sufficient detail to 
apprise him of the allegations he must refute or acts he must 
justify. Brennan, 787 F.2d at 1561 ” Shapiro, 800 F.3d 1332, 1337 
(Fed. Cir. 2015). Even if the Bond case is not considered, the 
evidence is sufficient to sustain Specification 3.
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summaries failed to meet that standard. Respondent 
asserts that ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s opinions offered 
no specifics as to what Respondent was supposed to 
do regarding memorializing off-the-record conversa­
tions on the hearing record, or what Respondent did 
or failed to do in this regard. However, as noted above, 
the evidence shows that Respondent had a duty to 
make a complete record, and that, pursuant to Agency 
policy, this required Respondent to summarize, on 
the record, the content and conclusion of any off-the- 
record discussions. Accordingly, contrary to Respond­
ent’s argument, the Agency proved what was required 
of Respondent.

Moreover, even if some of ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s 
conclusions could be viewed as lacking in detail, 
ACALJ Sochaczewsky’s Review was not the only evi­
dence offered to prove that Respondent failed to 
summarize on the record the content and conclusion 
of off-the-record discussions. DQS’s Focused Review 
also concluded that Respondent failed to summarize 
off-the-record conversations.25 F. 156-157, 161, 164. 
As noted in section l.c. above, DQS and ACALJ Soch- 
aczewsky are qualified to make these determinations, 
and their conclusions are entitled to considerable 
probative weight.26

25 Although DQS did not review the Simmons case, ACALJ 
Sochaczewsky explained his opinions on the Simmons case in 
detail in his testimony. See F. 167.

26 Respondent’s assertion that ACAU Sochaczewsky’s opinions 
should carry no weight, because ACAU’s Sochaczewsky’s Review 
was biased by OGC toward a particular outcome, has been fully 
considered and rejected. See section l.d above. Respondent’s 
contention that documents cannot constitute probative evidence
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Respondent claims that the Agency has failed to 
prove Specifications 3 and 4 because, according to 
Respondent, the evidence shows that Respondent’s 
practice after an off-the-record conversation was to 
memorialize “the substance” of the off-the-record con­
versation, ensure the claimant understood what had 
happened, and allow the claimant’s representative an 
opportunity to add anything additional. Respondent’s 
Brief at 45 (citing testimony provided by claimants’ 
representatives Mr. Paul Durkee and Mr. Bainbridge 
Testa); see also Respondent’s Proposed Findings of 
Fact 76, 78. However, the testimony of Mr. Durkee 
and Mr. Testa does not support Respondent’s broad 
assertions, and does not support a conclusion that 
Respondent summarized the content and conclusion 
of off-the-record conversations in the cases at issue in 
Specifications 3 and 4. Mr. Durkee testified that, in 
his experience, Respondent would state on the record 
that he had had “communications” with the claim­
ant’s representative, and would ask the client if he or 
she was “made aware” that they had discussed the 
case (Durkee, Tr. 3:187). This is not proof that Res­
pondent’s practice was to summarize the content or 
the conclusion of such communications. Mr. Testa’s 
testimony that, typically, ALJs, including Respond­
ent, provide a summary of off-the-record conversa­
tions (Testa, Tr. 3:215, 249-250) only begs the question 
as to whether Respondent’s typical summaries 
included, as required, the content and conclusion of 
such off-the-record conversations. In contrast to this 
testimony concerning Respondent’s asserted practice, 
HOCALJ Masengill’s practice for memorializing an

unless bolstered by explanatory testimony has also been 
considered and rejected. Id. at n.21.



App.l72a

off-the-record conversation, which is consistent with 
the regulations and HALLEX, is to specify on the record 
what the discussion entailed, and then ask the claim­
ant or claimant’s representative whether his descrip­
tion of the conversation is consistent with his or her 
understanding. F. 57.

Based on the foregoing, Specifications 3 and 4 
are sustained.27

3. Respondent’s defenses common to 
Specifications 1 through 4

a. Notice
Respondent contends that “[i]mplicit in 

demonstrating a breach of duty is the requirement 
that the Agency demonstrate Judge Cooperman was 
notified of the issues with his performance, given 
appropriate guidance and support and an opportunity 
to comply, and failed to do so.” Respondent’s Brief at 
32. Thus, Respondent argues, the Agency must 
demonstrate that Respondent was given “sufficient, 
specific” notice of the deficiencies in his performance; 
that after providing him notice, Respondent was pro­
vided with “sufficient tools and feedback to comply,” 
and that despite such specific notice and feedback, 
Respondent’s decisions were still not compliant. Res­
pondent’s Brief at 33-38. To support this proposition as 
to the Agency’s burden of proof, Respondent relies on

27 Respondent’s assertion that, according to HOCALJ Masengill, 
Respondent improved his on-the-record memorialization of off- 
the-record conversations in the time period after the issuance of 
the 2011 written directive is considered in relation to penalty, 
infra, section E.2.b.
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Abrams, 703 F.3d at 543 and Shapiro, 800 F.3d at 
1337. Neither case supports Respondent’s argument.

Abrams is inapposite here because the ALJ in 
that case was not charged with neglect of duty, and 
the case does not address the burden of proof for 
such a charge. Rather, the ALJ was charged with 
misconduct for failure to follow certain directives of 
SSA, and the ALJ did not dispute that the agency 
had met its burden of proof in this regard. 703 F.3d 
at 541. The charge of failure to follow instructions 
does not require meeting the heavy burden of proof 
described by Respondent. See, e.g., Hamilton v. U.S. 
Postal Serv., 71 M.S.P.R. 547, 555-56 (1996) (holding 
that charge of failure to follow instructions requires 
the agency to prove: (1) proper instructions were 
given, and (2) the employee failed to follow those in­
structions, without regard to whether the failure was 
intentional or unintentional). Similarly, the Shapiro 
decision did not address the burden of proof for neglect 
of duty, because the charge had been previously 
dismissed by the Board. The court’s discussion of the 
“ample notice” that the ALJ had received referred to 
the allegations of the complaint in that case, to rebut 
the ALJ’s argument that the agency had failed to 
prove the “precise charge asserted.” 800 F.3d at 
1336-37. Accordingly, Shapiro does not support Res­
pondent’s argument as to the Agency’s burden of 
proof.

In any event, as shown in sections l.b and 2 
above, the evidence proves that Respondent was 
given sufficiently specific notice of the deficiencies in 
his closed period of disability decisions and his failures 
to properly summarize off-the-record conversations. 
These topics were addressed in the training meetings
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held with Respondent in June and August 2011. F. 
86-89. Thereafter, the December 5, 2011 Directive 
specifically told Respondent:

I direct you to determine whether there has 
been medical improvement [in a closed period of 
disability decision]. You must analyze any improve­
ment by comparing the prior and current medical 
evidence and by illustrating any improvement in 
the signs, symptoms, or laboratory findings.
Your analysis should discuss evidence that centers 
on the factors set forth at 20 CFR § 404.1528 
and § 416.928 and that align with the guidance 
for evidence set forth at 20 CFR § 404.1512-1518 
and § 416.912-918.

F. 96. See also F. 84 (HOCAU Masengill advising 
Respondent, in response to Respondent’s 2010 email 
request for guidance (F. 83), that: “My best advice 
has always been to adequately rationalize the favorable 
aspect of any decision, but to pay extra special atten­
tion to fully rationalize the cessation of any benefits, 
even in an ‘agreed to’ Closed Period situation.”). The 
December 5, 2011 Directive further clearly told Res­
pondent:

I also direct you to summarize on the record, all 
off-the record discussions concerning amending 
claims involving closed periods of disability, as 
well as any other discussions relevant to the 
issues in a claimant’s case. HALLEX 1-2-6-40, I- 
2-6-75, 20 CFR § 404.951, § 416.1451, § 404.961, 
and §416.1461 mandate that the ALJ make a 
complete record of the proceedings. This applies 
both to hearings and to pre-hearing conferences.
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F. 96. HOCAU Masengill also provided Respondent 
with specific comments and suggestions as to how to 
comply with the December 5, 2011 Directive, including 
specific language that Respondent could use in his 
decisions, as templates, that would detail any off-the- 
record conversation in which a claimant agreed to a 
closed period of disability and would identify specific 
medical evidence supporting a finding of medical 
improvement. F. 97.

In addition, the evidence shows that Respondent 
had ample time after issuance of the December 5, 
2011 Directive to correct the deficiencies in his per­
formance identified by the Agency, with nearly four 
years passing between the December 5, 2011 Direc­
tive and the filing of the Complaint in this case. Res­
pondent complains that he lacked notice during this 
period that his performance remained deficient be­
cause the Agency failed to provide ongoing feedback 
on his cases, even though the Agency had identified 
continued deficiencies during this period and both 
the Agency and the Office of the Inspector General 
(“OIG”) had interviewed Respondent. However, as 
discussed above, Respondent’s 2011 retraining and 
the December 5, 2011 Directive provided sufficient 
guidance and feedback regarding the deficiencies in 
his performance and how to bring his performance 
into compliance. The December 5, 2011 Directive 
made clear that “failure to follow this management 
directive may lead to disciplinary action.” F. 96. 
Weingarten interviews, to which Respondent refers, 
are investigative interviews, in anticipation of 
discipline, and are not designed for counseling. F. 
102. Moreover, Respondent provides no evidentiary 
or legal support for the assertion that the OIG inter-
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view, which was also investigative in nature, should 
have been used to counsel Respondent on improving 
his performance. Nevertheless, there is persuasive 
evidence that Respondent’s purported desire to receive 
additional feedback in order to bring his performance 
into compliance is illusory. As HOCALJ Masengill 
testified, Respondent was more interested in trying 
to convince the Agency that Respondent’s process 
was correct; that his method was correct; and that he 
did not need to fully rationalize his findings or fully 
detail on the record conversations that were held off 
the record. F. 100.

For all the foregoing reasons, Respondent’s asser­
tion that the Agency failed to prove he breached his 
duties because of a purported lack of sufficiently spe­
cific notice or sufficient feedback to correct his per­
formance is without merit, and is rejected.

b. Qualified right of judicial inde­
pendence

Respondent argues that even if the evidence 
proves the allegations of Specifications 1 through 4, 
such findings cannot support a determination of good 
cause under Section 7521 because this would constitute 
discipline “for the content of [Respondent’s] decisions,” 
which impermissibly “infringes on his quasi-judicial 
independence.” Respondent’s Brief at 46.

The qualified right of decisional independence, 
which is given to Administrative Law Judges by the 
Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), refers to “the 
increased independence from agency pressure to decide 
a particular case, or a particular percentage of cases, 
in a particular way.” Anyel, 58 M.S.P.R. at 269. The 
independence granted to AUs by the APA was intend-
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ed to “result in a greater assurance of justice at the 
hands of administrative agencies.” Id. at 268. How­
ever, granting ALJs independence in the form of 
freedom to ignore binding agency interpretations of 
law and policy would not further the goal of justice, 
but “would lead to a system under which the outcome 
of a case before an [A]dministrative [L]aw [J]udge 
would depend on the identity of the [Administrative 
[L]aw [JJudge assigned, rather than on applicable 
law.” Id. at 269.

To be sure, an Administrative Law Judge is not 
immune from discipline for failures in the performance 
of his or her duties. In re Chocallo, 1 M.S.P.R. 605, 
610 (1980), aff’d No. 80-1053 (D.D.C. 1980), aff’d in 
part, vacated in part on other grounds and case 
remanded, Chocallo v. Prokop, 673 F.2d 551 (D.C. 
Cir. 1982). Adjudicatory errors can establish good 
cause for an action under 5 U.S.C. § 7521. Anyel, 58 
M.S.P.R. at 268. Moreover, an ALJ may be disciplined 
for disruptive or insubordinate conduct. Brennan, 
787 F.2d at 1563. Whether a disciplinary action based 
on judicial conduct constitutes improper interference 
with judicial independence is a question of fact, to be 
decided in the context of each specific case. SSA v. 
Goodman, 19 M.S.P.R. 321, 328 (1984).

Under Specifications 1 and 2, the Agency has 
demonstrated that Respondent breached his duty to 
issue policy compliant closed period of disability 
decisions; specifically, that Respondent’s written 
decisions awarding closed periods of disability did 
not fully or adequately rationalize the cessation of 
benefits, as required under Agency regulations and 
policy. Contrary to Respondent’s argument, Respondent 
is not being subjected to discipline under Specifications
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1 and 2 because Respondent issued closed period of 
disability decisions, which Respondent claims the 
Agency disfavors. Respondent’s Brief at 47-48. Res­
pondent argues that if his decisions are erroneous or 
inadequately supported, then it is the job of the 
Appeals Council and/or the federal courts to address 
the issue. However, “while individual judgmental 
errors can be corrected on appeal,... the agency has 
a legitimate interest in having cases decided correctly 
at their earlier stages.... [AJppellate review provides 
only a case-by-case remedy for those who choose to 
invoke it; it does not provide an adequate remedy for 
a continuing failure” to follow agency policy. Anyel, 
58 M.S.P.R. at 269 (rejecting argument that disciplining 
an ALJ for having a high reversal or remand rate 
would have an improper chilling effect on the decision­
making independence of Administrative Law Judges).

Although Respondent might disagree with the 
Agency’s requirement that a factual finding of medical 
improvement contained in a closed period of disability 
decision must set forth more supporting evidence 
than the claimant’s acknowledgement of medical 
improvement, Respondent is not free to ignore that 
requirement. Anyel, 58 M.S.P.R. at 269. ALJs must 
comply with the Agency’s interpretation of laws and 
policies. “An ALJ is a creature of statute and, as such, 
is subordinate to the [agency] in matters of policy 
and interpretation of law.” Nash, 869 F.2d at 680; see 
also Ass’n of Administrative Law Judges v. Heckler, 
594 F. Supp. 1132, 1141 (D.D.C. 1984) (stating that 
on matters of law and policy, “ALJs are entirely sub­
ject to the agency”). Based on the foregoing, Respond­
ent has failed to demonstrate that imposing discipline 
for Respondent’s conduct pursuant to Specifications 1
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or 2 would infringe on Respondent’s quasi-judicial 
independence.

Respondent has also failed to demonstrate that 
discipline for Respondent’s conduct pursuant to Spe­
cifications 3 or 4 infringes on Respondent’s quasi­
judicial independence. The evidence demonstrates that 
Respondent breached his duty to maintain a complete 
hearing record by failing to adequately summarize 
off-the-record conversations, as required by Agency 
regulations and policy. Discipline for this conduct 
does not relate to the content of Respondent’s deci­
sions, or to his conduct of hearings in a way that 
infringes on Respondent’s quasi-judicial independence. 
As noted above, Respondent is subordinate to the 
Agency’s interpretations of law and policy.

Respondent’s conduct at issue in Specifications 1 
through 4 is markedly different than the conduct at 
issue in Social Security Administration v. Burris, 39 
M.S.P.R. 51 (1988), upon which Respondent relies. In 
Burris, the ALJ had been charged with insubordination 
for failing to follow agency instructions “to stop dis­
crediting the agency’s evidence in cases” and to stop 
providing all claimants who appeared before him 
with a copy of those admonitions. 39 M.S.P.R. at 60- 
61. In contrast to the instant case, the ALJ in Burris 
was not charged with neglect of duty, and the agency 
did not demonstrate that ALJ Burris’ conduct 
violated his duties. Respondent’s reliance on Social 
Security Administration v. Glover, 23 M.S.P.R. 57 
(1984) is similarly misplaced. In that case, the Board 
reaffirmed that “an [A] dministrative [L]aw [J]udge 
can be removed on the basis of actions taken by him 
or her in the course of an adjudicatory proceeding,” 
including “the inclusion of inappropriate statements
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in a decision.” 23 M.S.P.R. at 76. The Board held, how­
ever, that the “single and relatively innocuous state­
ment” made in Glover “was not sufficiently serious to 
constitute good cause.” Id. at 77-78. Respondent’s 
ongoing failure to follow Agency regulations and 
policy in conducting hearings and issuing decisions, 
as demonstrated under Specifications 1 through 4, is 
readily distinguishable from the single and relatively 
innocuous statement challenged in Glover.

Respondent further argues that there were dis­
agreements about Agency policy and how it is to be 
applied, and that Respondent’s efforts to apply Agency 
policy to the facts of a case constitute judicial decision­
making with which the Agency cannot interfere. How­
ever, the Agency’s requirements for complying with 
Agency regulations and policy were made clear to 

. Respondent, and Respondent’s disagreement with the 
Agency’s interpretations of the regulations or Agency 
policy does not create an issue for judicial decision­
making.

For all the foregoing reasons, Respondent has 
failed to prove his defense that disciplining Respondent 
for the conduct that is the subject of Specifications 1 
through 4 would interfere with his qualified right of 
judicial independence.

4. Specifications 5 and 6
The Agency charges that Respondent breached 

his duty to safeguard Personal Identifying Information 
(“PH”) in fiscal years 2013 and 2014 (Specifications 5 
and 6). PII is any information about an individual 
maintained by an agency, including (1) any information 
that can be used to distinguish or trace an individual’s 
identity, such as name, social security number (“SSN”),
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date and place of birth, mother’s maiden name, or 
biometric records; and (2) any other information that 
is linked or linkable to an individual, such as medical, 
educational, financial, and employment information. 
F. 60. See also F. 59. Information by itself that is not 
PII can become PII if combined with other identifying 
information. F. 168. For example, a person’s last 
name combined with the last four digits of their SSN 
or combined with identifying medical information is 
PII. F. 169. SSA employees handle PII on a regular 
basis. F. 61. SSA ALJs, in particular, handle PII of 
claimants and beneficiaries. F. 61.

The Agency asserts that Respondent had a duty 
to safeguard PII, that he was aware of this duty, and 
that he breached this duty when he sent emails 
containing PII through unsecured communication 
channels to various claimant’s representatives. Agency 
Brief at 62-64. The Agency further argues that a 
“reasonable person,” after having undergone training 
on the need to safeguard PII, would not have disclosed 
PII through unsecured email channels. Agency Reply 
Brief at 114-115.

Respondent contends that the Agency is required 
to demonstrate that Respondent failed “to exercise 
the degree of care required under the particular cir­
cumstances, which a person of ordinary prudence in 
the same situation with equal experience would not 
omit” and to demonstrate that Respondent’s acts of 
sending emails to claimants’ representatives which 
contained PII “were not prudent and reasonable 
under the circumstances.” Respondent’s Brief at 49- 
50 (citing Velez, 101 M.S.P.R. at 656; Homey v. U.S.
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Forest Service, 29 M.S.P.R. 543, 546 (1985)).28 Res­
pondent further argues that he made a reasonable 
effort to understand and comply with Agency policy 
and, thus, did not engage in actionable misconduct. 
Respondent’s Brief at 50.

a. Duty to safeguard PII
Respondent’s duty to safeguard PII is set forth 

in Agency policy. See Mendez, 88 M.S.P.R. at 606; see 
F. 62-69. Pursuant to written Agency policy, Agency 
employees, such as Respondent, are prohibited from 
sending or forwarding an email containing PII to a 
non-secure email communication channel. F. 63. Agency 
employees may send or forward an email containing 
PII using a secure email communication channel or 
to an unsecure email account only after taking steps 
to encrypt the email. F. 64-65. When replying to an 
email that contains PII, Agency employees are required 
to either remove the PII from the email, or ensure that 
their reply is encrypted. F. 67 (Information Systems 
Security Handbook: “Only send email containing 
PII or other sensitive information to email addresses 
that are secure ...”). Agency policy also prohibits 
employees from forwarding emails containing PII 
from their work email account to their personal

28 As noted in section l.d above, the quoted law applies to a 
charge of negligence in the performance of duty. Respondent is 
charged with failure to perform a duty, and case law does not 
clearly indicate that, in addition to showing failure to perform a 
duty, the employing agency must also show that the failure was 
“negligent.” In any event, as shown below, the Agency has 
demonstrated that a reasonable SSA employee in Respondent’s 
position, with Respondent’s knowledge and training, would not 
have sent emails containing PII through unsecured communica­
tion channels.
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email account and from sending PII obtained in the 
course of their employment from their personal email 
account. F. 68-69. As an Agency employee, Respond­
ent had a duty to comply with Agency policy relating 
to safeguarding PII. F. 175.

b. Respondent’s awareness of duty 
to safeguard PII

The evidence shows that Respondent was aware 
of his duty to safeguard PII. The Agency sends employ­
ees, including Respondent, annual personnel reminders 
regarding their duty to safeguard PII, and the methods 
for doing so. F. 176-178. In addition to the annual 
personnel reminders, the Agency reminds employees 
about the duty to safeguard PII through periodic 
reminders and mandatory training. F. 179. The Annual 
Reminder on Safeguarding Personally Identifiable 
Information for SSA Employees instructs that “each 
SSA employee is responsible for properly safeguarding 
PH from loss, theft or improper disclosure, including 
inadvertent disclosure ... [and must k]now, understand 
and follow all Agency policies and directives on 
security, privacy and confidentiality practices.” F. 
177. Respondent was repeatedly made aware of this 
duty through required annual training and annual 
personnel reminders. F. 176, 179, 180. Respondent 
admitted that he received training related to the 
duty to safeguard PII in fiscal year 2013 and fiscal 
year 2014. F. 182.

Moreover, Respondent was specifically aware of 
his obligation not to send unencrypted emails 
containing PII to unsecured accounts. Respondent 
admitted that he was aware that Agency policy in 
fiscal year 2013 and fiscal year 2014 required that
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emails sent to unsecured accounts could not contain 
PII unless the email or attachment containing the 
PII was encrypted. F. 183. In addition, after Respondent 
attended Annual Security Awareness Training, Res­
pondent asked HOCALJ Masengill whether there 
are any matters which he should omit from his email 
correspondence with claimants’ representatives. F. 
180. By email response on June 30, 2011, HOCALJ 
Masengill directly instructed Respondent not to include 
information such as SSNs, dates of birth, addresses, etc. 
in his emails to claimants’ representatives. F. 181. 
To the extent Respondent is asserting that he did not 
understand his obligations in this regard, the argu­
ment is not supported by the evidence and is rejected.

c. Respondent breached his duty to 
safeguard PII

The evidence proves that Respondent breached 
his duty to safeguard PII, in violation of Agency 
policy, when Respondent used his Agency email account 
to send emails containing PII to claimant’s repre­
sentatives’ unsecured email accounts and when he 
sent emails containing PII from his personal, unsecured 
email account to claimant’s representatives’ unsecured 
email accounts. F. 184-203. Neither private law firms 
nor web-based email service providers are “secure 
partners.” F. 172. Respondent admitted in his testi­
mony that in fiscal year 2013 and fiscal year 2014, he 
did not encrypt his email communications with claim­
ant’s representatives and he did not know, or ask, 
whether any of the claimant’s representatives with 
whom he communicated via email were Agency secure 
partners. F. 184, 195.
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While the Agency states that it introduced into 
evidence 19 emails in fiscal year 2013 and 14 emails 
in fiscal year 2014 between Respondent and various 
claimants’ representatives that contain unprotected 
PII, Respondent argues that the Agency offered only 
2 emails which purportedly contain PII because, in 
the absence of testimony on the emails, the Agency 
argument that the exhibits “were in fact emails from 
Judge Cooperman containing unprotected PII... is 
nothing more than the Agency counsel’s character­
ization of evidence without any support.” Respond­
ent’s Reply Brief at 192. Respondent’s position that a 
document, unchallenged as to authenticity, is insuffi­
cient to establish a fact unless bolstered by testimony 
is unpersuasive and is rejected.29

As summarized above, the evidence proves that 
Respondent breached his duty to safeguard PII, 
including by transmitting such information in 
unsecured email communications, which Respondent 
knew was prohibited by Agency policy. Moreover, 
Respondent engaged in this conduct despite receiving 
training on an annual basis, including in fiscal year

29 Respondent’s argument that the unredacted copies of the 
emails attached to the Complaint as Exhibits 6 through 19 cannot 
be used to prove the factual content of the emails relating to the 
PII charge (Respondent’s Brief at 51-52 n.8) is irrelevant. The 
court ruled that PX 205-PX 221, consisting of unredacted copies 
of the exhibits to the Complaint, were admitted for reference 
only and would not support factual determinations in this case. 
(Tr. 7:185-187). As found in F. 184-203, PX 205-PX 221 are not 
relied upon to support Specifications 5 and 6. The exhibits used 
to support Specification 5 are: PX 107, PX 110, PX 111, PX 112, 
PX 129, PX 131, PX 135, PX 142 and PX 185. F. 184-194. The 
exhibits used to support Specification 6 are: PX 116, PX 117, PX 
119, PX 120, PX 122, PX 123 and PX 130. F. 195-203.
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2013 and fiscal year 2014 (F. 180, 182) and direct in­
structions from HOCAU Masengill in 2011. F. 181. 
As found in F. 186-194, Respondent sent 9 emails 
containing PII of claimants to unsecured email 
accounts in fiscal year 2013, and, as found in F. 197- 
203, Respondent sent 7 emails containing PII of 
claimants to unsecured email accounts in fiscal year 
2014.30 A reasonable SSA employee in Respondent’s 
position, knowing his duty to safeguard PII, and having 
received regular training on his duty to safeguard 
PII, would not have sent emails containing PII through 
unsecure email channels. Cf. Mendez, 88 M.S.P.R. at 
606 (written policy can constitute the applicable 
standard of care, or standard can be established by 
other factors, including training, knowledge, customary 
agency practice, and adequacy of agency procedures).

Based on the foregoing, the Agency has met its 
burden of proving that Respondent breached his duty 
to safeguard PII in fiscal year 2013 and fiscal year 
2014. Accordingly, Specifications 5 and 6 are sustained.

5. Specifications 7 and 8
Specifications 7 and 8 charge that Respondent 

failed “to act in a fair and impartial manner” in fiscal 
year 2013 and fiscal year 2014, respectively. The evi-

30 All of the exhibits offered in support of Specifications 5 and 6 
have been reviewed. Because the record is unclear, no findings 
are made with respect to whether Respondent disclosed PII in 
the emails designated as PX 109, PX 115, PX 134, PX 156, PX 
166, and PX 186 (Specification 5) or PX 118, PX 121, PX 128, 
PX 138 and PX 152 (Specification 6). In addition, no findings 
are made with respect to whether Respondent disclosed PII in 
emails designated as PX 105 and PX 146 because these same 
emails are included in PX 142.
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dence shows that Respondent had a duty to act in a 
fair and impartial manner. F. 70-76. The evidence 
further shows that Respondent was aware of this 
duty. F. 71-72. However, the evidence does not show 
that Respondent failed to act in a fair and impartial 
manner.

In support of Specifications 7 and 8, the Agency 
cites to several emails between Respondent and 
certain claimant’s representatives, which emails the 
Agency asserts display a lack of impartiality by Res­
pondent as to these representatives. Agency Brief at 
25-26, 65-66; see also F. 207-210. Importantly, though, 
the Agency did not cite to any evidence showing that 
Respondent actually acted impartially in the conduct 
of hearings or in rendering decisions. Indeed, CALJ 
Bice acknowledged that she could not point to any 
cases handled by Respondent in which the claimant 
received a more favorable disposition based on the 
identity of the claimant’s representative. F. 204-205. 
Furthermore, CALJ Bice acknowledged that the emails 
used to support the allegations of Specifications 7 
and 8 show only the possibility of partiality or an 
appearance of a loss of impartiality, but do not show 
that Respondent acted impartially.31 F. 206. Accord­
ingly, the Agency failed to meet its burden of proving 
that Respondent breached a duty to act in a fair and 
impartial manner.

31 Whether Respondent sent emails that conveyed an appearance 
of a loss of impartiality is addressed in relation to Charge 2, infra.
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Based on the foregoing, Specifications 7 and 8 
are not sustained.32

C. Charge 2-Conduct Unbecoming

1. Introduction
In Charge 2 of the Complaint, the Agency alleges 

that Respondent engaged in conduct unbecoming. This 
charge is based upon 16 Specifications of what the 
Agency alleges are improper communications between 
Respondent and claimants’ representatives.33 Each 
of the Specifications is based upon a separate email 
exchange, each of which was attached to the Complaint 
and entered into evidence. JX 24-JX 39.

Good cause to impose a disciplinary action on an 
ALJ can be supported by proof of conduct unbecoming. 
Long, 113 M.S.P.R. at 208. In general, “conduct 
unbecoming” is conduct that is improper, unsuitable, 
or detracting from one’s character or reputation. 
Long, 113 M.S.P.R. at 208. The ordinary meaning of 
“unbecoming” is “unattractive; unsuitable . . . ; 
detracting from one’s . . . character, or reputation; [or] 
creating an unfavorable impression.” Miles v. Dep’t of 
the Army, 55 M.S.P.R. 633, 637 (1992) (citing Webster’s 
Encyclopedic Unabridged Dictionary of the English 
Language 1538 (1989 ed.)). In determining whether 
conduct is unbecoming, it is appropriate to consider

32 Respondent’s argument that certain Specifications in Charge 2 
are duplicative of, and should be merged with, Charge 1, Specif­
ications 7 and 8 is discussed in section 3.a below.

33 Of the 16 emails at issue, 15 emails were between Respond­
ent and claimants’ representatives. The sixteenth email was 
between Respondent and an employee of an auto rental agency.
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that the position of ALJ is a position of prominence, 
whose incumbents usually engender great respect. 
See SSA v. Steverson, 111 M.S.P.R. 649, 659 (2009). 
At a minimum, ALJs are required to conform to gen­
erally accepted rules of conduct. See Long, 113 
M.S.P.R. at 207 (citing SSA v. Manion, 19 M.S.P.R. 
298, 302 (1984)).

Moreover, proof of a failure to follow 1 of the 14 
general principles for ethical conduct contained in 5 
C.F.R. § 2635.101(b) constitutes proof of conduct un­
becoming. Schifano v. Dep’t of Veterans Affairs, 70 
M.S.P.R. 275, 281 (1996). Among other things, the 
Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the 
Executive Branch require executive branch employees, 
including ALJs, to endeavor to avoid any actions that 
create the appearance that they are violating ethical 
standards, which includes the obligation to “act 
impartially and not give preferential treatment to 
any private organization or individual.” 5 C.F.R. 
§ 2635.101(b)(8), (14); F. 74 (SSA ALJs shall endeavor 
to avoid any actions creating the appearance that 
they are violating the law or the ethical standards.). 
Respondent acknowledged that, as an ALJ, he is 
required to maintain the appearance of impartiality, 
and to avoid any actions creating the appearance of a 
loss of impartiality. F. 74; see also F. 76 (SSA Annual 
Personnel Reminders remind all agency employees of 
the duty to take appropriate steps to avoid an appear­
ance of a loss of impartiality while performing official 
duties.). Whether particular circumstances create the 
appearance that an employee has violated a principle 
shall be determined from the perspective of a reason­
able person with knowledge of the relevant facts. 5 
C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(14).
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As explained in section C.2 below, the evidence 
proves Specifications 1, 3 through 12, and 14. The 
evidence proves that Respondent, in numerous email 
exchanges with claimants’ representatives, made state­
ments that created the appearance that Respondent 
had lost impartiality as to these claimants’ repre­
sentatives.*^ Respondent’s conduct in communicating 
with claimants’ representatives in this manner was 
improper. Accordingly, Specifications 1, 3 through 12, 
and 14 are sustained.

The Agency has failed to meet its burden of proof 
as to Specifications 2, 13, 15, and 16 and, therefore, 
those Specifications are not sustained. However, the 
proven Specifications are more than sufficient to 
sustain the charge of conduct unbecoming. Burroughs, 
918 F.2d at 172 (“[W]here more than one . . . factual 
specification is set out to support a single charge,... 
proof of one or more, but not all, of the supporting 
specifications is sufficient to sustain the charge.”). 
In the instant case, the proven Specifications show 
a pattern of Respondent’s communicating to certain 
claimants’ representatives, including through express 
statements of affection, friendship, and flattery, that 
these claimants’ representatives were favored by Res­
pondent and that they could expect or would receive 
special treatment from Respondent. Such conduct is 
improper, unattractive and unsuitable for an ALJ, 
who must maintain the appearance of impartiality 
and avoid even the appearance of a loss of impartiality. 
Respondent’s defenses to Charge 2, addressed in

34 The finding that any particular email communication was 
improper is based on an evaluation of the entirety of the email, 
as well as any additional evidence in the record as to surrounding 
context.
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section C.3 below, are without merit. Accordingly, 
the Agency has met its burden of proving the charge 
of conduct unbecoming.

2. Specifications

a. Specification 1
Respondent exchanged emails with Ms. McGrail, 

a claimants’ representative who appears before him 
in his official ALJ capacity. F. 211-212. On August 
21, 2012, Ms. McGrail sent an email to Respondent 
summarizing her meeting with her client concerning 
the possibility of a closed period of Social Security 
benefits and asked Respondent if he would consider a 
closed period of benefits. F. 213. In an email dated 
August 21, 2012, Respondent responded: “Yes, given 
the liberal and inclusive way I am instructed to 
interpret the law (DOW v. ASTRUE, 2011 U.S. Dist 
LEXIS 94974, D Vt 2011)[.] Plus, the fact that it’s 
you as his attorney doesn’t hurt matters[.]” F. 214. In 
a subsequent August 21, 2012 email, Respondent 
wrote to Ms. McGrail: “You are one of the best attor­
neys it has been my privilege to know up here and I 
say that not because I always think your cases are 
meritorious (I don’t) and not because you always 
agree to closed periods (you don’t) and not because 
you always do what I want you to (you don’t, you 
shouldn’t, and it would bore us both if you did) but 
because you practice law the way I used to, realistically, 
energetically, and efficiently. What’s not to like about 
you?” F. 216. CALJ Bice testified that Respondent’s 
statements created the appearance that he was partial 
to Ms. McGrail. F. 217.
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Respondent’s statements in his August 21, 2012 
email exchange created the appearance that Res­
pondent was not impartial with respect to Ms. Mc- 
Grail, or that Respondent’s decision-making would be 
influenced by the fact that Ms. McGrail was the 
claimant’s attorney. Indeed, Respondent followed up 
his statement agreeing to grant the requested closed 
period of benefits by praising Ms. McGrail. Because 
Respondent’s statements created the appearance of a 
loss of impartiality, Respondent’s communication was 
improper. Therefore, Specification 1 is sustained.

b. Specification 2
On August 31, 2012, Ms. McGrail sent an email 

to Respondent summarizing her discussion with her 
client concerning the possibility of a closed period of 
Social Security benefits. F. 220. In an email dated 
August 31, 2012, Respondent responded that the 
claimant “could very well prevail[.] Or he may not, 
who knows?” Respondent also discussed with Ms. 
McGrail Respondent’s personal recreation plans. F. 221.

The Agency argues that the August 31, 2012 
email is an improper communication because Res­
pondent mixed a discussion of his personal life with 
official business, and that this failure to distinguish 
between the two creates an appearance of a loss of 
impartiality with regard to Ms. McGrail. This 
argument is unpersuasive. Respondent’s statements 
in his August 31, 2012 email did not create the 
appearance of a loss of impartiality. Therefore, the 
Agency has failed to prove that the email was 
improper because Respondent mixed a discussion of 
his personal life with official business.
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The Agency raises two additional grounds for 
asserting that the email was an improper communi­
cation. The Agency first contends that the email dis­
closed PII, in violation of agency policy. The email in 
evidence, JX 25, contains redactions. CALJ Bice testi­
fied that the August 31, 2012 email contained the full 
name of one claimant and the last name of another 
claimant represented by Ms. McGrail. Such iden­
tifiers alone are not considered PII. See section C.4 
above. Thus, the evidence fails to prove that Res­
pondent’s communication was improper because it 
improperly disclosed PII. The Agency next contends 
that the email is an improper communication because 
Respondent discussed the merits of the case, which 
the Agency asserts should have taken place on the 
record at a hearing and/or violates the December 5, 
2011 Directive. However, the evidence does not show 
that it is improper for an ALJ to have discussions 
about the merits of a case off the record. The evidence 
shows that, if such conversations occur, the ALJ 
must summarize on the record the content and con­
clusion of the conversation. F. 55. Furthermore, the 
December 5, 2011 Directive did not direct Respond­
ent not to have off-the-record conversations, but “to 
summarize on the record, all off the-record dis­
cussions concerning amending claims involving closed 
periods.” F. 96. Moreover, the evidence does not show 
that Respondent failed to summarize the content of 
these communications on the record. Thus, the Agency 
has failed to support its argument that the August 
31, 2012 email was improper because it reflected off- 
the-record communications on the merits of a case or 
violated the December 5, 2011 Directive.
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Based on the foregoing, the Agency has failed to 
prove that Respondent’s August 31, 2012 email was 
an improper communication, as alleged in Specification 
2. Therefore, Specification 2 is not sustained.

c. Specification 3
In a January 15, 2013 email to Ms. McGrail, 

Respondent wrote: “I just wanted to make sure your
__  was covered[.] I protect my lawyers (at least
those, like you, whom I like)[.]” F. 223. CALJ Bice 
testified that Respondent’s statement gave the 
appearance of being partial to attorneys that he 
likes. F. 223. Respondent acknowledged that his state­
ments in the January 15, 2013 email could “raise 
some eyebrows” and that he could “see where Judge 
Bice would have concern[s] about that. . . . ” F. 225.

In his January 15, 2013 email, Respondent 
clearly stated that he treats lawyers that he likes 
differently than others, which created the appearance 
that Respondent is not impartial with respect to law­
yers that he likes, including Ms. McGrail. Because 
Respondent’s statements created the appearance of a 
loss of impartiality, Respondent’s communication was 
improper. Therefore, Specification 3 is sustained.

d. Specification 4
In a May 30, 2013 email to Ms. McGrail, in 

response to a question from Ms. McGrail asking if he 
would consider a closed period of disability in a case, 
Respondent replied: “Probably need to have a hearing 
on this one[.] You know, Linda, that my discretion 
has a floor and a ceiling, and you always get the 
ceiling, but to resolve this case without a hearing 
would require me to ascend to the stratosphere!” F.
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228. In a follow-up May 31, 2013 email to Ms. McGrail, 
Respondent wrote: “[Y]our friends (of which [I] am 
flattered to consider myself one) care a lot about you[.]” 
F. 229. CALJ Bice testified that because Respondent 
made a personal statement about how he feels about 
Ms. McGrail as a person, and further told her, “you 
always get the ceiling,” Respondent showed a lack of 
impartiality. F. 230.

Respondent’s expressions of friendship toward 
Ms. Grail in conjunction with statements that he 
always gave Ms. McGrail the upper limits of his dis­
cretion created the appearance that Respondent was 
not impartial with respect to Ms. McGrail. Because 
Respondent’s statements in his May 30 and 31, 2013 
emails created the appearance of a loss of impar­
tiality, Respondent’s communication was improper. 
Therefore, Specification 4 is sustained.

e. Specification 5
Mr. Bainbridge Testa is a claimants’ representative 

who has appeared before Respondent on numerous 
occasions. F. 231. In a July 30, 2013 email to Mr. 
Testa, Respondent began by stating: “Enjoyed seeing 
you ... at the party last Saturday.” Respondent then 
advised Mr. Testa that Mr. Testa’s name was not 
included on a list of law firms provided by SSA to 
claimants who ask for delays in hearings in order to 
obtain representation. F. 233. Respondent’s July 30, 
2013 email to Mr. Testa summarized Respondent’s 
impressions of four pending cases. F. 235. In discussing 
one claimant, Respondent detailed the claimant’s 
drug use and commented: “I’ve gotta meet this guy.” 
F. 235. In discussing another claimant, Respondent 
asked Mr. Testa: “Why [did] you take this case?” F.
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235. CALJ Bice testified that Respondent’s statements 
mixed personal relations with a business discussion 
and that Respondent’s telling Mr. Testa that his 
name was not on a list given to claimants seeking 
representation could create the impression of favoritism 
towards Mr. Testa. F. 234. CALJ Bice also testified 
that Respondent’s comment about a claimant’s drug 
use was inappropriate and failed to show respect for 
the Agency’s claimants and that to ask a representative 
why he has taken a case is not a proper inquiry for a 
judge. F. 236.

In his July 30, 2013 email, Respondent blurred 
the distinction between a personal and professional 
relationship. In addition, telling Mr. Testa that his 
name was not on a list given to claimants seeking 
representation created the appearance of favoritism 
toward Mr. Testa. Taken together, Respondent’s email 
statements created the appearance of a loss of impar­
tiality with regard to Mr. Testa. Furthermore, Res­
pondent made disrespectful comments to Mr. Testa 
regarding claimants scheduled to appear before Res­
pondent. For all these reasons, Respondent’s July 30, 
2013 email was an improper communication. There­
fore, Specification 5 is sustained.

f. Specification 6
On August 20, 2013, Mr. Testa sent an email to 

Respondent in which he summarized the medical 
conditions of one of Mr. Testa’s clients and wrote: 
“Bottom line: A closed period of 18 months would be 
a gift, and gladly accepted if you see fit to resolve the 
case in this manner. Client is already on board[.]” F. 
238. In a reply email dated August 20, 2013, Res­
pondent wrote: “Just to show you the amount of good
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will you’ve banked, I set aside a decision I was writing 
to attend to your email[.]” He then wrote: “Having 
reviewed your submission and the record, I think 
your suggestion has merit, and I will grant it upon 
receiving the standard letter[.]” F. 239. CALJ Bice 
testified that Respondent’s statements indicated a 
special relationship with Mr. Testa and lack of 
impartiality. F. 240.

Respondent’s statements in his August 20, 2013 
email exchange created the appearance that Res­
pondent was not impartial with respect to Mr. Testa, 
or would be influenced by the fact that Mr. Testa was 
the claimant’s representative. In responding to Mr. 
Testa’s request, which Mr. Testa characterized as “a 
gift,” Respondent explicitly remarked on the good 
will Mr. Testa had banked and later stated he would 
grant Mr. Testa’s request. Because Respondent’s 
statements created the appearance of a loss of 
impartiality, Respondent’s communication was 
improper. Therefore, Specification 6 is sustained.

g. Specification 7
On September 17, 2013, Respondent sent an 

email to Mr. Testa in which he wrote: “I will take no 
action on [one of Mr. Testa’s client’s cases] [un]til 
Friday to give you a chance to propose suggestions if 
you have any. You may present one, or more than 
one, option for resolving this case that would be 
acceptable to your client.” F. 242. Respondent further 
wrote: “It’s always a treat to have a lawyer of your 
ability and dedication to work with.” F. 243. CALJ 
Bice testified that Respondent’s praise of Mr. Testa 
created an appearance of a lack of impartiality. F. 244.
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Respondent’s statements in his September 17, 
2013 email praising Mr. Testa’s abilities and dedication 
created the appearance that Respondent was not 
impartial with respect to Mr. Testa. Because Res­
pondent’s statements created the appearance of a 
loss of impartiality, Respondent’s communication was 
improper. Therefore, Specification 7 is sustained.

h. Specification 8
On September 26, 2013, Respondent sent an 

email to Mr. Testa in which Respondent described an 
arbitration involving Respondent. Respondent named 
Paul Lillios, an Associate Chief ALJ, and “refer[ed] 
to him as the ‘Chicago hit man’ because (a) he comes 
from Chicago and (b) never-with the possible exception 
of the former [SSA] [Commissioner—have I seen a 
more anti-judge bureaucrat in my life.” Respondent 
further wrote: “Lillios is an ex-AUSA, has a sterling 
CV, and is an intelligent and highly animated person. 
He is also, as noted earlier, the most anti-ALJ 
bureaucrat, save for [the former SSA Commissioner] 
Astrue, I’ve ever seen.” F. 246.

In his September 26, 2013 email, Respondent, in 
describing his own lawyer in the arbitration, told Mr. 
Testa that the lawyer is, “except for you, the best 
lawyer I’ve seen in actionf.]” F. 249. Respondent fur­
ther wrote: “No matter how this [arbitration] comes 
out, I will definitely be much less pro-active than I 
have been in handling cases. When I have attorneys 
like you to deal with, I will be the same open, 
inquiring person I have always been, and encourage 
free-wheeling debate and discussion like we’ve 
always had. Where I have attorneys I don’t know 
before me, I’ll ask no questions other than of the VE,
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and that will be that. I want to hang onto this job for 
5 more years, and this seems like the best way to do 
it.” F. 249. Respondent concluded: “Thanks for your 
concern, Bain.” F. 249. In a subsequent email on Sep­
tember 26, 2013 to Mr. Testa, Respondent wrote: 
“Well, maybe you’re not the best lawyer I’ve ever seen, 
but you certainly are one of the best. And I have no 
reason to say that other than that it is true.” F. 250. 
CALJ Bice testified that by sharing personal infor­
mation about other Agency officials, providing details 
about an arbitration involving Respondent personally 
to a representative who appears before Respondent, 
and praising the representative, Respondent showed 
a lack of impartiality with respect to Mr. Testa. F. 
247, 251.

Respondent’s statements in his September 26, 
2013 email exchange created the appearance that 
Respondent was not impartial with respect to Mr. 
Testa and attorneys like Mr. Testa because Respondent 
explicitly stated his intention to treat them differently 
than other attorneys. Indeed, Respondent followed 
up his statement that he would treat Mr. Testa 
differently than other attorneys by effusively praising 
Mr. Testa. Because Respondent’s statements created 
the appearance of a loss of impartiality, Respondent’s 
communication was improper. Therefore, Specification 
8 is sustained.

i. Specification 9
On December 2 and 6, 2013, Respondent ex­

changed emails with Mr. Testa in which Respondent 
summarized the merits of five cases that Mr. Testa 
had coming up. F. 252, 253. Respondent began his 
December 2, 2013 email by writing: “First off, I hope
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you had a happy Thanksgiving. I had a couple of 
adventures during mine, about which I will tell you 
when we get a chance to get together.” F. 254. In 
discussing the pending claim of a juvenile, Respondent 
wrote: “[M]om says the kid says God talks to him- 
don’t you wish God would talk to you occasionally?” 
F. 256. Following up on his December 2, 2013 email, 
Respondent told Mr. Testa in an email on December 
6, 2013: “I’ll hang around until 2:30 for any communi­
cation you have” and also, “If you wish, you may 
always email me over the weekend at [ 
yahoo.com.” F. 258. CALJ Bice testified that Respond­
ent’s statements failed to show courtesy and respect. 
F. 257. CALJ Bice further testified that Respondent’s 
statements indicated a personal relationship with 
Mr. Testa that demonstrated an appearance of the 
lack of impartiality. F. 255.

Respondent’s statements in his December 2 and 
6, 2013 email exchange created the appearance that 
Respondent was not impartial with respect to Mr. 
Testa because Respondent mixed a discussion of his 
personal life with official business and invited Mr. 
Testa to contact him over the weekend through his 
personal email address. In addition, Respondent made 
a flippant, disrespectful remark relating to a claimant, 
to the claimant’s representative. For these reasons, 
Respondent’s communication was improper. Therefore, 
Specification 9 is sustained.

j. Specification 10
On February 10, 2014, Respondent sent an email 

to Mr. Testa summarizing Respondent’s concerns with 
one of Mr. Testa’s cases. In this email, Respondent 
summarized the claimant’s injuries and wrote: “I
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think one-though not the only-appropriate resolution 
would be a fully favorable with an onset date of July 
1, 2013. This accounts for his physical activity over 
the summer of 2013, discussed above, and takes into 
account the views of [two doctors]. It also provides 
you with a fee, which although cannot be my primary 
concern is nevertheless, given the effort you put forth 
in this case, a factor I must consider.” F. 261. In a 
February 12, 2014 reply email, Mr. Testa wrote: “I 
shared with my wife the information I wrote down 
during our post-hearing discussion yesterday. She 
was pleased to have it,” to which Respondent replied: 
“Hope your wife takes action on that information.” F. 
264. CALJ Bice testified that Respondent’s statement 
that in resolving a case, he would take into 
consideration the fee that Mr. Testa would receive, 
and Respondent’s comingling personal relations with 
a business discussion, demonstrate an appearance of 
the lack of impartiality. F. 263, 265.

Respondent’s statements in his February 10 and 
12, 2013 email exchange create the appearance that 
Respondent is not impartial with respect to Mr. 
Testa. Respondent expressed concern for, and 
consideration of, Mr. Testa’s potentially receiving a 
fee in connection with Respondent’s disposition of a 
case, when the fee of the representative should not 
enter into an ALJ’s decision as to whether or not a 
claimant is entitled to benefits. In addition, Respondent 
mixed personal relations with a business discussion 
which, in context, created the appearance of a loss of 
impartiality as to Mr. Testa. Accordingly, the evidence 
proves that Respondent’s communication was improper. 
Therefore, Specification 10 is sustained.
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k. Specification 11
Ms. Bonita Porter is a claimants’ representative 

who appears before Respondent. F. 266. On December 
18, 2013, Ms. Porter sent an email to Respondent in 
which she summarized medical evidence relating to 
one of her clients and wrote: “It is my hope that once 
you review this, you may decide that an on the 
record fully favorable decision is appropriate.” F. 
268. Respondent replied to Ms. Porter’s email by 
stating: “Bonnie, I don’t have the latest stuff you sent 
me yet, but if you are telling me as an officer of the 
court and my friend that the claimant did indeed 
undergo a fusion in October 2013 then, as you have 
requested, I would give you an FF OTR effective 
9/1/12, which is more favorable than what you presently 
seek but, in my view, more in accordance with the 
evidence.” F. 269. CAU Bice testified that Respondent’s 
statement that he would decide a case without 
reviewing the medical evidence, but instead base his 
decision on the assertions of an officer of the court 
and his friend, showed that Respondent was appearing 
to provide a special favor to Ms. Porter and a lack of 
impartiality. F. 271.

Respondent’s statements in his December 18, 
2013 email created the appearance that Respondent 
was not impartial with respect to Ms. Porter because 
he states that he would take Ms. Porter’s word “as an 
officer of the court” and his “friend” that certain evi­
dence existed, and that he was willing to decide a 
case based on that representation, rather than seeing 
the actual evidence. Because Respondent’s statements 
created the appearance of a loss of impartiality, Res­
pondent’s communication was improper. Therefore, 
Specification 11 is sustained.
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1. Specification 12
Ms. Kelli Silva is a claimants’ representative 

who appears before Respondent. F. 272. On April 16, 
2014, Respondent wrote an email to Ms. Silva, with 
regard to her claimant’s case the day before, in which 
Respondent stated that he is “prepared to decide it 
but, before I do, I want your input on what the 
possible options are for me to choose from.” F. 274. 
Ms. Silva responded to Respondent’s email, stating: 
“Thank you for allowing me this opportunity. I was 
going to email yesterday, but wasn’t sure if it was 
appropriate.” F. 275. Respondent replied: “Kelli, you 
are one of a group (fairly small group) of attorneys 
who may always contact me, bidden or unbidden. I 
respect you immensely, and value your input consist­
ently. Please remember this, and govern yourself 
accordingly.” F. 276. CALJ Bice testified that Respond­
ent’s statement that he has a fairly small group of 
attorneys who he allows to contact him, bidden or 
unbidden, created an appearance of a loss of impar­
tiality. F. 277.

Respondent’s statements to Ms. Silva in his 
April 16, 2014 email regarding his “immense” respect 
for her and her status as a member of a “small 
group” of favored attorneys who could “always” reach 
him created the appearance of a loss of impartiality 
as to Ms. Silva. Accordingly, Respondent’s communi­
cation was improper. Therefore, Specification 12 is 
sustained.

m. Specification 13
After an email exchange with Ms. Silva in which 

she stated she had submitted an OTR (on-the-record) 
to Respondent (F. 279-280), Respondent informed
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Ms. Silva by email dated September 5, 2014 that she 
“may have an issue with fees” because another attorney 
had filed a Form 1696 as the claimant’s representative 
and had not withdrawn as representative. He further 
wrote: “I suggest you either contact him and square 
this away, or prepare and file a fee petition.” F. 281.

The Agency argues that the September 5, 2014 
email is an improper communication because Res­
pondent gave advice to Ms. Silva on how to collect a 
fee. The Agency’s argument that it is improper for an 
ALJ to provide procedural advice to attorneys is not 
persuasive. Respondent’s statements in his Septem­
ber 5, 2014 email do not create the appearance of a 
loss of impartiality. Therefore, the Agency has failed 
to prove that the email was improper because Res­
pondent provided procedural advice to an attorney.

The Agency raises one additional ground for 
asserting that the email was an improper communi­
cation. In his email to Ms. Silva, Respondent wrote: 
“This case should never have been denied.” The Agency 
contends that, through this statement, Respondent 
criticized the state agency that made the initial 
disability determination in the case and that such 
criticism of the agency could undermine public 
confidence in agency programs, and thus violated the 
professional decorum expected of an ALJ. The Agency’s 
position that an ALJ’s criticism of a state agency should 
be deemed an improper communication is unper­
suasive. Because the Agency has failed to prove that 
Respondent’s September 5, 2014 email was improper, 
Specification 13 is not sustained.
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n. Specification 14
Mr. Paul Durkee is a claimants’ representative 

who appears before Respondent. F. 282. Respondent 
exchanged emails with Mr. Durkee on September 27, 
2013, October 1, 2013, and October 2, 2013, including 
emails that Respondent sent from his personal 
yahoo.com email account. F. 283. In a September 27, 
2013 email to Mr. Durkee, Respondent wrote: “Let’s 
have a hearing with [Mr. Durkee’s client], and after 
taking testimony we’ll figure out jointly what the 
best result is. . . . Plus, having a hearing with her 
will give me the pleasure of having a superlative law­
yer before me, something I always relish.” F. 285. In 
an October 1, 2013 email sent after the hearing, Res­
pondent wrote to Mr. Durkee: “You are a dedicated 
advocate, Paul and, quite frankly, your passion for 
these cases reminds me of, well, me at a younger age. 
Except, unlike you, I was never fortunate enough to 
have the opportunity to appear before a Judge with 
whom I could have these types of ‘out of court’ 
dialogues.” F. 286. In an October 1, 2013 email from 
his personal yahoo.com account to Mr. Durkee, Res­
pondent also wrote: “[T]he proper question is ‘What 
is [the claimant] going to do to help herself, and 
when is she going to do it? And when is she going to 
stop taking advantage of people like her aunt and 
grandparents (and maybe you?) who are trying to 
help her?’ That, my good friend, is the question that 
needs to be answered. Whether it involves getting 
several alarm clocks, or getting a grip on her temper 
vis-a-vis her relatives, she needs to take responsi­
bility and accountability for her actions.” F. 287. In 
response, Mr. Durkee wrote to Respondent: ‘Would 
you at least consider a closed period in this case
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where you have done so in so many cases before with 
much less evidence. Surely she should not be left 
with nothing. I thought your email prior to hearing 
suggested that we would jointly work something 
out post hearing. A closed period would obviously 
motivate her to get moving. I will encourage her. 
Won’t you please soften your position a little and 
consider a closed period.” F. 288. CALJ Bice testified 
that comments about having the pleasure of a 
superlative lawyer before him and about Mr. Durkee 
reminding Respondent of himself gave the appearance 
that Respondent may have granted a closed period of 
disability based on his good relationship with the 
lawyer and thus created the appearance of a loss of 
impartiality. F. 289.

Respondent’s statements in his September 27, 
2013, October 1, 2013, and October 2, 2013 email 
exchange with Mr. Durkee created the appearance 
that Respondent was not impartial with respect to 
Mr. Durkee because he effusively praised Mr. Durkee 
and noted that Mr. Durkee is fortunate to be able to 
have out-of-court dialogues with him to jointly resolve 
claims. Because Respondent’s statements created the 
appearance of a loss of impartiality, Respondent’s 
communication was improper. Therefore, Specification 
14 is sustained.

o. Specification 15
On July 8, 2013, Respondent forwarded to Ms. 

Porter an email that Respondent had received, using 
the subject line: “FW: Bice just violated federal law 
and thumbed nose at US Supreme Court.” Respondent 
wrote: “Thought you would enjoy seeing this email, 
received from one of my colleagues in another state.
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The names of most people have been removed to pro­
tect the innocent. ‘Bice’ is Debra Bice, the national 
chief judge of the ALJ’s in this agency. I particularly 
enjoyed how the memo itself indicates that the Office 
of General Counsel (the lawyers within SSA whose 
job it is to give advice to the commissioner, which 
usually includes ways to take unfair advantage of the 
Judges) and the Justice Department are ‘interpreting’ 
the WINDSOR decision (the one in which the Defense 
of Marriage Act, or DOMA, was declared unconstitu­
tional). . . . Anyway, thought you’d enjoy a little 
‘inside baseball’ stuff.” F. 290.

The Agency asserts that Respondent’s July 8, 
2013 email was improper because, by criticizing the 
Agency and sharing an internal Agency instruction 
with a claimants’ representative who does business 
with the Agency, Respondent’s statements serve to 
undermine public confidence in the Agency. The 
Agency’s argument that Respondent’s email to one 
representative “undermines public confidence” in the 
Agency is unpersuasive. Because the Agency has 
failed to prove that Respondent’s July 8, 2013 email 
was improper, Specification 15 is not sustained.

p. Specification 16
On April 25, 2012, Don Austin, of DA’s Auto 

Rental, wrote in an email to Respondent: “In regards 
to our discussion, here is the information.” F. 292. 
Mr. Austin provided a name, a date of birth, a Social 
Security number, and a telephone number. Mr. Austin 
further wrote: “Any help will be appreciated.” F. 292.

On July 8, 2013, Respondent wrote an email to 
Don Austin, of DA’s Auto Rental, stating: “Hope all is 
well with you and the family. I regret not having
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rented any cars lately, but the social security admin­
istration is being tight with a buck (actually, they 
spend money where they shouldn’t and fail to spend 
where they should) so, for the moment, that’s that.” 
Respondent wrote that he has a road trip planned 
and was considering renting a car to make the trip 
and asked: “Got a good rate for me that would justify 
me in leaving my car at home?” F. 293.

The Agency does not contend that Respondent’s 
actions created the appearance of lack of impartiality. 
The Agency raises two grounds for asserting that the 
email was an improper communication. First, the 
Agency contends that the email disclosed PII, in vio­
lation of Agency policy. The email in evidence, JX 39, 
contains redactions. CALJ Bice testified, based on an 
unredacted copy of JX 39, that Mr. Austin’s April 25, 
2012 email to Respondent contained a name, a date 
of birth, a Social Security number, and a phone 
number of an individual. It is not apparent that Res­
pondent’s July 8, 2013 email to Mr. Austin repeated 
any PII contained in Mr. Austin’s April 25, 2012 
email to Respondent, and the Agency has not proven 
otherwise. Second, the Agency contends that Respond­
ent’s email was improper because it implied that 
Respondent was providing a personal favor to Mr. 
Austin. Nothing from the face of the email indicates 
that Respondent provided a personal favor to Mr. 
Austin and the Agency failed to present any testi­
mony to prove this contention. Thus, the evidence 
fails to prove that Respondent’s communication was 
improper. Therefore, Specification 16 is not sustained.
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3. Respondent’s defenses to Charge 2

a. Merger
Respondent contends that the Agency’s assertions 

that Respondent improperly communicated the appear­
ance of a loss of impartiality are duplicative of Specif­
ications 7 and 8 of Charge 1 (failure to act impartially) 
and that these assertions should therefore be “merged” 
with those Specifications. Similarly, Respondent 
asserts that the Agency’s claim that Respondent, in 
certain email exchanges, improperly engaged in off- 
the-record discussions about the merits of a case and/or 
disclosed PII, in violation of Agency policy, is dupli­
cative of and should be merged with Specifications 3 
through 6 of Charge 1.

“The Board will ‘merge’ charges if they are based 
on the same conduct and proof of one charge 
automatically constitutes proof of the other charge.” 
Shiflett, v. DOJ, 98 M.S.P.R. 289, 292 (2005) (merging 
charges of giving preferential treatment to an inmate 
by giving him unrestricted access to a telephone and 
violating agency policy by giving that inmate 
unrestricted access to a telephone). E.g., SSA v. 
Shapiro, 120 M.S.P.R. 572, 2014 MSPB LEXIS 1361, 
at **35-37 (2014) (finding no error in the merger of 
two charges where specifications underlying each 
charge required a finding that the respondent did not 
provide timely hearings and dispositions and did not 
acceptably or adequately manage his cases). However, 
“[a] single set of actions can support more than one 
charge, as long as the charges constitute separate 
offenses, i.e., they entail different elements of proof.” 
Walker v. Dep’t of the Navy, 59 M.S.P.R. 309, 318 
(1993); Bross v. Dep’t of Commerce, 94 M.S.P.R. 662,
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664 n.l (2003) (“The Board has held that, while the 
same actions may support more than one charge, 
they may do so only if the charges constitute separate 
offenses with separate elements of proof.”).

Respondent’s reliance on the merger doctrine is 
misplaced because proving conduct unbecoming in 
this case does not depend on proving that Respondent 
acted impartially, improperly engaged in off-the- 
record discussions, or improperly disclosed PII. Rather, 
the holding herein sustaining Charge 2 is based upon 
proof that Respondent improperly communicated the 
appearance of a loss of impartiality with regard to 
certain claimants’ representatives. Specifications 7 
and 8 of Charge 1 alleged that Respondent failed to act 
impartially, which is patently distinguishable from 
the Agency’s assertion, and proof, that Respondent 
created the appearance of a loss of impartiality. 
Moreover, Specifications 7 and 8 were not sustained. 
While Specifications 3 through 6 of Charge 1 alleged 
that Respondent failed to follow Agency policy regard­
ing off-the-record communications and disclosure of 
PII, those bases have not been relied upon in sus­
taining Charge 2. The fact that the Agency argued 
these additional reasons for finding an email exchange 
improper is not a basis for merger.

Indeed, it is not apparent that the merger doctrine 
even applies in the circumstances urged by Respond­
ent. The merger doctrine refers to merger of charges. 
Respondent seeks to “merge” specifications, and/or 
the supporting arguments, evidence, and assertions, 
into other specifications. The parties do not cite a case 
applying the merger doctrine in such circumstances. 
Even if merger were appropriate, however, “the fact 
that a charge has been merged into another does
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not mean that the duplicative charge is not sus­
tained, ... or that the appellant’s misconduct some­
how becomes less serious by virtue of the merger.” 
Shiflett, 98 M.S.P.R. at 294; Mann v. Dep’t of Health 
& Human Services, 78 M.S.P.R. 1, 6-7 (1998).

b. Unbecoming conduct based upon 
statements

Respondent contends that the Agency has failed 
to prove Charge 2 because, according to Respondent, 
a charge of unbecoming conduct must be based on 
actions, while the charge of unbecoming conduct in 
the instant case is based on Respondent’s statements. 
Absent proof that Respondent actually acted impartially 
in any of his decisions, Respondent argues, the charge 
of unbecoming conduct cannot be sustained. This 
contention is unsupported by law and is unpersuasive, 
as analyzed below.

In Ryan v. Department of Homeland Security, 123 
M.S.P.R. 202 (2016), cited by Respondent, the employ­
ee was charged, inter alia, with the ethical violation 
of creating the appearance of a conflict of interest. Id. 
at 205. The Board expressly rejected the argument 
that in order to sustain the charge, the agency was 
required to prove an actual conflict of interest. Be­
cause creating the appearance of an ethical violation 
is itself a violation of the Ethical Standards, see 5 
C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(14), the Board held that “the 
agency could prove its charge by establishing that 
the appellant’s conduct created the appearance of a 
conflict of interest under the standards of ethical 
conduct, even if it failed to prove an actual conflict of 
interest.” Id. at 207. To prove the existence of an 
appearance of a conflict of interest, as charged by the
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agency, “an agency must show that the employee’s 
interests or duties in one capacity would ‘reasonably 
create an appearance’ of having an effect on his 
interests or duties in the other capacity.” Id. In Ryan, 
the only evidence regarding the employee’s alleged 
appearance of conflict of interest was an email sent 
by the employee to his supervisor, stating that his 
wife’s company, of which the employee was president, 
was working on a joint venture with a call center 
that would compete for the agency’s call center con­
tract. The email further inquired about whether, and 
how long, a conflict of interest would preclude busi­
ness with the agency. Id. at 204-05. The Board found 
that this conduct was insufficient to conclude that 
the employee took any action creating the appearance 
of a conflict of interest. Ryan does not stand for the 
proposition that a charge of conduct unbecoming can­
not be based on an employee’s words, as argued by 
Respondent.

Respondent’s reliance on Abruzzo v. SSA, 489 
Fed. Appx. 449 (Fed. Cir. 2012) is also misplaced. In 
that case, contrary to Respondent’s assertions, the 
charge of unbecoming conduct was based in part on 
his making insulting statements about coworkers and 
other agency personnel, including to their sub­
ordinates. Id. at 451. See SSA v. Abruzzo, 116 M.S.P.R. 
561, 2011 MSPB LEXIS 4754, at **4 (2011) (holding 
that unbecoming conduct can include the respond­
ent’s use of “intemperate language”). See also SSA v. 
White, 119 M.S.P.R. 390, 2013 MSPB LEXIS 2145, at 
**7-9 (2013) (use of argumentative statements and 
actions), aff’d White v. SSA, 2014 U.S. App. LEXIS 
21538 (Fed. Cir. 2014).
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In summary, Respondent fails to cite any case 
holding that a charge of unbecoming conduct must be 
based on actions and cannot be based on statements 
of an employee. Moreover, Respondent’s attempt to 
characterize his email exchanges as inactionable 
“statements,” rather than conduct is unpersuasive and 
is rejected. For all the foregoing reasons, Respond­
ent’s assertion that the Agency has failed to prove 
unbecoming conduct is rejected.

c. Notice
Respondent next contends that the Agency did 

not notify Respondent that his email exchanges raised 
any ethical concerns. Therefore, Respondent argues, 
the Agency has failed to show that a “reasonable 
person” would have known that the emails were 
problematic. This argument is without merit. 
Respondent knew he was communicating with claim­
ants’ representatives that appear before him. Res­
pondent knew he had an obligation to avoid even the 
appearance of a loss of impartiality. As held above, a 
reasonable person in Respondent’s position would 
view Respondent’s statements in these exchanges as 
creating the appearance of a loss of impartiality, 
regardless of whether he was notified of this fact. 
Accordingly, Respondent’s notice argument is rejected.

d. Opinion testimony
Respondent contends that the Agency has failed 

to prove that his email exchanges with claimants’ 
representatives created the appearance of a loss of 
impartiality because, according to Respondent, the 
opinions of CAU Bice in this regard are unsupported. 
However, the opinions of CAU Bice, although given
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consideration, are not determinative. The determination 
herein that Respondent’s email exchanges with claim­
ants’ representatives created the appearance of a loss 
of impartiality is amply demonstrated by a review of 
the content of the emails themselves, as well as any 
and all evidence in the record as to the context 
surrounding these emails.

D. Whistleblower Defense

1. Legal framework
Having found that the Agency has proven the 

charge of neglect of duties and the charge of conduct 
unbecoming an ALJ, the next issue is whether Res­
pondent has proven his affirmative defense. Respond­
ent has raised a defense of reprisal for engaging in 
protected whistleblowing activities. Answer at 11-12; 
Respondent’s Brief at 57-66. In original jurisdiction 
cases seeking discipline of an ALJ, the Board has 
treated claims of whistleblower reprisal as an affirm­
ative defense. See, e.g., Carr, 78 M.S.P.R. at 334. With 
respect to affirmative defenses, Respondent has the 
burden of proof, by a preponderance of the evidence. 
5 C.F.R. § 1201.56(a)(2)(iii).35

The Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989, as 
amended by the Whistleblower Protection Enhance­
ment Act of 2012, prohibits a personnel action with 
respect to an employee because of

35 As noted earlier, preponderance of the evidence is “[t]he degree 
of relevant evidence that a reasonable person, considering the 
record as a whole, would accept as sufficient to find that a 
contested fact is more likely to be true than untrue.” 5 C.F.R. 
§ 1201.56(c)(2).



App.215a

(A) any disclosure of information by an employee 
. . . which the employee . . . reasonably 
believes evidences—
(i) any violation of any law, rule, or regu­

lation, or
(ii) gross mismanagement, a gross waste of 

funds, an abuse of authority, or a sub­
stantial and specific danger to public 
health or safety ...; or

(B) any disclosure to the Special Counsel, or to the 
Inspector General of an agency or another 
employee designated by the head of the 
agency to receive such disclosures, of infor­
mation which the employee .. . reasonably 
believes evidences—

(i) any violation ... of any law, rule or regulation,
or

(ii) gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, 
an abuse of authority, or a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety.

5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)(A) and (B) (2016).36

36 The Whistleblower Protection Act of 1989 (“WPA”), Pub. L. 
101-12, was enacted to protect federal employees who report 
agency misconduct. In 2012, Congress amended the WPA with the 
Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act of 2012 (“WPEA”), 
Pub. L. No. 112-199, § 108, 126 Stat. 1465, 1469 (2012). Con­
gress identified and abrogated specific judicial decisions by the 
Federal Circuit that had concluded that disclosures made in 
certain contexts (for example, during the course of an employ­
ee’s regular duties, or where the information disclosed was 
already known) would not be eligible for WPA protection. Daniels 
v. MSPB, 832 F.3d 1049, 1051-52 (Fed. Cir. 2016) (citing S. Rep. 
No. 112-155, at 4-5, 2012 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 592-93). “Congress
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To make a prima facie case of whistleblower 
retaliation, Respondent must prove, by a preponderance 
of the evidence (1) that he made a disclosure protected 
under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8)37 and (2) that the protected 
disclosure was a contributing factor in the Agency’s 
personnel action. Carr v. SSA, 185 F.3d 1318, 1321 
(Fed. Cir. 1999); Webb v. DOI, 122 M.S.P.R. 248, 251 
(2015); see also Strickland-Donald v. Dep’t of the 
Army, 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 14568, at *7 (Fed. Cir. 
Aug. 9, 2016) (unpublished opinion).

concluded that such decisions impermissibly narrowed the 
scope of the WPA and clarified that it ‘intended] to protect ‘any 
disclosure’ of certain types of wrongdoing in order to encourage 
such disclosures’ and ‘that the protection for disclosing wrongdoing 
is extremely broad and will not be narrowed retroactively by 
future [Board] or court opinions.’” Daniels, 832 F.3d at 1051-52 
(citing Id. at 5, 2012 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 593).
The WPEA was signed into law on November 27, 2012, with an 
effective date of December 27, 2012. The enhanced whistleblow­
er protections do not apply to conduct that occurred earlier than 
the effective date. Hooker v. Dep’t of Veterans Affairs, 120 
M.S.P.R. 629, 636-37 (2014); King v. Dep’t of the Air Force, 119 
M.S.P.R. 663, 667-68 (2013). Although not all of the alleged pro­
tected disclosures in this case occurred before December 27, 
2012, the provisions of the more expansive WPEA have been 
considered and make no difference to the outcome. See Francis 
v. Dep’t of the Air Force, 120 M.S.P.R. 138, 140 n.l (2013). For 
ease of reference, the terms “whistleblower protection” or 
“whistleblowing activities” are used in reference to all of the 
disclosures for which Respondent claims protection under either 
the WPA or the WPEA.

37 Under WPEA, an appellant may also claim reprisal for whistle­
blowing based on engaging in protected activity described under 
5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9)(A)(i), (B), (C), or (D). Respondent’s claims 
in this case were not raised under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9).
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If Respondent shows that he made a protected 
disclosure and that the disclosure was a contributing 
factor in the agency’s personnel action, the burden of 
persuasion then shifts to the Agency to show by clear 
and convincing evidence that it would have taken the 
same personnel action in the absence of any protected 
disclosure. Whitmore v. Dep’t of Labor, 680 F.3d 
1353, 1367 (Fed. Cir. 2012); Carr, 185 F.3d at 1322.38

Because, as shown below, Respondent has failed 
to prove that he made any protected disclosures, his 
whistleblower retaliation defense fails.39

2. Standards for evaluating whether 
Respondent made any protected 
disclosures

Respondent asserts that he made protected dis­
closures in the following communications: (1) two 
union grievances; (2) a letter to OIG; (3) a complaint 
to the Office of Special Counsel (“OSC”) and to 
MSPB; (4) a letter to Congress; and (5) expressions of

38 Clear and convincing evidence is statutorily defined as that 
measure or degree of proof that produces in the mind of the 
trier of fact a firm belief as to the allegations sought to be estab­
lished, and is a higher standard than the preponderance of the 
evidence standard. 5 C.F.R. § 1209.4(e).

39 On December 13, 2016, Respondent filed a Request for Notice 
requesting that the Board take notice of the recent decision of 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit in Miller v. 
Department of Justice, 2016 WL 7030359 (Fed. Cir. Dec. 2, 
2016) (Tab 119). In Miller, the Board’s determination that the 
employee’s disclosures were WPA protected was not disputed. 
Rather, at issue in Miller was whether the government showed 
independent causation by clear and convincing evidence. In this 
case, Respondent has not made any protected disclosures. 
Therefore, the issues addressed in Miller are not relevant here.
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danger to health or safety. Respondent’s Brief at 61- 
62. Before addressing each of Respondent’s alleged 
protected disclosures, an analysis of what constitutes 
a protected disclosure follows.

“Protected whistleblowing occurs when an appel­
lant makes a disclosure that [he or] she reasonably 
believes evidences a violation of law, rule, or regula­
tion, gross mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, 
an abuse of authority, or a substantial and specific 
danger to public health and safety.” Mudd v. Dep't of 
Veterans Affairs, 120 M.S.P.R. 365, 369 (2013). The 
term “disclosure” is statutorily defined as “a formal 
or informal communication or transmission, but does 
not include a communication concerning policy deci­
sions that lawfully exercise discretionary authority 
unless the employee . .. reasonably believes that the 
disclosure evidences (i) any violation of any law, rule, 
or regulation; or (ii) gross mismanagement, a gross 
waste of funds, an abuse of authority, or a substantial 
and specific danger to public health or safety.” 5 
U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(D).40

To establish that a protected disclosure has been 
made, the employee must first establish that he had 
a reasonable belief that his disclosure was protected 
under the WPA. hanger v. Dep’t of the Treasury, 265 
F.3d 1259, 1266 (Fed. Cir. 2001). “A purely subjective 
perspective of an employee is not sufficient even if 
shared by other employees.” LaChance v. White, 174 
F.3d 1378, 1381 (Fed. Cir. 1999). The test of a rea-

40 The Board applies to pending cases the WPEA’s clarification of 
the term "disclosure.” Day v. Dep’t of Homeland Sec., 119 M.S.P.R. 
589, 601 (2013); O’Donnell v. Dep’t of Agriculture, 120 M.S.P.R. 
94, 98-99 n.4 (2013), aff’d 561 F. App’x 926 (Fed. Cir. 2014).
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sonable belief is whether a disinterested observer 
with knowledge of the essential facts known to and 
readily ascertainable by the employee could reasonably 
conclude that the actions of the government being 
disclosed by the employee evidenced one of the types 
of wrongdoing listed in the WPA. LaChance, 174 F.3d 
at 1381; Ayers v. Dep’t of the Army, 123 M.S.P.R. 11, 
17-18(2015).

“Ordinarily, to make a protected disclosure of a 
law, rule, or regulation, an employee must identify 
the specific law, rule, or regulation that was violated.” 
Ayers t 123 M.S.P.R. at 21-22 (citing Longer, 265 F.3d 
at 1266). Although an individual need not identify a 
statutory or regulatory provision by a particular title 
or number, the statements and the circumstances 
surrounding the making of those statements must 
clearly implicate an identifiable violation of law, rule, 
or regulation. Ayers, 123 M.S.P.R. at 22; Longer, 265 
F.3d at 1266. Furthermore, “[d]isclosures of trivial 
violations do not constitute protected disclosures.” 
Longer, 265 F.3d at 1266 (citing Herman v. DOJ, 193 
F.3d 1375 (Fed. Cir. 1999)). The aim is to encourage 
reporting of a “genuine violation of law” rather than 
“minor or inadvertent miscues occurring in the 
conscientious carrying out of a federal official or 
employee’s assigned duties.” Herman, 193 F.3d at 
1380-81.

“An erroneous agency ruling is not a ‘violation of 
law.’ Such rulings are corrected through the appeals 
process—not through insubordination and policy 
battles between employees and their supervisors.” 
O’Donnell, 120 M.S.P.R. at 99-100 (internal citations 
omitted). Furthermore, “[t]he Board has held that the 
statutory protection for whistleblowers is not a weapon
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in arguments over policy or a shield for insubordin­
ate conduct. Even under the expanded protections 
afforded to whistleblowers under the Whistleblower 
Protection Enhancement Act of 2012 (WPEA), general 
philosophical or policy disagreements with agency 
decisions or actions are not protected unless they 
separately constitute a protected disclosure of one of 
the categories of wrongdoing listed in section 
2302(b)(8)(A).” Webb, 122 M.S.P.R. at 252 (internal 
citations omitted).

It is noted as a preliminary matter that Res­
pondent has not advanced the argument that he dis­
closed information which he reasonably believes evi­
dences gross mismanagement. Respondent’s Brief at 
28-29; 57-66; Respondent’s Reply Brief at 152-154; 
169-174; 225-232. Instead, although Respondent asserts 
that some of his disclosures reveal “mismanagement” 
by the Agency, nowhere in his Post-Hearing Brief or 
Reply Brief does Respondent contend that he made a 
protected disclosure of “gross” mismanagement. Res­
pondent’s Brief at 28-29; 57-66. See Respondent’s 
Proposed Findings of Fact 246-248 (Respondent sent 
a letter and filed complaints “reporting mismanagement 
in Region 1”; “complaining that the Agency was 
engaging in mismanagement”; and raising concerns 
“regarding Agency mismanagement”); Respondent’s 
Brief at 61 (Respondent made protected disclosures 
when ‘Tie contacted the IG, OSC and MSPB regarding 
his belief that the Agency was engaging [in] misman­
agement”); Respondent’s Brief at 62 (Respondent 
“contacted Congress to raise his concerns about Agency 
mismanagement”). “In defining a protected disclosure, 
Congress in 1989 specifically chose to replace the 
‘mismanagement’ standard in the prior law with a
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more stringent ‘gross mismanagement’ standard.” 
White v. Dep’t of the Air Force, 391 F.3d 1377, 1381- 
82 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (citations omitted).

In addition, Respondent makes no assertions 
and has not established that any of his disclosures 
reveal “a gross waste of funds or an abuse of 
authority. ...” Respondent’s Brief at 28-29; 57-66; 
Respondent’s Reply Brief at 152-154; 169-174; 225- 
232. “An employee discloses an abuse of authority 
when he alleges that a federal official has arbitrarily 
or capriciously exercised power which has adversely 
affected the rights of any person or has resulted in 
personal gain or advantage to himself or to preferred 
other persons, see McCollum v. Dep’t of Veterans 
Affairs, 75 M.S.P.R. 449, 455-56 (1997), and an 
employee discloses a gross waste of funds when he 
alleges that a more than debatable expenditure is 
significantly out of proportion to the benefit reasonably 
expected to accrue to the government, see Embree v. 
Dep’t of the Treasury, 70 M.S.P.R. 79, 85 (1996).” 
Webb, 122 M.S.P.R. at 253 n.3. None of Respondent’s 
disclosures meets these standards.

3. Respondent has not established that 
he made any protected disclosures

a. The union grievances were not 
protected disclosures

Respondent argues that he made protected dis­
closures in “two union grievances which resulted in 
arbitration hearings, protesting the Agency interfer­
ence with his decisional independence.” Respondent’s 
Brief at 62. He does not otherwise explain how his 
union grievances constituted protected disclosures.
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The evidence shows that Respondent filed a 
grievance in 2010 regarding a counseling memorandum 
he had received; the grievance went to arbitration; 
and the arbitrator upheld Respondent’s position that 
the counseling memorandum was not proper. F. 294 
The evidence also shows that Respondent filed a 
second grievance regarding a letter of reprimand on 
four specific specifications;4! the grievance went to 
arbitration; and the arbitrator upheld the Agency’s 
position. F. 295.

Respondent’s grievances, in which he protested 
Agency “interference with his decisional independence,” 
(Respondent’s Brief at 62) fall short of the standards 
required to demonstrate that Respondent disclosed 
information which he reasonably believes evidences 
a violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or gross 
mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of 
authority, or a substantial and specific danger to 
public health or safety. See Ayers, 123 M.S.P.R. at 
21-22; hanger, 265 F.3d at 1266; O’Donnell, 120 
M.S.P.R. at 99-100. Respondent’s grievances do not 
refer to any law, rule, or regulation that has been 
violated and there are no surrounding circumstances 
from which an identifiable violation of law, rule, or 
regulation can be inferred. Furthermore, Respondent 
does not argue that the grievances disclosed any 
gross mismanagement by the Agency. Instead, the 
evidence shows only that Respondent filed two 
grievances because he disagreed with the Agency’s 
decision to issue a counseling memorandum and a

41 Respondent does not indicate the date on which he filed his 
second grievance and a review of the Parties’ briefs and the 
transcript does not reveal the date of Respondent’s second 
grievance.

j
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letter of reprimand. These are not protected disclosures 
under the Whistleblower Act. See id.

A disinterested observer with knowledge of the 
essential facts known to and readily ascertainable by 
the employee could not reasonably conclude that the 
actions disclosed evidenced one of the types of 
wrongdoing protected by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8). See 
LaChance, 174 F.3d at 1381. Accordingly, Respondent 
has not established by a preponderance of the evidence 
that he made disclosures protected under 5 U.S.C. 
§ 2302(b)(8) in his union grievances.

b. The November 15, 2012 letter to 
OIG was not a protected disclosure

Respondent asserts that he made protected dis­
closures when he contacted the Inspector General 
claiming that the Agency was engaging in “mis­
management” by conducting a Weingarten interview 
with him without fully reviewing the hearing tapes 
from the hearings that were the subject of the Wein­
garten interview. Respondent’s Brief at 61.

The evidence shows that Respondent wrote a 
letter, dated November 15, 2012, to Patrick O’Carroll, 
Jr., the Inspector General of SSA (“November 15, 
2012 letter to OIG”). F. 302. In this letter, Respondent 
described two cases that he had recently decided. F. 
302. In one of these cases, the claimant’s counsel filed 
a motion to recuse Respondent, accusing Respondent of 
inappropriate conduct. F. 302. In the other case, the 
claimant’s counsel filed a complaint with ODAR man­
agement, seeking a reversal of Respondent’s decision 
based in part on Respondent’s alleged misconduct in 
that case. F. 302. Respondent’s November 15, 2012 
letter to OIG stated that after receiving the motion
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to recuse Respondent and the complaint against 
Respondent, management of ODAR Region 1 decided 
to hold a Weingarten meeting on October 25, 2012. F. 
303. Respondent’s letter further stated that Respond­
ent believed that management’s decision to conduct a 
Weingarten interview in connection with these two 
instances was “serious mismanagement.” F. 303.

Respondent’s November 15, 2012 letter to OIG 
in which he expressed his belief that the Agency was 
engaging in mismanagement by conducting a 
Weingarten interview with him without fully reviewing 
the hearing tapes from the hearings that were the 
subject of the Weingarten interview (Respondent’s 
Brief at 61) falls far short of the standards required 
to demonstrate that Respondent disclosed information 
which he reasonably believes evidences gross mis­
management. Disclosure of alleged “mismanage­
ment” is not a protected disclosure.

Furthermore, the November 15, 2012 letter to 
OIG does not disclose “gross management.” “Gross 
mismanagement means a management action or in­
action which creates a substantial risk of significant 
adverse impact upon the agency’s ability to accomplish 
its mission.” Francis, 120 M.S.P.R. at 144 (finding “that 
the appellant merely expressed her disagreement 
over job-related issues, which the Board has not 
deemed sufficient for finding a protected disclosure 
under the WPA”). “A disclosure of gross mismanage­
ment excludes management decisions which are merely 
debatable.” Webb, 122 M.S.P.R. at 253 n.3 (citing 
Ormond v. DOJ, 118 M.S.P.R. 337, 342 (2012)). 
“Mere differences of opinion between an employee 
and his agency superiors as to the proper approach to 
a particular problem or the most appropriate course of
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action do not rise to the level of gross mismanagement.” 
White, 391 F.3d at 1381.

Respondent’s November 15, 2012 letter to OIG 
reflects his disagreement with the Agency’s decision 
to investigate two complaints lodged against him by 
attorneys who had appeared before him. This type of 
disagreement does not constitute a protected disclosure 
of gross mismanagement. O’Donnell, 120 M.S.P.R. at 
99; Webb, 122 M.S.P.R. at 252 (statutory protection 
for whistleblowers is not a weapon in arguments over 
policy or a shield for insubordinate conduct).

A disinterested observer with knowledge of the 
essential facts known to and readily ascertainable by 
the employee could not reasonably conclude that the 
actions disclosed evidenced one of the types of 
wrongdoing protected by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b). See 
LaChance, 174 F.3d at 1381. Accordingly, Respondent 
has not established by a preponderance of the evidence 
that he made a disclosure protected under 5 U.S.C. 
§ 2302(b)(8) in his November 15, 2012 letter to OIG.

c. The 2013 complaints to OSC and 
MSPB were not protected dis­
closures

Respondent asserts that he made protected dis­
closures when he filed a complaint with OSC and with 
MSPB both claiming that the Agency was engaging 
in mismanagement by inappropriately intervening 
with his decisional independence. Respondent’s Brief 
at 61.

The evidence shows that in 2013, Respondent 
filed a complaint with OSC alleging that the Agency 
was engaging in mismanagement and interference



App.226a

with Respondent’s qualified decisional independence. 
F. 306. In a September 11, 2013 letter from OSC to 
Respondent, OSC summarized Respondent’s complaint 
to OSC as follows: “[Y]ou alleged that officials with 
the Social Security Administration Office of Disability 
Adjudication and Review (ODAR) have threatened to 
take disciplinary action against you in reprisal for 
disclosing ODAR management’s misuse of disciplinary 
proceedings in order to coerce you into 1) deciding 
cases differently and 2) not speaking with counsel 
about a case prior to the commencement of a hearing.” 
F. 307.

The evidence shows that on or about April 4, 2013, 
Respondent filed a complaint with MSPB alleging 
that the Agency had retaliated against him for 
engaging in protected whistleblowing activity when 
it scheduled and conducted a Weingarten meeting. F. 
312. Respondent’s MSPB complaint involved sub­
stantially similar allegations to those he raised with 
OSC. F. 313. The MSPB complaint was dismissed on 
jurisdictional grounds. F. 312.

Respondent’s complaints to OSC and MSPB in 
which he expressed his belief that the Agency “was 
inappropriately intervening with his decisional 
[in] dependence” (Respondent’s Brief at 61) fall far 
short of the standards required to demonstrate that 
Respondent disclosed information which he reasonably 
believes evidences a violation of any law, rule, or 
regulation, or of gross mismanagement. Ayers, 123 
M.S.P.R. at 21-22 (requiring employee to clearly 
implicate an identifiable violation of law, rule, or 
regulation). Further, “[t]he Board requires an appellant 
to provide more than vague and conclusory allegations 
of wrongdoing by agency officials.” McCorcle v. Dep’t
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of Agriculture, 98 M.S.P.R. 363, 374 (2005) (citing 
Carr v. Dep’t of Defense, 61 M.S.P.R. 172, 181 (1994)).

Rather, Respondent’s complaints to OSC and 
MSPB restate Respondent’s disagreements with the 
Agency’s decision to investigate him and with the 
Agency policies underlying the Agency’s decision to 
investigate. “The Board has held that the statutory 
protection for whistleblowers is not a weapon in 
arguments over policy or a shield for insubordinate 
conduct.” Webb, 123 M.S.P.R. at 252; see also O’Donnell, 
120 M.S.P.R. at 100 (“There are a large number of 
federal agencies, from the Department of Agriculture 
to the Department of Veterans Affairs to the Social 
Security Administration to the Merit Systems Pro­
tection Board, that rule on citizens’ applications for 
benefits or redress every day. The orderly adminis­
tration of these agencies requires that, for better or 
for worse, supervisors and managers have the final 
say in such rulings.”).

In addition, Respondent’s complaints to OSC 
and MSPB in which he expressed his disagreement 
with the Agency’s policies and decision-making, do not 
constitute protected disclosures of gross misman­
agement. White, 391 F.3d at 1381 (holding that differ­
ences of opinion as to the most appropriate course of 
action do not rise to the level of gross mismanagement); 
Webb, 123 M.S.P.R. at 252 (holding that management 
decisions that are merely debatable do not constitute 
gross mismanagement).

A disinterested observer with knowledge of the 
essential facts known to and readily ascertainable by 
the employee could not reasonably conclude that the 
actions disclosed evidenced one of the types of wrong­
doing protected by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b). See LaChance,
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174 F.3d at 1381. Accordingly, Respondent has not 
established by a preponderance of the evidence that he 
made disclosures protected under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8) 
in his 2013 complaints to OSC and MSPB.

d. The November 4, 2014 letter to 
members of Congress was not a 
protected disclosure

Respondent asserts that he made protected dis­
closures in his November 4, 2014 letter to Congress 
wherein Respondent “raise[d] his concerns about 
Agency mismanagement relating to inappropriate 
interference with his decisional independence and 
the failure of the Inspector General to both investigate 
his complaint and its apparent targeting [of] him ... for 
retaliatory investigation because of his original com­
plaint to the IG.” Respondent’s Brief at 62.

The evidence shows that Respondent wrote a 
letter, dated November 4, 2014, to U.S. Senators 
Sherrod Brown and Pat Toomey stating that he 
wished to call their attention to what Respondent 
called “serious misconduct by the senior management 
of the SSA. . . . ” F. 315 (“November 4, 2014 letter to 
members of Congress”). In the November 4, 2014 
letter to members of Congress, Respondent wrote 
that he had been contacted by the management of 
the Agency because the Agency was concerned that 
(i) Respondent was awarding a closed period of benefits 
in more cases than the Agency thought appropriate, 
and (ii) Respondent was negotiating with counsel 
about whether closed periods were appropriate. F. 
316. Respondent further wrote that he complained to 
the SSA Office of Inspector General, but that, other 
than interviewing Respondent in late 2012, OIG did
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nothing to investigate Respondent’s concerns. F. 317. 
The November 4, 2014 letter to members of Congress 
also stated that Respondent has been targeted by the 
management of the Agency and by OIG “for retaliatory 
action for attempting to have management misconduct 
addressed.” F. 319. In the November 4, 2014 letter to 
members of Congress, Respondent noted his concern 
with what he referred to as the “rot which appears 
pervasive at the top levels of SSA management has 
spread to the inspector general’s office. F. 320. If 
Inspector General O’Carroll was not aware of what 
his employees were doing in this regard, he should 
have been. If he was aware of what they were doing, 
then a different situation presents itself.” F. 320.

The November 4, 2014 letter to members of Con­
gress falls far short of the standards required to 
demonstrate that Respondent disclosed information 
which he reasonably believes evidences a violation of 
any law, rule, or regulation, or gross mismanagement. 
See Ayers, 123 M.S.P.R. at 21-22; Langer, 265 F.3d at 
1266; O'Donnelly 120 M.S.P.R. at 99-100. Respondent 
does not identify any law, rule or regulation that has 
been violated and there are no surrounding circum­
stances from which an identifiable violation of law, 
rule, or regulation can be reasonably inferred. Respond­
ent’s allegations of misconduct by the Agency merely 
express Respondent’s disagreement over debatable 
management decisions and thus do not rise to the 
level of gross mismanagement. Webb, 122 M.S.P.R. 
at 253 n.3; White, 391 F.3d at 1381.

In the November 4, 2014 letter to members of 
Congress, Respondent again restated his disagreements 
with the Agency’s interpretations of policy and the 
Agency’s decision to investigate complaints lodged
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against him by attorneys who appeared before him. 
Respondent criticized Agency investigations that 
questioned his actions and implied conspiracies when 
OIG investigators failed to validate his complaints 
about the Agency’s investigations into Respondent’s 
conduct. Respondent’s own self-interest in avoiding 
disciplinary action weighs against the reasonableness 
of his belief that management targeted him for inves­
tigation because he engaged in protected activity. See 
LaChance, 174 F.3d at 1380-81 (“[W]e also would 
expect the board to consider personal bias or self­
interestedness in” evaluating whether “it was rea­
sonable to believe that the disclosures revealed 
misbehavior described by section 2302(b)(8).”).

A disinterested observer with knowledge of the 
essential facts known to and readily ascertainable by 
the employee could not reasonably conclude that the 
actions disclosed evidenced one of the types of 
wrongdoing protected by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b). See La- 
Chance, 174 F.3d at 1381. Accordingly, Respondent 
has not established by a preponderance of the evidence 
that he made disclosures protected under 5 U.S.C. 
§ 2302(b)(8) in the November 4, 2014 letter to members 
of Congress.

e. Expressions of danger to health or 
safety were not protected dis­
closures

Lastly, Respondent asserts that he made protected 
disclosures when he raised ‘health and safety concerns 
with HOCAU Massengill regarding the inadequate 
security in the ODAR office building, and inquired 
about the possibility of bringing a firearm to work for
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protection.” Respondent’s Brief at 61.42 The evidence 
shows that in 2011 or 2012, Respondent expressed 
concerns to HOCALJ Masengill that there had been 
instances around the country in which Administrative 
Law Judges had been physically attacked as they 
were leaving the office, that many claimants appearing 
before Respondent have severe mental problems, 
that the only barrier to entry to the ODAR offices in 
the Springfield, Massachusetts building is a single 
armed guard, and thus, Respondent felt that the 
Agency was not adequately securing the office. F. 298.

“[T]he inquiry into whether a disclosed danger is 
sufficiently substantial and specific to warrant pro­
tection under the WPA is guided by several factors, 
among these: (1) the likelihood of harm resulting 
from the danger; (2) when the alleged harm may occur; 
and (3) the nature of the harm, i.e., the potential 
consequences.” Chavez v. Dep’t of Veterans Affairs, 
120 M.S.P.R. 285, 295 (2013) (quoting Chambers v. 
DOI, 602 F.3d 1370, 1376 (Fed. Cir. 2010)). In 
Chambers, the Federal Circuit explained that “the 
outcomes of past cases ... have depended upon whether 
a substantial, specific harm was identified, and 
whether the allegations or evidence supported a 
finding that the harm had already been realized or 
was likely to result in the reasonably foreseeable 
future.” Chambers, 602 F.3d at 1376. “‘[S]pecific alle-

42 The Agency asserts that Respondent waived the claim that 
he disclosed protected “health and safety” concerns because he 
did not raise this claim in his Answer to the Complaint and did 
not identify “health and safety” disclosures in his answers to the 
Agency’s interrogatories asking for identification of all claims of 
protected activity (PX 17 at 13). Agency Reply Brief at 123. Not­
withstanding the foregoing, Respondent’s claim is addressed herein.



App.232a

gations or evidence either of actual past harm or of 
detailed circumstances giving rise to a likelihood of 
impending harm’ are needed to demonstrate that a 
disclosure evidences a substantial and specific danger 
to public health or safety.” Aquino v. Dep’t of Homeland 
Sec., 121 M.S.P.R. 35, 43 (2014) (quoting Chambers, 
602 F.3d at 1376).

“Disclosure of an imminent event is protected, 
but disclosure of a speculative danger is not.” Schoenig 
v. DOJ, 120 M.S.P.R. 318, 323 (2013) (citing Miller v. 
Dep’t of Homeland Sec., Ill M.S.P.R. 312, (2009)); 
Sazinski v. Dep’t of HUD, 73 M.S.P.R. 682, 686 
(1997) (“[R]evelation of a negligible, remote, or ill- 
defined peril that does not involve any particular 
person, place, or thing, is not protected.”). Thus, in 
Mogyorossy v. Department of the Air Force, 96 M.S.P.R. 
652, 661-62 (2004), the appellant’s disclosure that 
security guards’ lives and the lives of those they pro­
tected could have been in danger if they were 
attacked because their weapons were not fully loaded 
was held not to be a protected disclosure of a substantial 
and specific danger to public health or safety.

The evidence in this case contains no specifically 
identified harm or detailed circumstances giving rise 
to a likelihood of impending harm. Respondent’s gen­
eral expression of concern regarding the inadequate 
security at the ODAR building only identified the 
possibility of danger at some point in the future.

A disinterested observer with knowledge of the 
essential facts known to and readily ascertainable by 
the employee could not reasonably conclude that the 
actions disclosed evidenced one of the types of 
wrongdoing protected by 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b). See 
LaChance, 174 F.3d at 1381. Accordingly, Respondent
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has not established by a preponderance of the evidence 
that his expressions of concern regarding the 
inadequate security at the ODAR building is protected 
under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8).

4. Conclusion
Respondent has failed to prove by a preponderance 

of the evidence that he had a reasonable belief that 
any of his disclosures evidenced a type of wrongdoing 
listed at 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8). Therefore, Respondent’s 
defense that he was retaliated against for engaging 
in protected whistleblowing activities fails.43

Having determined that the Agency has proved 
Charge 1 and Charge 2 and that Respondent’s affirm­
ative defense of whistleblower retaliation is without 
merit, the analysis turns next to penalty.

E. Penalty

1. Introduction
In an original jurisdiction case under 5 U.S.C. 

§ 7521, it is the Board, rather than the employing 
agency, that determines penalty. Steverson, 111 
M.S.P.R. at 658; Dep’t of Commerce v. Dolan, 39 
M.S.P.R. 314, 317 (1988) (citing Glover, 23 M.S.P.R. 
at 78 and SSA v. Davis, 19 M.S.P.R. 279, 282-83

43 Because Respondent has failed to prove that he made any 
protected disclosures, this Initial Decision need not, and does 
not, analyze whether such disclosures were a contributing 
factor to the Agency’s personnel action, or whether the Agency 
has proven that it would have taken the same personnel action 
against Respondent absent the disclosures. E.g., White, 2013 
MSPB LEXIS 2145, at **24. See also Webb, 122 M.S.P.R. 248; 
O’Donnell, 120 M.S.P.R. at 99.
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(1984)). The Board looks to the factors articulated in 
Douglas v. Veterans Administration, 5 M.S.P.R. 280 
(1981) (the “Douglas factors”) for guidance in 
determining whether a proposed penalty is reasonable 
under all relevant circumstances of the case. Nagel i>. 
Dep't of Health & Human Services, 707 F.2d 1384, 1386 
(Fed. Cir. 1983). Douglas listed 12 factors44 that are 
“generally recognized as relevant” in determining an 
appropriate penalty. Id. However, “[n]ot all of these 
factors will be pertinent in every case.” Douglas, 5 
M.S.P.R. at 306. Indeed, “[t]he [B]oard never intended 
that each factor be applied mechanically, nor did it

44 The Douglas factors are: (1) The nature and seriousness of the 
offense, and its relation to the employee’s duties, position, and 
responsibilities, including whether the offense was intentional 
or technical or inadvertent, or was committed maliciously or for 
gain, or was frequently repeated; (2) the employee’s job level 
and type of employment, including supervisory or fiduciary role, 
contacts with the public, and prominence of the position; (3) the 
employee’s past disciplinary record; (4) the employee’s past work 
record, including length of service, performance on the job, ability 
to get along with fellow workers, and dependability; (5) the effect of 
the offense upon the employee’s ability to perform at a satisfactory 
level and its effect upon supervisors’ confidence in the employee’s 
ability to perform assigned duties; (6) consistency of the penalty 
with those imposed upon other employees for the same or similar 
offenses; (7) consistency of the penalty with any applicable 
agency table of penalties; (8) the notoriety of the offense or its 
impact upon the reputation of the agency; (9) the clarity with which 
the employee was on notice of any rules that were violated in 
committing the offense, or had been warned about the conduct 
in question; (10) potential for the employee’s rehabilitation; (11) 
mitigating circumstances surrounding the offense such as 
unusual job tensions, personality problems, mental impairment, 
harassment, or bad faith, malice or provocation on the part of 
others involved in the matter; and (12) the adequacy and effec­
tiveness of alternative sanctions to deter such conduct in the 
future by the employee or others. Douglas, 5 M.S.P.R. at 305-06.
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intend mandatory consideration of irrelevant factors 
in a particular case. ...” Nagel, 707 F.2d at 1386; 
Davis, 19 M.S.P.R. at 283 (stating it is not necessary 
to consider “each and every factor...”). Rather, all 
that is required is that “the penalty selected be rea­
sonable when considered against the relevant factors.” 
Davis, 19 M.S.P.R. at 283.

2. Analysis of Douglas factors

a. The nature and seriousness of the 
offense, and its relation to the 
employee’s duties, position, and 
responsibilities, including whether 
the offense was intentional or 
technical or inadvertent, or was 
committed maliciously or for 
gain, or was frequently repeated 
(Douglas factor 1)

In evaluating whether a penalty is reasonable, 
“the Board will consider, first and foremost, the nature 
and seriousness of the misconduct and its relation to 
the employee’s duties, position, and responsibilities.” 
Steverson, 111 M.S.P.R. at 658. In the instant case, 
the evidence shows that Respondent negotiated or 
“resolved” certain disability claims pending before 
him, including through off-the-record discussions with 
claimants’ representatives, that resulted in closed 
period of disability decisions. As engaged in by Res­
pondent, this practice resulted in repeated violations 
of Agency regulations and policy. First, Respondent’s 
written decisions failed to fully rationalize his finding 
of medical improvement, a necessary component of a 
closed period decision, with objective medical evidence, 
relying instead on the claimant’s agreement to a
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closed period. Second, Respondent failed to memorialize 
on the hearing record the content and conclusion of 
his off-the-record discussions. Third, Respondent 
improperly disclosed PII in unsecured email commu­
nications with claimants’ representatives. Respondent 
also engaged in unbecoming conduct, by repeatedly 
making statements in email communications with a 
certain group of claimants’ representatives that created 
the appearance that Respondent favored and/or was 
not impartial regarding these representatives. The 
misconduct demonstrated in this case is serious.

Moreover, this serious misconduct directly pertains 
to Respondent’s responsibilities as an AU. Respond­
ent’s principal responsibilities as an ALJ are to hold 
full and fair hearings and issue legally sufficient and 
defensible decisions. F. 27. Without an adequate 
rationale for’ a decision, the Appeals Council has no 
“ammunition” to defend an appeal, and the U.S. Attor­
ney cannot or will not defend a case in court that is 
not adequately rationalized, even if the claimant agreed 
to the closed period. F. 84. Thus, Respondent’s viola­
tions of Agency policy in failing to fully rationalize 
the cessation of benefits in his closed period decisions, 
including by reference to objective medical evidence, 
negatively impacts the legal sufficiency and defen- 
sibility of his decisions. In addition, Respondent’s 
failure to properly memorialize on the hearing record 
the content and conclusion of off-the-record discussions 
directly affects Respondent’s obligation to provide 
claimants with a full, due process hearing. F. 56, 
331. Moreover, Respondent was under a duty to 
safeguard PII, which ALJs receive in the course of 
their duties, in order to protect claimants’ privacy, F. 
61, 175, yet Respondent repeatedly disclosed claim-
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ants’ PII through unsecured emails. See section B. 4 
above.

The evidence further shows that Respondent’s 
neglect of his duties and unbecoming conduct was 
repeated, which belies the notion that the Respondent’s 
misconduct was inadvertent. Respondent’s assertion 
that his non-compliant closed period of disability 
decisions were not representative of his decisions as a 
whole, even if true, does not compel a finding that his 
issuance of non-compliant closed period of disability 
decisions was inadvertent. To the contrary, Respond­
ent’s repeated failures to fully rationalize his closed 
period of disability decisions or adequately summarize 
his off-the-record conversations with claimants’ repre­
sentatives were ongoing issues that persisted not­
withstanding retraining and a clear, express directive 
to Respondent, as further discussed in section 2.b 
below.

b. The clarity with which the 
employee was on notice of any 
rules that were violated in 
committing the offense, or had 
been warned about the conduct in 
question (.Douglas factor 9); and the 
potential for the employee’s 
rehabilitation (Douglas factor 10)45

As explained further below, the evidence demon­
strates that Respondent was clearly on notice that he 
was violating Agency policies governing the issuance

45 Because the analysis of a number of Douglas factors rely on 
similar and/related facts, where appropriate to avoid repetition, 
some factors are analyzed together.
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of closed period of disability decisions and memori­
alizing off-the-record communications {Douglas factor 
9). The evidence further shows that, with regard to 
Respondent’s failure to adequately rationalize closed 
period decisions and failure to properly memorialize 
off-the-record conversations, Respondent persistently 
challenged and resisted Agency direction, maintaining 
that the Agency’s policies were incorrect and that 
Respondent’s practices were justified, as explained 
below {Douglas factor 10).

In September 2010, Respondent received advice 
from HOCALJ Masengill “to pay extra special attention 
to fully rationalize the cessation of any benefits, even 
in an ‘agreed to’ Closed Period situation.” F. 84. 
HOCALJ Masengill provided this guidance at Res­
pondent’s request, after the Appeals Council remanded 
one of Respondent’s cases in part because of defi­
ciencies in the stated evidentiary bases for the closed 
period of benefits. F. 81-83. Respondent’s email to his 
supervisors, although ostensibly requesting their gui­
dance on how to improve his decisions in the future, 
took a defensive, if not oppositional, tone. Respond­
ent asserted that where a claimant agrees to “resolve” 
a disability claim through a closed period of benefits, 
there should be “no need in [the] decision to go 
through an extensive analytic process.” F. 82. Res­
pondent criticized the Appeals Council’s decision as a 
“finding of fault with the fact that I did not write my 
decision to their satisfaction,” F. 82, and questioned 
why, in an agreed-to closed period of disability deci­
sion, he should be obligated to write a decision that 
“exhaustively canvasses all of the medical evidence 
and provides painstaking rationale as the [Appeals 
Council] demands [.]” F. 83. Although Respondent
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indicated he would do so, if required, he took the 
opportunity to warn that such a requirement would 
“negatively affect” his productivity. F. 83.

On or about January 21, 2011, a U.S. District 
Court Magistrate Judge issued an order remanding a 
case adjudicated by Respondent, noting that “contrary 
to the directives of the regulations and the HALLEX 
manual, the record does not reflect what was discussed 
off the record prior to the hearing regarding a ‘proposal’ 
Plaintiff apparently felt pressured to ‘accept’ in lieu 
of ‘a full hearing.’” Betancourt v. Astrue, 824 F. Supp. 
2d 211, 216-17 (D. Mass. 2011) (holding that Respond­
ent violated a claimant’s due process rights when he 
engaged in off-the-record substantive discussions 
regarding whether the claimant wanted to receive a 
closed period of benefits). F. 85. The court’s order 
required the Agency to provide a copy of the opinion 
to Respondent, and, when HOCALJ Masengill did so, 
Respondent indicated he thought the district court’s 
opinion was incorrect. F. 331.

In June 2011 and August 2011, the Agency under­
took to retrain Respondent on his handling of agreed- 
to closed period of disability decisions and off-the- 
record communications with claimant’s representa­
tives, after examining complaints against Respond­
ent in connection with these issues, as well as an 
additional 35 of Respondent’s cases. F. 80. In June 
2011, ALJ Brady specifically advised Respondent that 
even where a closed period of disability is granted by 
consent, the decision needs to discuss medical 
improvement, “showing how the signs, symptoms, 
and objective testing show improvement under the 
medical improvement standard ...” and that off-the- 
record conversations about substantive matters should



App.240a

be memorialized on the record. F. 87. At a training 
meeting with Respondent in August 2011, then- 
ACAU Cristaudo specifically advised Respondent 
that the claimant’s concession that he or she can 
work does not suffice for a closed period of disability 
decision, and that Respondent must determine a 
second RFC. F. 89.

Respondent’s reaction to the directions he received 
at the August 2011 meeting was defensive and 
resistant. According to ACALJ Cristaudo’s notes, 
Respondent stated, among other things: “I’ve done 
everything right. I’m a model judge. Closed periods 
are good: They have a beneficial effect. In some cases 
they may involve giving some money to somebody 
who’s not entitled, but it can be a good thing.... Why 
am I not getting plaudits? If you want to play hard­
ball, I’ll get an attorney.” F. 89. With regard to com­
plaints received by the Agency concerning Respond­
ent’s handling of closed period decisions and off-the- 
record conversations, Respondent insisted that “Agency 
policy is gray... I do closed period decisions to achieve 
justice.... If [the claimants] are lucid and say they 
want a closed period? I don’t see a need to corroborate 
that. A second RFC? I cite the claimants’ concession 
that they can work.” F. 89. Moreover, the fact that 
the Agency received more complaints regarding Res­
pondent’s handling of closed period of disability deci­
sions in September 2011, F. 90, indicates that Res­
pondent ignored the advice he had received.

Accordingly, in a further effort to obtain Res­
pondent’s compliance, the Agency issued a directive 
to Respondent. The December 5, 2011 Directive 
clearly notified Respondent of the Agency policies 
being violated and warned Respondent that failure to
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follow the instructions in the Directive “may lead to 
disciplinary action.” See section B.l.b above; see also 
F. 95-96. Among other things, the December 5, 2011 
Directive notified Respondent:

• As an ALJ, Respondent is “responsible for 
conducting hearings and issuing timely and 
legally sufficient decisions. See Hallex 1-2-0- 
5B. A legally sufficient decision requires 
that you comply with SSA’s laws, regulations, 
rulings, and policies.”

• “In your decisions, you are required to 
analyze medical evidence that supports a 
finding of the claimant’s medical improve­
ment. . . . Many of your decisions involving 
closed periods of disability contain analytical 
deficiencies. Furthermore,... you had ‘off-the 
record’ discussions with the claimants and/or 
their representatives regarding the claimant’s 
case and did not summarize the discussions 
on the record. ...”

• <fYour continued failure to comply with the 
agency’s policies and regulations directly 
affects the agency’s mission to serve the 
public efficiently and effectively.”

F. 96.
Furthermore, the December 5, 2011 Directive 

specifically ordered Respondent “[pjursuant to 20 
CFR § 404.1594 and § 416.994” to:

• “analyze any [medical] improvement by 
comparing the prior and current medical 
evidence and by illustrating any improvement 
in the signs, symptoms, or laboratory findings”
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and to discuss evidence in accordance with 
“the factors set forth at 20 CFR § 404.1528 
and § 416.928” and the guidance “set forth 
at 20 CFR § 404.1512-1518 and § 416.912- 
918”;
“Compare the prior RFC with the increase 
in the current RFC, based on changes in 
signs, symptoms, or lab findings”;
“explain how the medical improvement 
. . . now results in the claimant being able to 
engage in work at the SGA level”; and
“summarize on the record, all off-the-record 
discussions concerning amending. claims 
involving closed periods of disability, as well 
as any other discussions relevant to the 
issues in a claimant’s case. HALLEX 1-2-6- 
40, 1-2-6-75, 20 CFR § 404.951, § 416.1451, 
§ 404.961, and § 416.1461 mandate that the 
ALJ make a complete record of the proceed­
ings”

F. 96.
Respondent notes that, after receiving the 

December 5, 2011 Directive, Respondent requested 
that HO CAL J Masengill review a selection of Res­
pondent’s decisions and provide feedback, which Res­
pondent argues demonstrates a lack of intent to 
violate the December 5, 2011 Directive. However, the 
evidence supports a conclusion that Respondent was 
less interested in receiving feedback than in attempting 
to convince HOCALJ Masengill that Respondent’s 
practices were correct and that he was not required 
to fully rationalize his closed period decisions or
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summarize on the record discussions that occurred 
off the record. F. 100, 106; see also F. 82-83, 85, 89.

After issuance of the December 5, 2011 Directive, 
the Agency received additional complaints about 
Respondent’s handling of closed period cases and off- 
the-record conversations, which lead to a Weingarten 
interview on October 25, 2012 and a second Weingarten 
interview on March 28, 2013. F. 105. HOCALJ 
Masengill concluded in reports to his superiors on 
each interview that Respondent was continuing to have 
off-the-record discussions with claimants’ representa­
tives without fully memorializing the conversations 
on the record, was continuing to fail to adequately 
rationalize the cessation of benefits in agreed-to closed 
period disability decisions, and was failing to follow 
Agency policies or the December 5, 2011 Directive. F. 
104, 106.

HOCALJ Masengill’s report of the March 28, 
2013 Weingarten interview further shows that Res­
pondent remained convinced that his practices were 
correct and that Respondent was unwilling to conform 
his conduct to meet the requirements of the Agency:

[Respondent] believes that a claimant’s assent 
(upon advice of competent counsel) to a Closed 
Period decision is sufficient evidence to demon­
strate Medical Improvement. He appeared to be 
stating that there needed to be no medical evi­
dence or rationale to justify his conclusions....
Judge Cooperman continues to express the rather 
strong belief that he is absolutely deciding his 
cases correctly, efficiently, and equitably. It 
appears that he continues his practice of significant 
Closed Period adjudication, without following
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Agency Policy. This is despite the history of 
multiple discussions (by me, the Springfield, MA 
Hearing Office Director, and other AUs), training 
sessions (Judge Brady-then National ALJ Mentor), 
investigations (Ohio Cases) and counseling (both 
oral and written), a personal meeting with Judge 
Cristaudo (then Associate Chief ALJ), a formal 
Written Directive (December 5, 2011), and a prior 
Weingarten Meeting.

F. 106.
Respondent’s resistance to following the Agency’s 

requirements is further exemplified in comments 
Respondent made in the text of his decision in the 
Simmons case, issued on August 28, 2014. F. 147. 
Simmons is among the closed period decisions found 
herein to have violated Agency policies by failing to 
cite adequate support for the finding of medical 
improvement and failing to sufficiently memorialize 
an off-the-record conversation. F. 150, 167. Simmons 
had previously been remanded to Respondent by the 
Appeals Council as unsupported by substantial evidence 
(F. 148), and Respondent took the opportunity in his 
remand decision to defend himself, stating:

The AC [(Appeals Council)] further faulted my 
decision by concluding that “The claimant’s ack­
nowledgment of medical improvement is not a 
determination made in accordance with the 
requirements of 20 C.F.R. 404.1594.” ... I 
summarily reject the AC position that a lucid 
claimant’s acknowledgment of occupational 
capacity is insufficient to support a finding of 
medical improvement. The regulatory section 
which the AC cites, 20 C.F.R. [404]. 1594, states 
in pertinent part that medical improvement is

..j
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any decrease in the severity of an impairment. 
Such a decrease in severity must be based, as 
the regulatory provision states, on changes in 
symptoms, signs or lab findings. Who better to 
report (and know) what a person’s symptoms are 
than that person himself? Certainly not the 
doctor, not the nurse; indeed, no one is in a 
better position to know the severity of symptoms 
than the person who is suffering them. Thus, the 
regulatory provision cited by the AC in fact 
undermines their conclusion, and expressly sup­
ports mine.

F. 149.
In addition, the record shows that Respondent 

was clearly on notice, through his ALJ training, 
Agency reminders, and a direct instruction from 
HOCALJ Massengill in 2011, that improperly disclosing 
PII, including through transmittals via unsecure email, 
was against Agency policy. F. 176-182. Respondent 
acknowledged that he had received training and was 
aware of his duty to safeguard PII and to encrypt 
emails sent to unsecure email accounts. F. 182-183. 
Furthermore, Respondent acknowledged that, as an 
ALJ, he is required to maintain the appearance of 
impartiality, and to avoid even the appearance of a 
loss of impartiality. F. 72-73; see also F. 76 (SSA 
Annual Personnel Reminders remind all agency 
employees of the duty to take appropriate steps to 
avoid an appearance of a loss of impartiality while 
performing official duties).46

46 Respondent argues that the Agency failed to notify him that 
that it believed Respondent’s emails with certain claimants’
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Respondent states that he is “able and willing” 
to adjust his behavior when the Agency policy is 
clearly articulated. Respondent’s Brief at 70. In addi­
tion, the evidence shows that since late 2014 or early 
2015, he adjusted his email practices regarding PII 
to refer to claimants by their first name and last 
initial, and to use only the last four digits of claimants’ 
Social Security numbers. F. 332. The evidence further 
demonstrates that Respondent has been memorializing 
on the record more of the content of his off-the-record 
conversations than he had in the past. F. 333. The 
foregoing evidence of Respondent’s improvement in 
the areas of safeguarding PII and memorializing off- 
the-record conversations has been considered.

The evidence also shows that Respondent was 
on notice of the regulations and/or policies governing 
his conduct and that the conduct violated Agency 
regulations and/or policies. Respondent’s argument 
that he lacked notice because the Agency did not notify 
him that decisions Respondent issued after the Decem­
ber 5, 2011 Directive remained deficient is without 
merit. Respondent had ample notice of the Agency’s 
requirements, which Respondent resisted, and which 
culminated in the December 5, 2011 Directive. It had 
become readily apparent that Respondent disagreed 
with the Agency’s interpretation of certain regulations, 
to the point that Respondent’s immediate supervisor, 
HOCAU Masengill, believed further discussions with 
Respondent would have been ineffective. F. 100. “An 
ALJ is a creature of statute and, as such, is sub­
ordinate to the Secretary in matters of policy and 
interpretation of law.” Nash, 869 F.2d at 680; see

representatives were improper. However, the applicable rules 
governing Respondent’s conduct were clear.
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also Ass’n of Administrative Law Judges, 594 F. 
Supp. at 1141 (stating that on matters of law and 
policy, “ALJs are entirely subject to the agency”).

c. Effect of the offense upon the 
employee’s ability to perform at a 
satisfactory level and its effect 
upon supervisors’ confidence in 
the employee’s ability to perform 
(Douglas factor 5)

The evidence shows that Respondent’s demon­
strated misconduct directly and adversely affects his 
ability to perform at a satisfactory level. As discussed 
in section 2.a above, Respondent’s failure to fully 
rationalize closed period decisions and to properly 
memorialize off-the-record conversations, in particular, 
adversely affects Respondent’s performance and Agency 
operations. As shown by the evidence, such conduct 
can cause, and has caused, complaints, appeals, re­
filings by dissatisfied claimants, and remands. F. 78- 
79, 81, 84-85, 90, 101, 105, 144, 148.

The Federal Circuit has held that “an undermining 
of confidence occurs where the conduct creates doubts 
in the ALJ’s ability to carry out his responsibilities. 
...” Long v. SSA, 635 F.3d 526, 537 (Fed. Cir. 2011). 
The evidence shows that Respondent’s miscon­
duct has adversely affected his supervisors’ confidence 
that Respondent will fulfill his responsibilities in the 
future. F. 326-327.
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d. The employee’s job level and type 
of employment, including super­
visory or fiduciary role, contacts 
with the public, and prominence 
of the position (Douglas factor 2)

Respondent’s failures to follow Agency policies in 
the performance of his duties, as well as Respondent’s 
unbecoming conduct with regard to his email 
communications with claimant’s representatives, is 
particularly serious given an AU’s prominent position 
(Douglas factor 2). An ALJ holds the highest-paid 
position in a hearing office. F. 325. The ALJ position 
is a one of “prominence, whose incumbents usually 
engender great respect and whose cooperation within 
the office should be taken for granted.” Steverson, 
111 M.S.P.R. at 659. See also F. 324 (As an ALJ, Res­
pondent held a visible and public position that is 
subject to scrutiny). Because ALJs “occup[y] a high 
and prominent federal office, one requiring that its 
incumbents conduct themselves in a fitting manner,” 
Manion, 19 M.S.P.R. at 319, ALJs are held to a high 
standard.

Respondent’s misconduct in repeatedly neglecting 
his duties to fully rationalize CPODs, maintain a 
complete hearing record, and safeguard PII, combined 
with his unbecoming conduct in improper communi­
cations with claimant’s representatives, falls far below 
the standard expected of an ALJ, and reflects poorly 
on the ALJ position.
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e. The employee’s past disciplinary 
record (Douglas factor 3) and the 
employee’s past work record, 
including length of service, 
performance on the job, ability to 
get along with fellow workers, and 
dependability (Douglas factor 4)

Respondent has been an ALJ since 2005 and has 
been a productive ALJ. F. 338. HOCALJ Masengill 
characterized Respondent as having a positive, good 
work ethic. F. 335. In the opinion of the three 
testifying claimants’ representatives who have appeared 
before Respondent, Respondent is very intelligent 
and fair as a judge. F. 334. However, the evidence 
also shows that, since at least 2010, the Agency has 
received numerous complaints regarding Respondent’s 
handling of closed period of disability decisions and 
off-the-record conversations, including assertions that 
claimants had been pressured into accepting a closed 
period of disability, rather than having a full hearing. 
F. 78, 90, 101, 105. HOCALJ Masengill estimated 
that 80 percent of his workload in dealing with com­
plaints against AUs involved complaints regarding 
Respondent. F. 337. The evidence also shows that 
Respondent received a reprimand in the past, in con­
nection with an unrelated matter. F. 336.

In addition, as discussed in section 2.b above, 
Respondent’s failure to modify his practices required 
the Agency to issue a directive to Respondent.
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f. Consistency of penalty with those 
imposed upon other employees for 
the same or similar offenses 
(Douglas factor 6)47

CALJ Bice has sought the removal of another 
ALJ for neglect of duty in failing to follow Agency 
regulations regarding the sequential evaluation process 
required by Agency regulations. That case was pending 
and unresolved at the time of CALJ Bice’s testimony 
in the instant case. F. 328. CALJ Bice was unaware 
of any ALJs removed due to having issues with PII, 
and acknowledged that no MSPB case has authorized 
removal of an AU for issuing decisions that were not 
policy compliant. F. 329. A review of Board precedent 
does not reveal a case presenting facts comparable to 
the instant case.

g. The notoriety of the offense or its 
impact upon the reputation of the 
agency (Douglas factor 8)

The evidence shows that a district court was aware 
of Respondent’s failure to follow Agency policies with 
regard to memorialization of off-the-record conversa­
tions. F. 331. See Betancourt, supra. In addition, the 
Betancourt decision was a published decision. F. 331. 
Although CALJ Bice speculated that the claimants 
and claimants’ representatives were aware of Res­
pondent’s misconduct, the evidence does not support 
CALJ Bice’s assertion. The evidence does not show

47 Douglas factor 7 considers the consistency of the penalty 
with any applicable agency table of penalties. See n. 44 above. 
The record does not include any applicable table of penalties.
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that Respondent’s misconduct was notorious or that it 
adversely impacted the reputation of Agency.

h. Mitigating circumstances sur­
rounding the offense such as 
unusual job tensions, personality 
problems, mental impairment, 
harassment, or bad faith, malice 
or provocation on the part of 
others involved in the matter 
(Douglas 11)

Respondent argues that his 10 years of employ­
ment as an ALJ and his productivity should be 
viewed as mitigating factors. Those factors have been 
considered in relation to the Respondent’s past work 
record, in section 2.e above. The record does not show 
the existence of mitigating circumstances such as 
unusual job tensions, personality problems, mental 
impairment, harassment, or bad faith, malice or 
provocation on the part of others involved in the matter.

i. The adequacy and effectiveness of 
alternative sanctions to deter such 
conduct in the future by the 
employee or others (Douglas factor
12)

Respondent has not been previously sanctioned 
in connection with the misconduct demonstrated in 
this case. The December 5, 2011 Directive, although 
it warned of possible discipline, was not itself a disci­
plinary action. The record does not show that removal, 
as requested by the Agency, rather than a lesser 
sanction, would be more effective to deter Respond­
ent or others from engaging in similar conduct.
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3. Conclusion
Respondent’s misconduct demonstrated in this 

case was serious, and was repeated, notwithstanding 
clear notice and guidance from the Agency. In addition, 
Respondent’s misconduct has adversely affected his 
supervisors’ confidence that Respondent will comply 
with Agency policy in the future. Furthermore, Res­
pondent’s misconduct reflects poorly on the ALJ 
position. Such misconduct merits a substantial penalty. 
However, a number of factors weigh against authorizing 
removal of Respondent, as requested by the Agency. 
These factors include Respondent’s 10 years of pro­
ductive service, his fairness and intelligence, and his 
positive work ethic. In addition, although Respondent 
was resistant to the Agency’s policies regarding the 
medical improvement standard for closed period of 
disability decisions, Respondent has nevertheless 
demonstrated a potential for rehabilitation by im­
proving his conduct with respect to both memo- 
rialization of off-the-record conversations and safe­
guarding PII. Moreover, the Agency has not previously 
sought Board authority to discipline Respondent. 
The record does not support a conclusion that Res­
pondent cannot do his job and follow Agency policies, 
such that removal is the only reasonable penalty. It 
is also not clear that Respondent will not do his job 
after some form of discipline is imposed. A substan­
tial penalty, short of removal, such as a significant 
period of suspension without pay, is appropriate to 
deter Respondent and obtain his compliance with 
Agency policies in the future. In conclusion, based on 
a weighing of the applicable Douglas factors and 
consideration of the evidence as a whole, a suspension of
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180 calendar days without pay48 is a reasonable 
penalty in the instant case.

In addition to seeking removal, the Agency seeks 
suspension from the date of the Complaint through 
final Board Order. Complaint at 1; Agency Brief at 
105-108. Respondent has been on administrative 
leave with pay since October 1, 2015. F. 330. The 
Agency argues that although 5 U.S.C. § 7521 does 
not expressly allow a retroactive application of a 
penalty, the statute is properly interpreted to allow 
such retroactive application. The Agency cites no 
authority supporting its interpretation. Respondent 
argues that the Board has no statutory authority to 
order a retroactive suspension, or to enforce it by re­
quiring him to pay back the salary and benefits he 
has received while on administrative leave with pay. 
Respondent’s Brief at 76-77. The Agency’s argument 
that 5 U.S.C. § 7521 can be properly interpreted to 
allow a retroactive application of a penalty in this 
case is unsupported by precedent, is unpersuasive, 
and is rejected.

For the Board

/si D. Michael Chappell
Administrative Law Judge

48 In cases finding good cause to suspend an AU, the Board 
routinely authorizes suspension without pay. E.g., SSA v. Carter, 
35 M.S.P.R. 485, 495 (1987) (in case against AU, concluding, 
“[t]he Social Security Administration is authorized to suspend 
respondent without pay for a period of up to 70 days”); SSA v. 
Arterberry, 15 M.S.P.R. 320, 326 (1983) (in case against AU, 
finding that the agency has established good cause for employee 
“to be suspended without pay for 30 days”).
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NOTICE TO APPELLANT
This initial decision will become final on April 

20, 2017. unless a petition for review is filed by that 
date. This is an important date because it is usually 
the last day on which you can file a petition for 
review with the Board. However, if you prove that 
you received this initial decision more than 5 days 
after the date of issuance, you may file a petition for 
review within 30 days after the date you actually 
receive the initial decision. If you are represented, 
the 30-day period begins to run upon either your 
receipt of the initial decision or its receipt by your 
representative, whichever comes first. You must 
establish the date on which you or your representative 
received it. The date on which the initial decision 
becomes final also controls when you can file a 
petition for review with the Court of Appeals. The 
paragraphs that follow tell you how and when to file 
with the Board or the federal court. These instructions 
are important because if you wish to file a petition, 
you must file it within the proper time period.

BOARD REVIEW
You may request Board review of this initial 

decision by filing a petition for review.
If the other party has already filed a timely 

petition for review, you may file a cross petition for 
review. Your petition or cross petition for review 
must state your objections to the initial decision, sup­
ported by references to applicable laws, regulations, 
and the record. You must file it with:

The Clerk of the Board 
Merit Systems Protection Board



App.255a

1615 M Street, NW.
Washington, DC 20419

A petition or cross petition for review may be filed by 
mail, facsimile (fax), personal or commercial delivery, 
or electronic filing. A petition submitted by electronic 
filing must comply with the requirements of 5 C.F.R. 
§ 1201.14, and may only be accomplished at the 
Board’s e-Appeal website (https://e-appeal.mspb.gov).

NOTICE OF LACK OF QUORUM
The Merit Systems Protection Board ordinarily 

is composed of three members, 5 U.S.C. § 1201, but 
currently only one member is in place. Because a 
majority vote of the Board is required to decide a 
case, see 5 C.F.R. § 1200.3(a), (e), the Board is unable 
to issue decisions on petitions for review filed with it 
at this time. See 5 U.S.C. § 1203. Thus, while parties 
may continue to file petitions for review during this 
period, no decisions will be issued until at least one 
additional member is appointed by the President and 
confirmed by the Senate. The lack of a quorum does 
not serve to extend the time limit for filing a petition 
or cross petition. Any party who files such a petition 
must comply with the time limits specified herein.

For alternative review options, please consult 
the section below titled “Notice to the Appellant 
Regarding Your Further Review Rights,” which sets 
forth other review options.

Criteria for Granting a Petition or 
Cross Petition for Review

Pursuant to 5 C.F.R. § 1201.115, the Board 
normally will consider only issues raised in a timely

https://e-appeal.mspb.gov
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filed petition or cross petition for review. Situations 
in which the Board may grant a petition or cross 
petition for review include, but are not limited to, a 
showing that:

(a) The initial decision contains erroneous find­
ings of material fact. (1) Any alleged factual 
error must be material, meaning of sufficient 
weight to warrant an outcome different from 
that of the initial decision. (2) A petitioner 
who alleges that the Administrative Law 
Judge made erroneous findings of material 
fact must explain why the challenged factual 
determination is incorrect and identify spe­
cific evidence in the record that demonstrates 
the error. In reviewing a claim of an 
erroneous finding of fact, the Board will 
give deference to an Administrative Law 
Judge’s credibility determinations when they 
are based, explicitly or implicitly, on the 
observation of the demeanor of witnesses 
testifying at a hearing.

(b) The initial decision is based on an erroneous 
interpretation of statute or regulation or 
the erroneous application of the law to the 
facts of the case. The petitioner must 
explain how the error affected the outcome 
of the case.

(c) The Administrative Law Judge’s rulings 
during either the course of the appeal or the 
initial decision were not consistent with 
required procedures or involved an abuse of 
discretion, and the resulting error affected 
the outcome of the case.
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(d) New and material evidence or legal argument 
is available that, despite the petitioner’s 
due diligence, was not available when the 
record closed. To constitute new evidence, 
the information contained in the documents, 
not just the documents themselves, must 
have been unavailable despite due diligence 
when the record closed.

As stated in 5 C.F.R. § 1201.114(h), a petition 
for review, a cross petition for review, or a response 
to a petition for review, whether computer generated, 
typed, or handwritten, is limited to 30 pages or 7500 
words, whichever is less. A reply to a response to a 
petition for review is limited to 15 pages or 3750 
words, whichever is less. Computer generated and 
typed pleadings must use no less than 12 point 
typeface and 1 inch margins and must be double 
spaced and only use one side of a page. The length 
limitation is exclusive of any table of contents, table 
of authorities, attachments, and certificate of service. 
A request for leave to file a pleading that exceeds the 
limitations prescribed in this paragraph must be 
received by the Clerk of the Board at least 3 days 
before the filing deadline. Such requests must give 
the reasons for a waiver as well as the desired length 
of the pleading and are granted only in exceptional 
circumstances. The page and word limits set forth 
above are maximum limits. Parties are not expected 
or required to submit pleadings of the maximum 
length. Typically, a well-written petition for review is 
between 5 and 10 pages long.

If you file a petition or cross petition for review, 
the Board will obtain the record in your case from 
the Administrative Law Judge and you should not



App.258a

submit anything to the Board that is already part of 
the record. A petition for review must be filed with 
the Clerk of the Board no later than the date this 
initial decision becomes final, or if this initial decision 
is received by you or your representative more than 5 
days after the date of issuance, 30 days after the date 
you or your representative actually received the 
initial decision, whichever was first. If you claim that 
you and your representative both received this decision 
more than 5 days after its issuance, you have the 
burden to prove to the Board the earlier date of 
receipt. You must also show that any delay in receiving 
the initial decision was not due to the deliberate 
evasion of receipt. You may meet your burden by 
filing evidence and argument, sworn or under penalty 
of perjury (see 5 C.F.R. Part 1201, Appendix 4) to 
support your claim. The date of filing by mail is 
determined by the postmark date. The date of filing 
by fax or by electronic filing is the date of submission. 
The date of filing by personal delivery is the date on 
which the Board receives the document. The date of 
filing by commercial delivery is the date the document 
was delivered to the commercial delivery service. 
Your petition may be rejected and returned to you if 
you fail to provide a statement of how you served 
your petition on the other party. See 5 C.F.R. 
§ 1201.40. If the petition is filed electronically, the 
online process itself will serve the petition on other e- 
filers. See 5 C.F.R. § 1201.140(1).

A cross petition for review must be filed within 
25 days after the date of service of the petition for 
review.
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NOTICE TO AGENCY/INTERVENOR
The agency or intervenor may file a petition for 

review of this initial decision in accordance with the 
Board’s regulations.

NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING 
YOUR FURTHER REVIEW RIGHTS

You have the right to request review of this final 
decision by the United States Court of Appeals for 
the Federal Circuit.

The court must receive your request for review 
no later than 60 calendar days after the date this 
initial decision becomes final. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703 
(b)(1)(A) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to 
file, be very careful to file on time. The court has held 
that normally it does not have the authority to waive 
this statutory deadline and that filings that do not 
comply with the deadline must be dismissed. See 
Pinat v. Office of Personnel Management, 931 F.2d 
1544 (Fed. Cir. 1991).

If you want to request review of this decision 
concerning your claims of prohibited personnel practices
under 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8), (b)(9)(A)®, (b)(9)(B),
(b)(9)(C), or (b)(9)(D), but you do not want to challenge 
the Board’s disposition of any other claims of prohibited 
personnel practices, you may request review of this 
decision only after it becomes final by filing in the 
United States Court of Appeals for the Federal 
Circuit or any court of appeals of competent jurisdiction. 
The court of appeals must receive your petition for 
review within 60 days after the date on which this 
decision becomes final. See 5 U.S.C. § 7703(b)(1)(B) 
(as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). If you choose to file, be
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very careful to file on time. You may choose to 
request review of the Board’s decision in the United 
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit or 
any other court of appeals of competent jurisdiction, 
but not both. Once you choose to seek review in one 
court of appeals, you may be precluded from seeking 
review in any other court.

If you need further information about your right 
to appeal this decision to court, you should refer to 
the federal law that gives you this right. It is found 
in Title 5 of the United States Code, section 7703 (5 
U.S.C. § 7703) (as rev. eff. Dec. 27, 2012). You may 
read this law as well as other sections of the United 
States Code, at our website, http://www.mspb.gov/ 
appeals/uscode/htm. Additional information about 
the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal 
Circuit is available at the court’s website, www.cafc. 
uscourts.gov. Of particular relevance is the court’s 
“Guide for Pro Se Petitioners and Appellants,” which 
is contained within the court’s Rules of Practice, and 
Forms 5, 6, and 11. Additional information about 
other courts of appeals can be found at their respective 
websites, which can be accessed through http://www. 
uscourts.gov/Court_Locator/CourtWebsites.aspx.

If you are interested in securing pro bono 
representation for your court appeal, that is, repre­
sentation at no cost to you, the Federal Circuit Bar 
Association may be able to assist you in finding an 
attorney. To find out more, please click on this link 
or paste it into the address bar on your browser:

https://fedcirbar.org/Pro-Bono-Scholarships/
Government-Employees-Pro-Bono/Overview-FAQ

http://www.mspb.gov/
http://www.cafc
http://www
https://fedcirbar.org/Pro-Bono-Scholarships/
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The Merit Systems Protection Board neither 
endorses the services provided by any attorney nor 
warrants that any attorney will accept representation 
in a given case.
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ORDER OF THE
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT DENYING 
PETITION FOR PANEL REHEARING 

(JUNE 13, 2023)

Note: This disposition is nonprecedential.

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT

LEONARD COOPERMAN,

Petitioner,
v.

SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION,

Respondent.

No. 2022-1915
Petition for review of the Merit Systems Protection 

Board in No. CB-7521-16-0001-T-1.
Before: LOURIE, HUGHES, and 

STARK, Circuit Judges.

ON PETITION FOR PANEL REHEARING
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PER CURIAM.

ORDER
Leonard Cooperman filed a petition for panel 

rehearing.
Upon consideration thereof,
IT IS ORDERED THAT:
The petition for panel rehearing is denied.

For The Court

/s/ Jarrett B. Perlow
Acting Clerk of Court

Date: June 13, 2023
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FEDERAL REGULATIONS 
5 C.F.R. § 2635.101

§ 2635.101 Basic obligation of public service.

(a) Public service is a public trust.
Each employee has a responsibility to the United 

States Government and its citizens to place loyalty to 
the Constitution, laws and ethical principles above 
private gain. To ensure that every citizen can have 
complete confidence in the integrity of the Federal 
Government, each employee shall respect and adhere 
to the principles of ethical conduct set forth in this 
section, as well as the implementing standards 
contained in this part and in supplemental agency 
regulations.

(b) General principles.
The following general principles apply to every 

employee and may form the basis for the standards 
contained in this part. Where a situation is not covered 
by the standards set forth in this part, employees 
shall apply the principles set forth in this section in 
determining whether their conduct is proper.

(1) Public service is a public trust, requiring 
employees to place loyalty to the Constitution, 
the laws and ethical principles above private 
gain.

(2) Employees shall not hold financial interests 
that conflict with the conscientious perform­
ance of duty.
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(3) Employees shall not engage in financial 
transactions using nonpublic Government 
information or allow the improper use of such 
information to further any private interest.

(4) An employee shall not, except as permitted 
by subnart B of this part, solicit or accept any 
gift or other item of monetary value from any 
person or entity seeking official action from, 
doing business with, or conducting activities 
regulated by the employee’s agency, or whose 
interests may be substantially affected by 
the performance or nonperformance of the 
employee’s duties.

(5) Employees shall put forth honest effort in 
the performance of their duties.

(6) Employees shall not knowingly make 
unauthorized commitments or promises of 
any kind purporting to bind the Government.

(7) Employees shall not use public office for 
private gain.

(8) Employees shall act impartially and not give 
preferential treatment to any private organ­
ization or individual.

(9) Employees shall protect and conserve Federal 
property and shall not use it for other than 
authorized activities.

(10) Employees shall not engage in outside em­
ployment or activities, including seeking or 
negotiating for employment, that conflict with 
official Government duties and responsibil­
ities.



App.266a

(11) Employees shall disclose waste, fraud, abuse, 
and corruption to appropriate authorities.

(12) Employees shall satisfy in good faith their 
obligations as citizens, including all just 
financial obligations, especially those—such

. as Federal, State, or local taxes—that are 
imposed by law.

(13) Employees shall adhere to all laws and 
regulations that provide equal opportunity 
for all Americans regardless of race, color, 
religion, sex, national origin, age, or handicap.

(14) Employees shall endeavor to avoid any 
actions creating the appearance that they 
are violating the law or the ethical standards 
set forth in this part. Whether particular 
circumstances create an appearance that the 
law or these standards have been violated 
shall be determined from the perspective of 
a reasonable person with knowledge of the 
relevant facts.

(c) Related statutes.
In addition to the standards of ethical conduct set 

forth in this part, there are conflict of interest 
statutes that prohibit certain conduct. Criminal conflict 
of interest statutes of general applicability to all 
employees, 18 U.S.C. 201, 203, 205, 208, and 209, are 
summarized in the appropriate subparts of this part 
and must be taken into consideration in determining 
whether conduct is proper. Citations to other gener­
ally applicable statutes relating to employee conduct 
are set forth in subpart I and employees are further 
cautioned that there may be additional statutory and
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regulatory restrictions applicable to them generally 
or as employees of their specific agencies. Because an 
employee is considered to be on notice of the require­
ments of any statute, an employee should not rely upon 
any description or synopsis of a statutory restriction, 
but should refer to the statute itself and obtain the 
advice of an agency ethics official as needed.
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SOCIAL SECURITY RULING (“SSR”) 
REFLECTING SOCIAL SECURITY 

ADMINISTRATION POLICY INTERPRETATION 
ON HOW ADJUDICATORS SHOULD 

CONSIDER FEDERAL COURT DECISIONS 
(MARCH 22, 2013)

Disability Insurance
Effective Date: March 22, 2013 

Publication Date: February 20, 2013 
Federal Register Vol. 78, No. 34, page 11939

POLICY INTERPRETATION RULING
SSR 13-2p: TITLES II AND XVI: EVALUATING 
CASES INVOLVING DRUG ADDICTION AND 

ALCOHOLISM (DAA)
[■•■]

15. How should adjudicators consider Federal district 
and circuit court decisions about DAA?
Our policies for considering Federal court decisions 

are set out in SSR 96-lp and 20 CFR 404.1585 and 
416.985.

a. General. We require adjudicators at all levels of 
administrative review to follow agency policy, as set 
out in the Commissioner’s regulations, SSRs, Social 
Security Acquiescence Rulings (ARs), and other instruc­
tions, such as the Program Operations Manual System 
(POMS), Emergency Messages, and the Hearings, 
Appeals and Litigation Law manual (HALLEX). Under 
sections 205(a) and (b) and 1631(c) and (d) of the Act, 
the Commissioner has the power and authority to make 
rules and regulations and to establish procedures,
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not inconsistent with the Act, which are necessary or 
appropriate to carry out the provisions of the Act. 
The Commissioner also has the power and authority 
to make findings of fact and decisions as to the rights 
of any individual applying for payment under the 
Act. Because of the Commissioner’s delegated authority 
to implement the provisions of the Act, we may, from 
time to time, issue instructions that explain the 
agency’s policies, regulations, rules, or procedures. 
All adjudicators must follow our instructions.

b. District court decisions. Under our long­
standing policy, when a district court decision conflicts 
with our interpretation of the Act or our regulations, 
adjudicators must apply our nationwide policy when 
they adjudicate other claims within that district 
court’s jurisdiction unless the court directs otherwise, 
such as in a class action. [32]

c. Circuit courts. If we determine that a circuit 
court’s holding conflicts with our interpretation of 
the Act or our regulations, we will issue an AR 
explaining the court’s holding, how it differs from our 
national policy, how adjudicators must apply the 
holding, and the situations in which the AR applies. 
Unless and until we issue an AR, adjudicators must 
follow our nationwide policy in adjudicating other 
claims within the circuit court’s jurisdiction.

[...]

32 See SSR 96-lp. In a class action decided by a district court, we 
will issue instruction to adjudicators on how to apply the court’s 
decision. Even in this circumstance, adjudicators must not 
interpret the decision for themselves because their interpretation 
may conflict with the agency’s interpretation.
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CORRECTED PRINCIPAL BRIEF 
FILED BY PETITIONER COOPERMAN 

IN THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT, EXCERPTS 
(SEPTEMBER 1, 2022)

No. 22-1915

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT

LEONARD COOPERMAN,

Petitioner,
v.

SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION,

Respondent.

Petition for Review of the Merit Systems Protection 
Board in MSPB case number CB-7521-16-0001-T-1.

CORRECTED
PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LEONARD COOPERMAN 
178 Juniper Ridge Drive 
Feeding Hills, MA 01030 
786-252-7615 
LennyJ1952@yahoo.com 
Petitioner (unrepresented)

mailto:LennyJ1952@yahoo.com
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[..■]

ISSUE ONE:
The Board’s Removal of Petitioner for 
Allegedly Failing to Follow Agency Policy 
in His Disposition of Closed-Period Cases Was 
Arbitrary and in Direct Violation of Agency 
Policy and Federal Court Constructions of 
That Policy

Put simply, the Respondent contended and the 
Board found that Petitioner neglected his duty when, 
allegedly in violation of agency policy, he persistently 
and repeatedly ended a closed period of disability 
benefits based primarily on the sworn testimony of a 
counseled claimant. More was required, the Board 
found, and it found Petitioner ignored what was 
required of him. (Appx60-78, Appxl54-159)

But this finding was flatly false, and violated 
both agency policy and federal case law.

Agency Policy

The Respondent’s Program Operations Manual 
System6 specifically authorized Petitioner to do what 
he did, because the pertinent POMS section says 
“improvement in (the claimant’s) symptoms alone, 
without associated changes in signs or laboratory 
findings, may support an MI (medical improvement)

6 The POMS is available here:https://secure.ssa.gov/appslO/poms. 
nsf/chapterlist!openview&restricttocategory=04 The POMS section 
which is dispositive of this part of the case is available here: 
https://secure.ssa.gov/poms.nsfiQnx/0428010015 The Agency witness 
acknowledged POMS as valid SSA Policy. (Appxl86)

https://secure.ssa.gov/appslO/poms
https://secure.ssa.gov/poms.nsfiQnx/0428010015
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determination .’’(emphasis and parenthetical material 
added)

Realizing that this keystone aspect of it’s case 
against Petitioner was destroyed by this Agency 
policy, the Respondent improperly but successfully 
persuaded both the AU who tried Petitioner, and 
the full MSPB, to conclude that POMS did not apply 
to ALJs. (Appx66, Appxl58)

But this finding of the Board and its ALJ was 
flatly false.

Aside from being contradicted by Social Security 
Ruling 13-2p(15)a?, which expressly states that all 
levels of SSA adjudication are bound by, among other 
things, the POMS, this finding of the Board was 
contradicted by numerous Federal Court decisions- 
discussed infra—all of which were brought to the 
Board’s attention by Petitioner but, for the most 
part, were never even discussed by it.8 This finding

7 Here’s the link:https://www.ssa.gov/OP Home/rulings/di/01/ 
SSR2013-02-di-01.html Although this Social Security Ruling, or 
SSR, deals with evaluation of cases involving drug addiction 
and alcoholism, the careful reader will note that the main text 
of (15)a is precedent by the word “general” which clearly means 
those words following “general” are of general applicability. 
Also common sense-the use of which is not inconsistent with 
regulatory interpretation-tells you that it makes no sense to say 
SSA policies must be obeyed by SSA employees in drug addiction 
and alcoholism cases, but not in any other cases.

8 Aside from the NEWBOLD v. COLVIN decision, 718 F.3d 1257 
(CA 10, 2013) which was passingly discussed but whose 
applicability to this case was erroneously denied by the MSPB 
(Appxl57-158) see also DONNA FRAIN V. COMM’R, SSA, (no 
West publishing company citation is available), but a link to the 
case is available HERE; https://scholar.google.com/scholar case? 
case=9332012770869526725&q=FRAIN+V.+COMMISSIONER+

https://www.ssa.gov/OP
https://scholar.google.com/scholar
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was also, as noted later in this brief, contradicted by 
the conduct of SSA managers.

In sum, the Board completely ignored specific, 
written agency policy which expressly authorized 
Petitioner to act in the manner he did in resolving 
closed-period cases, and didn’t cite any justification 
for doing so. His discretion (Appx231) to apply this 
policy was unfairly circumscribed.

Petitioner was greatly harmed by this arbitrary 
and capricious action because, had it not occurred, he 
would have been exonerated of this keystone charge 
and the credibility of the agency witnesses who 
pressed it would have rightly been materially and 
adversely affected.

[...]

OF+SOCIAL+SECURITY&hl=en&as_sdt=40000006&as_vis=l 
at footnote 4; scores of Federal Court decisions were provided to 
the full MSPB and, with the exception of the NEWBOLD case, 
none were discussed by it. SEE, e.g., ROSE v. SHALALA, 34 F.3d 
13(1994), at footnote 2, KUBETIN v. ASTRUE, 637 F.Supp.2d 
59 (D.Mass 2009) and AVERY v. SECY OF HHS, 797 F.2d 19 
(CA 1, 1986), HESSELTINE v. COLVIN, 800 F. 3d 461 (CA 8, 
2015) where the Court noted that “Although POMS guidelines 
do not have legal force, and do not bind the Commissioner, this 
court has instructed that an ALJ should consider the POMS
guidelines.” Shontos, 328 F.3d at 424.” (emphasis supplied) how­
ever informal.” (emphasis added)
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ISSUE THREE:
The MSPB’s Discipline of Petitioner for 
Allegedly Violating the “Conduct 
Unbecoming” Standard Unconstitutionally 
Denied Him Due Process of Law

In previous cases, this Court has opined on the 
“conduct unbecoming” standard for imposing discipline. 
In ABRUZZO v. SSA (Fed. Cir. case number 2011- 
3218, 2012) this Court, against Abruzzo’s argument 
that asserted that the standard was “highly selective” 
and “circumstance dependent”, held that conduct which 
“detracted from the ALJ’s character or reputation 
before the public” was sufficient to justify discipline. In 
the current case Petitioner was disciplined for emails 
he sent to lawyers appearing before him that were 
deemed “conduct unbecoming” (Appxl61-166), though 
emailing itself was not prohibited. (Appx232-233)

Crucially, this Court noted in ABRUZZO that 
Abruzzo “advances no alternative standard” to the 
“conduct unbecoming” one, and cited LONG v. SSA, 
635 F.3d 526 (CAFC, 2012) as support for its position.

Petitioner believes ABRUZZO and LONG were 
wrongly decided, inconsistent with controlling Supreme 
Court precedent, and should be overruled. Unlike 
Judges Abruzzo and Long, he posits an alternative 
standard for determining exactly what conduct is unbe­
coming for an ALJ. SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT

In GRAYNED v. CITY OF ROCKFORD, 408 U.S. 
104 (1972) the Supreme Court laid down the con­
trolling principle for this case. It said: “It is a basic 
principle of due process that an enactment is void for 
vagueness if its prohibitions are not clearly defined.
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Vague laws offend several important values.
First, because we assume that man is free to 

steer between lawful and unlawful conduct, we insist 
that laws give the person of ordinary intelligence a 
reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, 
so that he may act accordingly. Vague laws may trap 
the innocent by not providing fair warning.

Second, if arbitrary and discriminatory enforce­
ment is to be prevented, laws must provide explicit 
standards for those who apply them.”

15 years later in AIRPORT COMMISSION v. 
JEWS FOR JESUS, 482 U.S. 569 (1987) the Court said 
“It is “self-evident” that an indeterminate prohibition 
carries with it “[t]he opportunity for abuse, especially 
where [it] has received a virtually open-ended 
interpretation.” 482 U. S., at 576.

All of the evils of vague rules, enumerated in 
GRAYNED and AIRPORT COMMISSION, are on 
display in this case. Petitioner, working in an in­
quisitorial12 rather than adversarial judicial position, 
was obligated by agency policy to exhibit and extend 
collegiality to those appearing before him.!3 That is 
all he was doing here. No hint of substantive wrong­
doing was mentioned or alleged. (Appx214-215) There 
was nothing to alert Petitioner that what he was doing 
was wrong. If anything, what he did was consistent 
with agency policy. Imposing discipline for these spe­
cifications illustrates precisely what is wrong with 
this “good cause” and “conduct unbecoming” standard.

12 See MOATS v. SSA, https://www.opn.ca6.uscourts.gov/opinions. 
pdfZ22a0166p-06.pdf, atpg. 7.

13 See https://www.ssa.gov/appeals/best_practices.html

https://www.opn.ca6.uscourts.gov/opinions
https://www.ssa.gov/appeals/best_practices.html
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REPLY BRIEF
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[•••]
These assertions are dealt with in order.
1) With regard to the allegation that the 

questioned emails display partiality, 
Petitioner notes that no evidence, none, was 
presented from any witness who testified in 
this case indicating they believed they 
received inappropriate treatment.
Petitioner further observes, as he did at 
footnote 13 of his initial brief, that Respond­
ent’s written policy obligates its employees 
to extend collegiality to those appearing 
before them. That is what Petitioner did here, 
and no more than that.

2) With regard to the Constitutionality of the 
“conduct unbecoming” standard, since filing 
his initial brief Petitioner has become aware . 
of BENCE a BREIER, 501 F.2d 1185 (CA 7 
1974), affirming 357 F. Supp. 231 (E.D. Wise. 
1973). Both cases deserve a full reading, 
and both declare the “conduct unbecoming” 
standard to be unconstitutionally vague. 
Petitioner relies on these cases, and on 
FLYNN v. GIARRUSSO, 321 F. Supp. 1295 
(E.D. La 1971) and OBRIEN v. TOWN OF 
CALEDONIA, 748 F.2d 403 (CA 7, 1984) as
a basis for renewing his request that this 
Court grant en banc consideration of this case.
Petitioner also notes that, should en banc 
consideration not be granted, the panel 
deciding this case is free to determine 
whether applying the “conduct unbecoming” 
standards-such as they are-to innocuous
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emails like those in this case presents an 
“unconstitutional as-applied” question.
Petitioner also submits that, aside from the 
unconstitutionality of the “conduct 
unbecoming” standard on vagueness grounds, 
a plethora of free-speech cases, such as 
BRESNAHAN v. CITY OF ST. PETERS, 12 
et.al, and cases collected therein, protects 
the speech contained in his emails from 
being used as a basis for disciplining him. 
Petitioner relies on these cases as well as 
the cases relating to vagueness.

3) As concerns the broad and general language 
which appears in various places-such as in 
the “general principles for ethical conduct” 
cited at page 23 of Respondent’s brief-being 
sufficient to define what is permissible and 
what isn’t, Petitioner says this: Take a look 
at the quoted phrase “general principles for 
ethical conduct.” The word “general” ought 
to leap out at the reader.
And that is the point. These principles are 
“general”, by which Petitioner contends they 
are aspirational, existing in order to guide 
federal employees in making sure they 
conduct themselves properly. But these 
principles, “general” as Respondent acknow­
ledges they are, are Constitutionally insuffi­
cient to form a basis for discipline.

12 https://ecf.ca8.uscourts.gov/opndir/23/01/213910P.pdf7utm_ 
medium=email

https://ecf.ca8.uscourts.gov/opndir/23/01/213910P.pdf7utm_
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4) Finally, Petitioner’s acknowledgment of his 
obligation to appear to be impartial in no 
way establishes that he knew or should 
have known his emails to various lawyers 
showed partiality. If anything, they showed 
collegiality, which is precisely what the SSA’s 
policy required him to show.

[...]

CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT
Put plainly, the action of the MSPB and the 

conduct of the Respondent’s lawyers in this case 
constituted a perversion of justice.

Why does Petitioner make this claim? In order of 
significance, here’s why:

-Because the MSPB failed to allow the Petitioner 
to introduce into the record exculpatory evidence 
he found on his own initiative, evidence which- 
had the government turned it over to Petitioner 
as it was obligated to do-would have materially 
affected the result in this case.
-Because the MSPB failed to give any weight to 
NEWBOLD v. COLVIN, a case from the 10th Cir­
cuit directly relevant to the POMS issue, without 
just cause.
-Because the MSPB failed to give any weight to 
SSA Policy (SSR 13-2p), subsection 15, that com­
pletely exculpated Petitioner of culpability for 
the POMS issue.
-Because the MSPB allowed Petitioner to be con­
victed of a charge (conduct unbecoming an ALJ) 
which was based on a clearly unconstitutional
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standard, unconstitutional both on its’ face pursu­
ant to BENCE v. BREIER, supra, and as applied 
to Petitioner, SEE DODGE v. EVERGREEN 
SCHOOL DISTRICT #114https: //cdn.ca9. 
uscourts.gov/datastore /opinions /2022/12/29/ 
21-35400.pdf?utm_medium=email (opinion filed 
December 29, 2022) and cases collected therein.
This case is now only minimally about Petitioner. 

Rather, its central focus is on whether an Adminis­
trative Agency can run roughshod over the Constitu­
tional rights of Judges, and whether deceitful tactics 
of Government counsel-antithetical to the judicial 
process-will be tolerated.

Petitioner requests that this Court summon to 
oral argument each and every Attorney listed on the 
cover page of Respondent’s brief. At the argument, 
Petitioner suggests that the following questions be 
put to them:

-why did you include in your brief, and assert as 
true, material purportedly in a regulation which 
was not, in fact, in that regulation?
-why would you assert that Petitioner was 
pressuring claimants into accepting closed 
periods of benefits, when there is no evidence 
Petitioner was ever accused, let alone convicted, 
of such conduct by the SSA?
-in discussing the Betancourt case in your brief, 
why would you fail to mention that the U.S. 
Attorney’s Office for Massachusetts, which 
represented the SSA in the Betancourt appeal, 
not only did not concede error, but vigorously 
defended Petitioner’s actions?
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-in describing Petitioner’s being referred to the 
SSA Office of Inspector General, why would you 
fail to mention in your brief that the OIG found 
no evidence of waste, fraud, abuse, or misman­
agement committed by Petitioner?

-do you acknowledge that your colleagues who 
tried this case failed to provide Petitioner with 
exculpatory evidence?

—do you believe it was proper for the MSPB to 
fail to accept Petitioner’s motion to supplement the 
record, where that motion included exculpatory 
evidence?
—you mention at page 27 of your brief that the 
MSPB was entitled to reject Petitioner’s proffered 
evidence because it was “duplicative.” Since 
the proffered evidence consisted among other 
things, of email from the Chief AU endorsing the 
use of POMS by ALJ’s, and of an affidavit from 
a hearing office chief Judge from Buffalo, NY 
noting he used POMS to resolve cases, please 
point us to what evidence in the record these are 
duplicative of.

-how can we, as a Court, conduct a proper review 
and evaluation of evidence where the MSPB 
prevents the Petitioner from placing that evidence 
in the record?

—can you provide any examples of how POMS 
28010.015(A)(2) contradicts any SSA policy, rule, 
or regulation?

-Don’t SSA employees have a duty to be collegial 
to those appearing before them?
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What is at issue here is both (1) the legitimacy 
or, Petitioner submits, utter lack of legitimacy of 
each and every one of the charges sustained against 
him, and more importantly (2) whether a government 
attorney with all the power, trust, and prestige that 
office conveys, may with impunity materially mis­
represent facts and law to a Federal Court. If such 
behavior is not to be repeated, some type of sanction 
is essential and Petitioner deserves full vindication.

/s/
Leonard J. Cooperman 
Petitioner
178 Juniper Ridge Drive 
Feeding Hills, MA 01030 
786-252-7615 
LennyJ1952@yahoo.com
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